



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Housing Executive would like to express its gratitude to all those involved in the 2011 House Condition Survey and in particular to the following:

To the residents of Northern Ireland who permitted their dwellings to be surveyed and without whose cooperation the survey could not have been undertaken.

To the members of the 2011 House Condition Survey Steering Group who provided invaluable advice, guidance and support throughout.

To the supervisors (Keith Russell, Ian Giboney, Trudy Stanfield and David Gillis) who played such an important role in ensuring the quality of the data and to the surveyors who carried out the surveys.

To Simon Nicol, John Riley and their team from the Building Research Establishment for the ongoing technical advice and modelling work.

Production Team

Authors: Joe Frey Jahnet Brown Donna McLarnon Sarah McCloy

Project Co-ordinators: Claire Kennedy, Donna McLarnon

Appendix Tables: Gerard Jervis

Graphic Design: Heather Herron

For further information on the survey please contact: The Research Unit, Northern Ireland Housing Executive, 2 Adelaide Street, Belfast BT2 8PB

Telephone: 082 9031 8548 email: jahnet.brown@nihe.gov.uk

CONTENTS

Chapter 1 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5 1.6	Introduction Background Conduct of the Survey Survey Objectives The E-Survey Form The Sample - Response Rates The Structure of the Report	13 13 14 14 14 14
Chapter 2 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9	Summary of Key Findings Background Survey Objectives Northern Ireland's Dwelling Stock Household Profile Dwelling Unfitness and the State of Repair The Decent Homes Standard, 2011 Fuel Poverty in Northern Ireland, 2011 Housing Health and Safety Rating System, 2011 Energy	17 17 18 18 18 19 19 20 20 21
Chapter 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6	Dwelling Stock Introduction The Total Stock and its Distribution Dwelling Tenure Dwelling Age Dwelling Type Summary and Conclusion	23 23 24 25 26 27
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	Household Profile Introduction Dwelling Profile of Northern Ireland Households Social and Economic Profile of Northern Ireland Households Profiles of Household Sub-Groups Summary of Changes in Household Sub-Groups 2006-2011 Summary and Conclusion	29 29 34 39 44 44
Chapter 5 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10	Unfitness and the State of Repair Unfitness - Introduction Profile of Unfitness The Scale of Unfitness Future Action Summary and Conclusion State of Repair - Introduction Dwelling Faults Repair Costs Repairs and Improvements State of Repair - Summary	47 47 48 49 49 50 50 50 51 53 56 57

Chapter 6 Decent Homes, Fuel Poverty and the Housing Health and Safety Rating System	61
6.1 Decent Homes	61
6.2 The Decent Homes Standard - A Summary	61
6.3 Profile of Decent and Non-Decent Homes	62
6.4 Decent Homes - Household Characteristics	63
6.5 I hermal Comfort, Lacking Modern Facilities and Services and Disrepair	64
6.6 Decent Homes - Summary	65
6./ Fuel Poverty	65
6.8 Fuel Poverty - Key Results 2001 - 2011	66
6.9 Profile of Fuel Poverty	67
6.10 Fuel Poverty by Key Dwelling Characteristics	67
6.11 Fuel Poverty by Key Household Characteristics	69
6.12 Fuel Poverty - Summary	70
6.13 Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)	70
6.14 The HHSRS and the House Condition Survey	71
6.15 Common Category 1 Hazards 2011	71
6.16 HHSRS in Northern Ireland in 2011	71
6.17 HHSRS by Key Dwelling Characteristics	71
6.18 HHSRS and Key Household Characteristics	72
6.19 Summary and Conclusion	72
Chapter 7 Energy	75
7.1 Introduction	75
7.2 Central Heating	75
7.3 Fuel Sources and Heating Systems	76
7.4 Dwelling Insulation	79
7.5 Loft Insulation	81
7.6 Double Glazing	82
7.7 SAP Rating 2009	84
7.8 Summary	86
Appendices	89
Appendix A The Conduct of the Survey	89
Appendix R The Survey Form	91
Appendix C Estimating Repair Costs	128
Appendix D Technical Issues	130
Appendix E Glossary	100
	< /
Appendix E Schematic Diagram of the 2011Northern Ireland Fuel Poverty Model	132
Appendix E Schematic Diagram of the 2011Northern Ireland Fuel Poverty Model	132 137 141

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1	Northern Ireland's Dwelling Stock - Key Figures 1974-11	22
Table 3.2	Vacant Dwellings and Vacancy Rate by Urban/Rural Location, 2011	24
Table 3.3	Vacant Dwellings by Tenure, 2011	25
Table 4.1	Household Profile, 2011	28
Table 4.2	Age Profile of the Household Reference Person, 2006-2011	31
Table 4.3	Household Types, 2001-2011	33
Table 4.4	Comparisons of Employment Groups, 2006-2011	35
Table 4.5	Comparison of Annual Income Bands HCS, FRS (2009-10) and CHS (2011-12)	36
Table 4.6	Household Sub-Groups 2006-2011	39
Table 4.7	All Households with Children, 2011	40
Table 4.8	Older Households, 2011	41
Table 4.9	Lone Adult Households (Under pension age), 2011	42
Table 4.10	Households Reference Persons (Not working), 2011	43
Table 5.1	Unfitness - Key Figures, 2006-2011	46
Table 5.2	The State of Repair - Key Figures, 2011	46
Table 5.3	Recommended Future Action for Unfit Dwellings, 2011	50
Table 5.4	The Distribution of Repair Costs, 2011	53
Table 5.5	Repairs and Improvement Work by Tenure, 2011	56
Table 5.6	Repairs and Improvement Work, 2011	57
Table 6.1	Decent Homes - Key Figures, 2001-11	58
Table 6.2	Fuel Poverty - Key Figures, 2001-11	59
Table 6.3	HHSRS - Key Figures, 2006-11	60
Table 6.4	Failing Decent Homes Components - Northern Ireland and England	65
Table 6.5	Northern Ireland Fuel Poverty Estimates 2001-11	66
Table 6.6	Fuel Poverty Estimates by Nation (Latest Year Available)	67
Table 6.7	Severity of Fuel Poverty in Northern leland, 2011	67
Table 6.8	Fuel Poverty and Annual (Gross) Household Income, 2006-2011	70
Table 6.9	Household Type and Category 1 Hazards, 2011	72
Table 7.1	Central Heating - Key Figures	74

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.1	Age of Household Reference Person and Tenure, 2009-11	31
Figure 4.2	Household Types and Tenure, 2009-2011	33
Figure 4.3	Employment Status of HRP and Tenure, 2009-2011	35
Figure 4.4	Annual Household Income (Gross) and Tenure, 2009-2011 (% of Household)	37
Figure 4.5	Households by Religion, 2011	38
Figure 4.6	Household Religion and Age of Dwelling, 2009-2011	38
Figure 5.1	External Faults and Their Urgency, 2011	51
Figure 5.2	Disrepair and Dwelling Tenure, 2011	52
Figure 5.3	Disrepair and Dwelling Age, 2011	52
Figure 5.4	Basic Repair Costs of Vacant Dwellings and Period of Vacancy, 2011	54
Figure 5.5	Repair Costs and Dwelling Age, 2011	54
Figure 5.6	Repair Costs and Age of Household Reference Person, 2011	55
Figure 5.7	Repair Costs and Annual Income, 2011	55
Figure 5.8	Repair and Improvement Work - Total Cost, 2011	57
Figure 6.1	Non-Decent Homes and Dwelling Age, 2006-2011	63
Figure 6.2	Non-Decent Homes and Annual Income, 2011	64
Figure 6.3	Households in Fuel Poverty and Tenure, 2001-2011	68
Figure 6.4	Households in Fuel Poverty and Age of HRP, 2001-2011	69
Figure 6.5	Households in Fuel Poverty and Employment Status of HRP, 2011	69
Figure 6.6	Category 1 Hazards and Dwelling Type, 2011	71
Figure 7.1	Central Heating and Tenure, 2006-2011	76
Figure 7.2	The Changing Profile of Central Heating Fuel, 2001-2011	76
Figure 7.3	Central Heating Fuel and Tenure, 2009-2011	77
Figure 7.4	Cavity Wall Insulation and Tenure, 2009-2011	79
Figure 7.5	Full Double Glazing and Tenure, 2006-2011	83
Figure 7.6	SAP09 Rating and Tenure, 2009-2011	85



foreword

We are pleased to introduce the main report from the 2011 House Condition Survey. The 2011 Survey is an invaluable source of information for planning intervention in the housing market, for monitoring progress in relation to our key objectives and allowing us to gain greater insight into the dynamics of Northern Ireland's housing market over time. It is used not only by housing managers and policy makers but indeed, is regularly sourced by Members of the Legislative Assembly (MLAs), councils, government departments, agencies, charities and a range of private sector interests.

The Survey provides an update of key figures in relation to the Decent Homes Standard, fuel poverty and the energy efficiency of homes. It also provides an update on the dwelling stock, its residents and the quality of the stock, including its state of repair.

The 2011 Survey used mobile field computers to collect and validate the data. This electronic approach was first used in 2009 and was reviewed and enhanced for the 2011 Survey. This approach proved successful in 2009 and in 2011, allowing a faster turnaround of the survey results, improving data quality, and reducing overall costs.

The underlying economic factors driving the housing market in Northern Ireland have continued to provide a challenging environment for policy makers, landlords, tenants and owner occupiers alike, between the last two House Condition Surveys in 2009 and 2011. The impact of this can be tracked in some of the key results from the 2011 House Condition Survey.

Northern Ireland's housing stock continued to grow between 2009 and 2011 with an annual average increase of approximately 10,000 bringing the total stock to 760,000, a significantly slower increase than in the years prior to this. The 2011 Survey confirms the changing tenure structure of Northern Ireland's housing stock; the most significant developments took place in the owner occupied sector, which reduced in proportion from 67% of the stock in 2006 to 62% in 2011, and in the private rented sector, which increased from 80,900 (11.5%) in 2006 to



The Survey provides an update of key figures in relation to the Decent Homes Standard, fuel poverty and the energy efficiency of homes. It also provides an update on the dwelling stock, its residents, and the quality of the stock, including its state of repair. 125,400 in 2011 (16.5%). These changes reflect the ongoing difficulties faced by many households in attempting to become owner occupiers and the shortage of social housing in areas of high demand.

The House Condition Survey provides robust estimates of two very important Government measures: Decent Homes and fuel poverty which are comparable with figures from the English Housing Survey. Both measures have been impacted by the considerable investment, particularly in the social sector, in energy efficiency measures. The Housing Executive between 2009 and 2011 invested some £41m on heating conversions, insulation and double glazing in its housing stock. In addition, the Warm Homes Scheme invested more than £12m on insulation measures and heating replacements in eligible private homes. Alongside this, many owner occupiers themselves have made energy efficiency improvements. The result of this investment is reflected in the proportion of dwellings failing the Decent Homes Standard falling in two years from one-sixth in 2009 (15%) to approximately onetenth (11%) in 2011 (a reduction of some 25,000 dwellings).

This investment has also had a positive impact on tackling fuel poverty in Northern Ireland. Despite higher fuel costs and lower disposable household income, the 2011 Survey confirms a very welcome two percentage point reduction in the overall rate of fuel poverty between 2009 and 2011 from 44 per cent to 42 per cent in 2011.

The 2011 House Condition Survey also provides more general figures on costs of undertaking necessary urgent repairs to Northern Ireland's housing stock - £1.43 billion. Setting aside vacant properties, the outstanding cost of urgently required repairs is £330 million. A recent Housing Executive report, entitled The Cost of Poor Housing in Northern Ireland, using data from the House Condition Survey, highlighted the total cost of reducing the most serious housing hazards (e.g. excess cold, falls and fire) to an acceptable level alongside the estimated costs to the NHS of treating the results of these hazards and the overall costs to society. The policy implications of the findings are clear. There are direct economic benefits in terms of preserving the fabric of Northern Ireland's stock and providing employment for the hard pressed construction and retail sectors as well as the significant savings to be gained in terms of the Health Service.

We are pleased to commend this document to you and trust you find the analysis informative and useful.

ranged Aovela

Donald Hoodless Chairman

Interne

Dr John McPeake Chief Executive



chapter one introduction

1.1 Background

The Northern Ireland Housing Executive's statutory responsibility in relation to housing research is set out in the Housing (NI) Order 1981. Article 6 states that the Housing Executive "shall regularly examine housing conditions and need".

This legislation provides the statutory basis for the Housing Executive to undertake House Condition Surveys. The 2011 survey is the eleventh such survey to be carried out in Northern Ireland since 1974. All tenures and types of housing are included, for example, owner occupied and rented housing, vacant dwellings, houses in multiple occupation, apartments, urban and rural properties.

The House Condition Survey provides a wealth of information, which is readily available to, and is regularly requested by government departments, government agencies, the voluntary sector, charities, universities and many private sector interests.

1.2 Conduct of the Survey

The 2011 Survey used mobile field computers (Motion 5 Field Tools) to collect the data. This approach was first used in 2009 and was reviewed and enhanced for the 2011 Survey. The main benefits of this electronic approach included: enabling surveyors to complete more complex selfvalidation of their forms at the time of the survey, improving data quality by reducing punching errors, missing data and data inconsistencies and allowing a faster turnaround of the survey results.

The bespoke software used was developed by the Building Research Establishment (BRE) and it permitted the recording of dwelling information through radio buttons, direct keying, and selecting items from drop down menus and enabled surveyors to draw sketches. All these methods used a stylus pen on a touch screen. Validation and consistency checks were built into the programme and once a survey was completed it was uploaded and locked into a database via a secure website.

The hardware was a Motion 5 mobile field computer which was both a semi-rugged field tool and a

The House Condition Survey provides a wealth of information, which is readily available to, and is regularly requested by government departments, government agencies, the voluntary sector, charities, universities and many private sector interests. standard Windows computer. It was designed for use outside and had to be able to withstand a fall, have a battery life long enough to reduce the need for a docking station and have a 'View Anywhere' display. In addition the digital ink capability made it easy to annotate, draw, scribble or use handwriting and it also had a built-in camera. The hardware also had to provide secure user identification and device level security.

The electronic approach, the project management, design, administration, quality assurance analysis and report writing were the responsibility of the Housing Executive's Research Unit.

Eighteen fully qualified surveyors undertook the fieldwork and were either Environmental Health Officers or Chartered Surveyors. All of the surveyors had worked on the 2006 and 2009 Northern Ireland HCS. Four experienced supervisors were responsible for quality assuring the work of the surveyors.

A training course was held in May 2011. This was conducted by staff from the Housing Executive's Research Unit, the Building Research Establishment (BRE) and by the HCS supervisors. The aim of the training was to update the surveyors on changes to the form since 2009 and to introduce the new enhancements to the e-form and to refresh surveyors on the Housing Health Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and energy elements of the form.

For further information see Appendix A

1.3 Survey Objectives

The key objectives of the 2011 Northern Ireland House Condition Survey were as follows:

- To provide a comprehensive picture of the dwelling stock and its condition in 2011 for Northern Ireland and each of the 26 District Council Areas;
- To facilitate a comparative analysis of housing conditions in Northern Ireland with other parts of the UK;
- To examine the association between dwelling conditions and the social and economic circumstances of households;

- To examine changes in the condition of the stock over time in terms of key Government measures: Decent Homes and the Housing Health and Safety Rating Standard;
- To provide a reliable assessment of the energy efficiency of the stock and the level of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland on a comparable basis with the rest of the UK.

The objectives have remained broadly consistent with those in 2001, 2004, 2006 and 2009.

1.4 The E-Survey Form

The E-Survey form broadly remained the same as previous paper surveys and comprised five main sections of questions covering:

- The physical attributes of each dwelling (internal and external)
- The physical aspects of flats and common areas
- Demographic, social economic and attitudinal information on households
- The front and back plot of the dwelling, the local neighbourhood and area
- The Housing Health and Safety Rating System.

The main area of change between the 2009 and 2011 survey forms was the inclusion of a number of new energy items for surveyors to record and new questions for private rented tenants.

The information gathered in the physical section allows measurement of repair costs, the Fitness Standard, The Decent Homes Standard, Fuel Poverty, SAP and the HHSRS.

Information from the social survey is crossreferenced with the physical survey data to provide an indication of the types of households living in dwellings which are in the poorest condition and most likely to fail government standards.

(see Appendix B)

1.5 The Sample – Response Rates

In 2011 the total number of dwellings selected for participation in the HCS was 2,030.

The sample size was one area of significant change since 2009. Given budgetary pressures, it was agreed that the sample should be reduced from 3,000 in 2009 to approximately 2,000 in 2011. On its own this would make it impossible to produce robust housing condition figures for each of the District Councils. However, the HCS team in partnership with BRE are developing a linear regression model using 'paired cases' which, when applied to Census 2011 data, will enable key District Council data to be produced. A second tabular report of key district council data is to be produced by the autumn of 2013.

In 2011 the sample comprised a fresh random sample only. There was no re-sample element to the Survey. The method chosen was one considered to permit a better matching with the 2011 Census for the purpose of regression modelling. It consisted of a random sample of 2,030 dwellings completed in two stages. The first stage was a random sample of 1,000 properties from across Northern Ireland. A further random sample of 1,030 was selected by District Council Area to ensure that each district total added to 70.

The fresh sample of 2,030 properties from across Northern Ireland was extracted by NISRA using the Land and Property Services database as its source.

The process of weighting and grossing ensures that the final figures reflect the actual housing stock.

The gross response rate for the 2011 House Condition Survey was very high. A total of 1,434 full inspections were successfully carried out giving an overall response rate of 71 per cent. The response rate for the 2009 House Condition Survey was 72 per cent.

The response rate for the social survey was very high at 99 per cent of all properties where a physical survey was undertaken (1,314 interviews completed out of a possible 1,322). This response is again consistent with earlier surveys.

Further details of the sample, response rates and the sample errors associated with the figures contained in the text of the report are set out in Appendix D.

1.6 The Structure of the Report

The aim of the 2011 House Condition Survey Report is to provide a comprehensive overview of Northern Ireland's dwelling stock and its occupants in 2011, in a readily digestible format. The report concentrates on issues and developments that are of particular importance in understanding the Northern Ireland housing market.

The statistical annex includes a range of tables containing information to support the description and analysis contained in the report and to provide a comprehensive reference for those requiring further details. The table numbers are pre-fixed with an A in the commentary to distinguish them from the tables included as part of the main body of the report.

The report concentrates on comparisons with the 2009 HCS, highlighting any significant changes since 2006.

An additional District Council Tabular report will be produced and published to the House Condition web page during 2013 once the regression modelling work has been completed.

dwelling type by period of original construction



chapter two

summary of key findings

2.1 Background

The 2011 Northern Ireland House Condition Survey was the eleventh House Condition Survey to be carried out since 1974. The 2011 Survey provides an update of key figures in relation to The Decent Homes Standard, Fuel Poverty, SAP, unfitness and disrepair at Northern Ireland level. District Council level figures will be produced as a separate appendix. As in 2006 and 2009, this report also provides an analysis of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System which in England replaced the Fitness Standard as the key measure of housing quality in the 2007 English House Condition Survey. Although this Standard has yet to be adopted by government in Northern Ireland, data collected through the HCS allows it to be measured at the regional and the district level. All the key figures are derived from the latest statistical models and are comparable with figures from the English Housing Survey.

The longitudinal element of the Survey has allowed the Housing Executive to measure and analyse change over time and gain greater insight into the dynamics of the housing market, for example, intertenure movement and the impact of policy related issues such as house sales and energy efficiency.

The 2011 House Condition Survey has made an important contribution to a number of key government strategies including the Housing Growth Indicators in the Regional Development Strategy, Fuel Poverty, Empty Homes and the Private Rented Sector Strategy and more recently to the analysis of the impact of the ongoing Welfare Reforms. It also plays a key role in helping the Housing Executive to carry out its strategic role and contributes to the Review of the Housing Market, Home Energy Conservation and providing an evidence base for housing solutions for older people and people with disabilities. The Housing Executive spends more than £100 million annually on planned maintenance and improvement and the House Condition Survey helps ensure that scarce resources are targeted to the dwellings and households where they are most needed. It also provides a wealth of information that is regularly requested by Members

Northern Ireland's housing stock continued to grow between 2006 and 2011 to reach a total of 760,000. of the Legislative Assembly, elected representatives, councils, government departments, agencies, charities and from many voluntary and private sector interests.

2.2 Survey Objectives

The key objectives for the 2011 Northern Ireland House Condition Survey were:

- 1. To provide a comprehensive picture of the dwelling stock and its condition in 2011 for Northern Ireland and each of the 26 District Council Areas;
- 2. To facilitate a comparative analysis of housing conditions in Northern Ireland with other parts of the United Kingdom;
- 3. To examine the association between dwelling conditions and the social and economic circumstances of households;
- 4. To examine changes in the condition of the stock over time in terms of key Government measures: Decent Homes and the Housing Health and Safety Rating System;
- 5. To provide a reliable assessment of the energy efficiency of the stock and the level of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland on a comparable basis with the rest of the United Kingdom.

Key Findings

2.3 Northern Ireland's Dwelling Stock

Northern Ireland's housing stock continued to grow between 2006 and 2011 to reach a total of 760,000. However, the rate of increase slowed significantly from 12,000 per annum between 2006 and 2009 to approximately 10,000 per annum between 2009 and 2011. The broad pattern of its distribution has changed little, with around 70 per cent located in urban areas.

However, there have been some significant changes in terms of its tenure composition. The proportion of (occupied) owner occupied stock fell from 66.5 per cent of the stock in 2006 to 61.7 per cent by 2011. Conversely the (occupied) private rented sector increased rapidly from 80,900 in 2006 to 125,400 in 2011 (16.5%), reflecting the ongoing difficulties faced by many households in attempting to become owner occupiers and the shortage of social housing in areas of high demand.

The vacancy rate continued to increase from 5.7 per cent in 2006 to 7.2 per cent in 2011, reflecting partly the growth in the private rented sector – which brings with it a higher rate of vacancy (13% compared to 6% in the owner occupied sector) – the depopulation of many remoter areas in Northern Ireland and the subdued owner occupied market, with properties often staying significantly longer on the market before being sold. In addition, there are 3-4,000 completed, but unsold, properties which remain as testimony to the unsustainability of the housing boom in the mid-2000s.

The age profile of Northern Ireland's housing stock is increasingly modern, with approximately 40 per cent having been built since 1980, while a declining percentage were built before 1919 (11.5%).

2.4 Household Profile

The household data from the 2011 HCS confirmed a number of important housing trends including:

- The increase in private renting (from 12% to 18%) and decrease in owner occupation (from 71% to 66%) which was apparent between 2006 and 2009 levelled off in 2011, when two-thirds (67%) of households lived in owner occupied homes and almost one-fifth (18%) of households lived in privately rented accommodation.
- Only three per cent of households lived in homes which were overcrowded.
- The proportion of households living in social housing in 2011 was the same as in 2009. Older households and households with children were most likely to live in social housing.
- Protestant households were slightly more likely than Catholic households to own their own homes. There was no difference in the proportions of Protestant and Catholic

households living in terraced or detached housing. Differences between the two main religions can be seen when looking at location. Protestant households were more likely to live in urban areas, while there was a higher proportion of Catholics living in rural areas.

• As in previous years the House Condition Survey showed links between income and tenure, dwelling type and dwelling age. Higher income households were more likely to own their own homes, live in detached houses and live in newer dwellings.

2.5 Dwelling Unfitness and the State of Repair

Between 2009 and 2011 there was an increase in the rate of unfitness of Northern Ireland's housing stock.

- The headline unfitness rate increased from 2.4 per cent in 2009 to 4.6 per cent in 2011. This was associated with an increase in the rate of vacancy, particularly in isolated rural areas. In 2011 there were 35,200 dwellings that were statutorily unfit (compared with 17,500 dwellings in 2009). The most common reasons for unfitness were unsatisfactory facilities for the preparation and cooking of food; no, or unsuitably located, bath, shower and wash hand basin; and serious disrepair.
- There was little change in the state of repair of Northern Ireland's stock between 2009 (52%) and 2011 (51%) in terms of the percentage of dwelling stock with at least one fault. However, the degree of disrepair was significantly higher; the average basic repair cost (which had decreased from £1,476 in 2006 to £938 in 2009) increased to £2,123 in 2011, giving a total repairs bill of £1.6 billion compared with £694 million in 2009.
- Disrepair was particularly prevalent in vacant dwellings (75%; 64% in 2009) but it was also higher in the private rented sector and social housing (both 53%) than in the owner occupied sector (45%). There was a clear relationship between the age of the dwelling and disrepair with nearly three-quarters (73%) of all dwellings built before 1945 having faults.

 There was also a link between location and disrepair. The level of disrepair was higher in rural areas (53%) than in urban areas (48%).
Isolated rural areas in particular had a high level of disrepair (55%), indeed isolated rural areas had higher levels of interior disrepair (30%; 22% overall) and exterior disrepair (51%; 42% overall) than any other location.

2.6 The Decent Homes Standard, 2011

There has been a further significant decrease in the number of dwellings failing the Decent Homes Standard. Since 2001 the number of dwellings failing this Standard has decreased from one-third (32%) to approximately one-tenth (11%; a drop of twenty-one percentage points and some 119,200 dwellings).

The types of dwellings most likely to fail the Decent Homes Standard in 2011 were:

- Vacant properties (57%: 38% in 2009), however more than two-fifths (44%) of all dwellings that failed the Decent Homes Standard were owner occupied;
- Older dwellings built before 1919 (35%);
- Located in isolated rural areas (23%);
- Occupied by households with older HRPs (14%; 75 plus);
- Low income households (14%; less than £10,000 per annum).

Components of Decent Homes

Overall, 62 per cent of the stock in Northern Ireland which failed the Decent Homes Standard did so on the thermal comfort criterion. This compares with 68 per cent in 2009. This reduction is in part due to the significant investment in new and improved heating systems in the social sector. However, 42 per cent of the stock in Northern Ireland which failed the Decent Homes Standard did so on disrepair, much higher than the 2009 figure of 18 per cent. This proportional increase partly reflects the decline in the proportion of stock failing on the thermal comfort criterion. However, the fact that the absolute number of properties failing the Decent Homes Standard on disrepair has increased would indicate a significant growth in disrepair in its own right. Failing to meet the Decent Homes Standard due to disrepair was particularly associated with vacant properties. In 2011, 55 per cent of all properties which failed the Decent Homes Standard on disrepair were vacant. Conversely, 64 per cent of all vacant properties which failed the Decent Homes Standard were in disrepair.

Overall, 24 per cent of the stock in Northern Ireland which failed the Decent Homes Standard did so on *lacking modern facilities and services*. This compares with 27 per cent in 2009.

2.7 Fuel Poverty in Northern Ireland, 2011

Analysis of households in fuel poverty in 2011 shows that:

- Considerable progress had been made in reducing fuel poverty in Northern Ireland between 2001 and 2004 (from 27% to 23%). By 2006 the rate of fuel poverty had increased to 34 per cent and then to 44 per cent in 2009. This was mainly due to very significant increases in the price of fuel and continued dependence on oil, electric and solid fuel for heating in Northern Ireland. The 2011 HCS shows some progress in reducing the proportion in fuel poverty (to 42%) despite rising fuel prices. This is largely as a result of significant investment, particularly in the social sector, in new energy efficiency measures such as heating conversions, insulation and double glazing by the Housing Executive in its own stock and also by the Warm Homes Scheme in private homes.
- Low income continued to be a significant cause of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland in 2011; 79 per cent of households with an annual income of less than £10,000 were in fuel poverty. Indeed, 75 per cent of all households in fuel poverty had incomes of £14,999 per annum or less.

However, on the basis of these general factors the HCS indicates that fuel poverty was correlated to a number of other factors:

- Almost two-thirds (69%) of households living in older dwellings (pre 1919) were in fuel poverty;
- Half (50%) of households living in isolated rural areas were in fuel poverty;
- Almost two-thirds (66%) of households headed by an older person (75 plus) were in fuel poverty in 2011. Three-fifths (61%) of older households were fuel poor;
- Fuel poverty was higher in households with HRPs who were unemployed (55%) or retired (62%).

The 2011 HCS continues to indicate that even if the dwelling is given an efficient heating system and is insulated to the highest standards it does not mean that the household will automatically be brought out of fuel poverty. The cost of fuel and low income will remain important determinants of whether a household is still in fuel poverty.

2.8 Housing Health and Safety Rating System, 2011

Overall, 10 per cent of all dwellings in Northern Ireland had Category 1 hazards in 2011. The most common hazards in dwellings in Northern Ireland were excess cold and food safety.

The types of dwellings most likely to have Category 1 hazards were:

- vacant properties (55%);
- older dwellings built before 1919 (36%) and between 1919 and 1944 (27%);
- located in isolated rural areas (27%);
- occupied by households with older HRPs (9%; 75 plus);

This section has provided a measure of Northern Ireland's dwelling stock in terms of the HHSRS, allowing comparisons with England, where the HHSRS has already replaced unfitness as the first element of the Decent Homes Standard. In Northern Ireland the HHSRS has not yet been accepted as an enforceable standard. However, it provides a useful indicator of the relatively high standard of Northern Ireland's housing stock generally, compared with England's.

2.9 Energy

The 2011 House Condition Survey shows the progress made in achieving higher levels of energy efficiency between 2006 and 2009 had been sustained:

- Overall 99 per cent of all dwellings had central heating (99% in 2009).
- The majority of dwellings (85%) had either oil fired (68%; 68% in 2009), or mains gas central heating (17%; 15% in 2009).

Small improvements were also noted for loft insulation and double glazing:

- There was an increase in the use of the highest standard of loft insulation (more than 150mm) from 30 per cent in 2009 to 35 per cent in 2011.
- The proportion of dwellings with full double glazing increased from 77 per cent in 2009 to 81 per cent in 2011; this was most notable in the private rented sector where there was an increase in the proportion of dwellings with full double glazing from 70 per cent in 2009 to 84 per cent in 2011.

The progress sustained and small improvements made were reflected in an increase in the overall SAP rating which rose from 56.7 to 59.6 (SAP09) between 2009 and 2011. This was most notable in dwellings with household reference persons aged 75 or older where there was a four point increase in SAP rating from 54 to 58 (SAP09).

However, whilst progress had been sustained across most sectors of the housing market there was a notable decline in some of the key energy-related features found in vacant dwellings. This reflects the number of older, poorer quality properties that are increasingly being left vacant.

Moreover, households living in dwellings with lower energy efficient ratings remain the most vulnerable groups where the household reference person was elderly, retired or on low income.

	1974	1991	1996	2001	2006	2009	2011
Total Stock	455,500	574,300	602,500	647,500	705,000	740,000	760,000
	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Urban	269,400	404,100	402,100	434,600	493,800	508,500	529,700
	(59%)	(70%)	(67%)	(67%)	(70%)	(69%)	(70%)
Rural	186,100	170,200	200,400	212,900	211,200	231,500	230,300
	(41%)	(30%)	(33%)	(33%)	(30%)	(31%)	(30%)
Owner Occupied	212,200	347,200	381,200	432,300	468,900	461,800	469,100
	(46.6%)	(60.5%)	(63.3%)	(67%)	(66.5%)	(62.4%)	(61.7%)
Private Rented (and Others)	72,200	28,600	38,000	49,400	80,900	124,600	125,400
	(15.8%)	(5.0%)	(6.3%)	(7.6%)	(11.5%)	(16.8%)	(16.5%)
Housing Executive	153,500	158,200	141,200	116,000	93,400	110,200	110,800
	(33.7%)	(27.6%)	(23.4%)	(17.9%)	(13.3%)		
Housing Association	-	10,000	13,000	17,900	21,500	(14.9%)	(14.6%)
		(1.7%)	(2.1%)	(2.8%)	(3.1%)		
Vacant	17,600	30,300	29,100	31,900	40,300	43,400	54,700
	(3.9%)	(5.3%)	(4.8%)	(4.9%)	(5.7%)	(5.9%)	(7.2%)
Pre 1919	157,300	121,500	120,800	116,400	113,800	106,500	87,700
	(34.5%)	(21.2%)	(20.0%)	(18.0%)	(16.1%)	(14.4%)	(11.5%)
1919 - 44	75,200	65,100	69,400	69,100	71,000	78,200	68,100
	(16.5%)	(11.3%)	(11.5%)	(10.7%)	(10.1%)	(10.6%)	(9.0%)
1945 - 64	223,000	129,800	128,800	127,800	141,400	125,100	134,000
	(49.0%)	(22.6%)	(21.4%)	(19.7%)	(20.1%)	(16.9%)	(17.6%)
1965 - 80	Included in	162,300	158,400	159,900	169,300	181,800	169,500
	1945 - 64	(28.3%)	(26.3%)	(24.7%)	(24.0%)	(24.6%)	(22.3%)
Post 1980	-	95,600	125,100	174,300	209,500	248,400	300,700
		(16.7%)	(20.8%)	(27.0%)	(29.7%)	(33.6%)	(39.6%)
Bungalow	-	-	145,200	157,000	159,900	162,600	160,000
5			(24.1%)	(24.2%)	(22.7%)	(22.0%)	(21.1%)
Terraced House	199,000	210,500	201,900	200,300	225,400	231,900	209,800
	(43.7%)	(36.7%)	(33.5%)	(30.9%)	(32.0%)	(31.3%)	(27.6%)
Semi-detached House	91,000	139,800	110,400	123,500	141,300	146,800	165,200
	(20.0%)	(24.3%)	(18.3%)	(19.1%)	(20.0%)	(19.8%)	(21.7%)
Detached House	133,700	177,300	93,400	115,000	122,400	138,900	158,500
	(29.4%)	(30.9%)	(15.5%)	(17.8%)	(17.4%)	(18.8%)	(20.9%)
Purpose Built Flat	23,900	38,500	42,800	43,700	-	-	-
	(5.2%)	(6.7%)	(7.1%)	(6.7%)			
Converted Flat	3,200	8,100	8,800	8,000	-	-	-
	(0.7%)	(1.4%)	(1.5%)	(1.3%)			
Flat/Apartment	-	-	-	-	56,000	59,800	66,500
					(8.0%)	(8.1%)	(8.7%)

Table 3.1: Northern Ireland's Dwelling Stock – Key Figures 1974-2011

Due to rounding columns may not always add to total stock.

Bungalows were not counted separately until the 1996 Survey. The definition of a bungalow is a dwelling with "no fixed internal staircase". A loft conversion of a bungalow which then includes a permanent staircase becomes a "house". The 1974 House Condition Survey used a slightly different dwelling type classification and as a result 4,700 have been excluded from the table.

dwelling stock

3.1 Introduction

This chapter examines the characteristics of Northern Ireland's dwelling stock in 2011 in terms of its distribution, tenure, age and dwelling type. Where significant it compares and contrasts them to the findings from House Condition Surveys undertaken in 2006 and 2009.

Table 3.1 sets out the key statistics used in this chapter. Additional tables are contained in the Statistical Annex.

3.2 The Total Stock and its Distribution(Table A3.1)

The 2011 House Condition Survey showed that there were approximately 760,000 dwellings in Northern Ireland, a net increase of 55,000 (11,000 per annum) since 2006. This represents a somewhat lower rate to that experienced between 2001 and 2006 when the average annual increase in stock was 11,500. During the period 2006 to 2009, the annual rate of increase in stock was 12,000, while during the period 2009 to 2011 it was only approximately 10,000 per annum. The period 2006-2011 has been characterised by a major turnaround in the housing market in Northern Ireland, with the construction of new dwellings (in the public and private sectors) falling from a historic peak of more than 14,700 in 2006/07 to approximately 8,000 in 2010/11¹.

The broad pattern of geographic distribution of the housing stock has changed little in the five year period since 2006. Almost 70 per cent of the housing stock is classified as urban and the remainder as rural. However, within this overall picture there has been some significant change:

- The number of dwellings in the Belfast Metropolitan Area declined a little from 275,400 (39.1%) to 268,700 (35.4%).
- The number of dwellings in District and "Other" Towns grew rapidly, from 218,400 (31.0%) to 261,000 (34.3%).
- The total number of rural dwellings increased from 211,200 (30.0%) in 2006 to 230,300 (30.3%) in 2011. This reflected growth in both small

The broad pattern of geographic distribution of the housing stock has changed little in the five year period since 2006. Almost 70 per cent of the housing stock is classified as urban and the remainder as rural. rural settlements (from 106,900 to 122,000) and isolated rural settlements (from 104,300 to 108,300).

3.3 Dwelling Tenure

The 2011 House Condition Survey collected information on dwelling tenure in five categories: owner occupied, private rented and others (including tied dwellings), Housing Executive, housing association and vacant. In addition, vacant dwellings were classified on the basis of tenure when last occupied. However, the sample size of the 2011 Survey was not sufficiently large to produce robust statistics for housing association dwellings on their own. The analysis contained in the main body of the document as well as the Appendix tables, therefore, focus on social housing as a whole.

The following tenure profile emerged:

- In 2011 there were approximately 469,100 occupied dwellings in the owner occupied sector, 61.7 per cent of the total stock. This is very similar to the number of owner occupied dwellings in 2006 (468,900), but at that time this represented 66.5 per cent of the total stock.
- The most significant development has taken place in the private rented sector. In 2006 there were 80,900 occupied privately rented dwellings in Northern Ireland,11.5 per cent of the total stock. However, by 2011 there were 125,400 (16.5%) dwellings in this sector. This represents an average annual growth of approximately 9,000 each year between 2006 and 2011, reflecting the growing demand for private renting from households unable to afford owner occupancy or gain access to social housing in an area of choice as well as growing interest from investors in the buy-to-let market.
- The number and proportion of dwellings in the social sector has continued to decline, mainly as a result of the house sales scheme. In 2006 there were 115,000 (16.4%) dwellings in the social sector; by 2011 this had fallen to 110,800 (14.6%). However, it should be noted that between 2009 and 2011 the occupied social stock actually grew

for the first time in decades (by approximately 600) reflecting almost insignificant levels of house sales and a larger programme of new social dwellings.

Vacant properties (Table A3.2)

In 2011 there were approximately 54,700 (7.2%) vacant properties. This represents both an absolute and proportionate increase since 2006 and 2009, when the comparable figures were 40,300 (5.7%) and 43,400 (5.9%) respectively, and may well be a reflection of lower rates of household formation as a result of the prolonged recession affecting Northern Ireland's economy.

An insight into the reasons for the increase in the number of vacant properties can be gained by a closer look at their geographical location and tenure when last occupied:

Table 3.2 Vacant Dwellings and Vacancy Rate by Location, 2011

	Vacant Dwellings	Vacancy Rate (%)
Belfast Metropolitan Area	12,800	4.8
District & "Other" Towns	13,300	5.1
Total Urban	26,100	4.9
Small Rural Settlement	10,100	8.3
Isolated Rural	18,500	17.0
Total Rural	28,600	12.4
All Vacant Dwellings	54,700	7.2

Table 3.2 shows that in 2011 the number of vacant properties in rural areas (28,600) was higher than in urban areas (26,100). The vacancy rate was much higher in rural areas (12.4% compared to 4.9%) and in particular in isolated rural areas (17.0%). Although this pattern of distribution had remained broadly the same since 2001, the dichotomy between rural and urban vacancy rates has grown quite considerably since even 2009, when the vacancy rate was 7.8 per cent in rural areas as a whole and 5.0 per cent in urban areas, and only 8.5 per cent in isolated rural areas is at least partly to be explained by the ongoing

depopulation in remoter rural areas of Northern Ireland associated with the declining number of farms and the concentration of jobs in the Belfast Metropolitan Area².

Table 3.3 Va	acant Dwellings	by Tenure,	2011
--------------	-----------------	------------	------

	Vacant Dwellings	Vacancy Rate (%)
Owner Occupied	29,500	5.9
Private Rented	19,100	13.2
Social	6,100	5.2
All Vacant Dwellings	54,700	7.2

- In absolute terms the number of vacant dwellings previously in the owner occupied sector was the highest 29,500. This is significantly higher than the figures for 2006 (21,600) and 2009 (19,000) and accounts for 54 per cent of all vacant properties. There can be little doubt that this significant increase reflects, at least in part, the subdued nature of the housing market with relatively low levels of sales in the owner occupied sector. The owner occupied sector as a whole had a vacancy rate of 5.9 per cent, a significant increase since 2009 and 2006 when the comparable figures were 4.0 per cent and 4.4 per cent.
- However, in relative terms the private rented sector accounts for by far the highest proportion of vacant properties. More than one-third (34.9%) of all vacant properties in 2011 were privately rented when last occupied. This represents an increase from the position in 2009 when the comparable figure was 12 per cent and may well reflect lower household formation rates.
- The proportion of vacant properties in the social sector was 5.2 per cent (approximately 6,000 homes) a decline of approximately 1,000 since 2009 when the comparable rate of vacancy was six per cent.

More than one-third (36%) of all vacant properties were constructed before 1919, reflecting the traditional abandonment of dwellings in more

remote rural areas, but more than one-fifth (21%) were built since 1980, partly reflecting the overhang of unsold newer properties built since the downturn in the housing market in 2007.

Dwelling Tenure - Urban/Rural Location (Table A3.2)

Less than two-thirds (59%) of the urban stock was owner occupied, a figure which was broadly in line with 2006 (62%) and 2009 (58%). In rural areas, the proportion had fallen, from 76 per cent in 2006 and 72 per cent in 2009 to 67 per cent in 2011.

Conversely, the proportion of stock in the private rented sector has increased in both urban areas (from 13% in 2006 to 18 per cent in 2011), and in rural areas (from nine per cent in 2006 to 13 per cent in 2011 – although this represents a small reduction since 2009 when the proportion was 15 per cent).

The proportion of urban housing in the social sector has gradually declined from 20 per cent in 2006 to 18 per cent in 2011. In rural areas in 2011 approximately seven per cent³ of the stock was in the social sector.

3.4 Dwelling Age

The 2001 and 2006 House Condition Surveys had already indicated a gradual change in the age profile on Northern Ireland's housing stock as a result of:

- A small decline in the absolute number and proportion of dwellings in the older age categories, mainly as a result of demolition.
- A substantial increase in the post-1980 category as a result of the accelerated rate of construction of new dwellings between 1996 and 2006.

These trends were confirmed by analysis of the 2009 and 2011 House Condition Surveys:

- Approximately two-fifths (39.6%, 300,700; 33.6%, 248,400 in 2009⁴) of all dwellings were built after 1980.
- Conversely, only 11.5 per cent of dwellings were built before 1919 compared to 14.4 per cent in 2009.

² See Northern Ireland Census of Employment, 2011 and the Agricultural Census for Northern Ireland, 2011

³ Sample size for social dwellings in rural areas makes comparisons over time unreliable

⁴ It should be noted that the inclusion of a considerable number of unfinished properties in the sample frame has exaggerated this trend significantly.

Dwelling Age - Dwelling Tenure (Table A3.3)

Analysis of age by tenure reflects these overall trends.

In the owner occupied sector, the proportion of dwellings built since 1980 increased from 36 per cent in 2009 to 43 per cent in 2011. The proportion of dwellings built prior to 1919 fell from 14 per cent in 2009 to 10.0 per cent in 2011.

The private rented sector has seen a significant shift in its age profile too. In 2006 only 25 per cent of its stock had been built since 1980. By 2009 this had risen to 28 per cent and by 2011to 41 per cent. Conversely, in 2006, 28 per cent of privately rented dwellings were built prior to 1919, falling to 20 per cent by 2009 and to only 15 per cent by 2011.

The number and proportion of dwellings in the social sector which were built before 1919 remains very small, but in 2011 approximately 32 per cent had been built after 1980.

In the case of vacant properties, the age profile has also changed somewhat since 2006. At that time more than two-fifths (44%) had been constructed prior to 1919 and only 22 per cent since 1980. By 2011 less than two-fifths (36%; 19,700) had been built before 1919 and 21 per cent had been built since 1980.

Dwelling Age - Urban/Rural Location (Table A3.4)

Analysis of dwelling age by location indicates that in 2011:

The proportion of Northern Ireland's total stock which was built before 1919 was 11.5 per cent (87,700). However, a much higher proportion of the rural stock (20.8%) than urban stock (7.5%) was built during this period. Indeed almost half (43.8%) of all dwellings built before 1919 were in isolated rural areas.

Almost two-fifths (39.6%; 300,700) of all dwellings in Northern Ireland were built after 1980, a higher percentage in rural areas (43.8%) than in urban areas (37.7%). However, these figures mask the fact that in Belfast Metropolitan Area (30.7%) the proportion of this newer stock is much lower than other areas while in small rural settlements it is much higher (48.2%).

3.5 Dwelling Type

Northern Ireland's housing stock has traditionally been dominated by houses and bungalows (single storey houses, including cottages). The 2011 House Condition Survey confirms that this is continuing to slowly change, with a gradual decline in the proportion of bungalows and terraced houses and small increases in the proportions of other dwelling types.

- The proportion of bungalows (single storey houses) fell from 22.7 per cent in 2006 to 21.1 per cent in 2011.
- Over the same period, the proportion of terraced houses fell from 32.0 to 27.6 per cent.
- Semi-detached houses and detached houses each accounted for approximately one fifth of the stock (21.7% and 20.9% respectively), in 2011.
- Apartments/flats accounted for 8.7 per cent of the stock, compared with 7.9 per cent in 2006.

Dwelling Type – Tenure (Table A3.5)

Comparison with the findings from 2006 indicates that little has changed in the owner occupied sector, although there is evidence of a small decrease in the proportion of bungalows (23%) and terraced houses (23%) balanced by increases in semi-detached houses (24%), detached houses (27%) and flats/ apartments (3%).

However, in the private rented sector there are indications of more significant changes, with a considerable decrease in the proportion of terraced houses (40%) and increases in semi-detached (25%) and detached houses (12%).

Since 2006 the social sector has experienced a decline in the proportion of terraced houses, from 45 per cent to 39 per cent, counterbalanced by smaller increases in the proportion of bungalows and semi-detached houses.

3.6 Summary and Conclusion

Northern Ireland's housing stock continued to grow between 2006 and 2011 to reach a total of 760,000. However, the rate of increase slowed significantly from 12,000 per annum between 2006 and 2009 to approximately 10,000 per annum between 2009 and 2011. The broad pattern of distribution has changed little, with around 70 per cent located in urban areas.

However, there have been some significant changes in terms of tenure composition. The proportion of (occupied) owner occupied stock fell from 66.5 per cent of the stock in 2006 to 61.7 per cent by 2011. Conversely, the (occupied) private rented sector increased rapidly from 80,900 in 2006 to 125,400 in 2011 (16.5%), reflecting the ongoing difficulties faced by many households in attempting to become owner occupiers and the shortage of social housing in areas of high demand.

The vacancy rate continued to increase, from 5.7 per cent in 2006 to 7.2 per cent in 2011, reflecting a combination of growth in the private rented sector – which brings with it a higher rate of vacancy (13% compared to 6% in the owner occupied sector) – the depopulation of many remoter areas in Northern Ireland and the subdued owner occupied market, with properties often staying significantly longer on the market before being sold. In addition, there are 3-4,000 completed, but unsold, properties which remain as testimony to the unsustainability of the housing boom in the mid-2000s.

The age profile of Northern Ireland's housing stock is increasingly modern, with approximately 40 per cent having been built since 1980, while a declining percentage was built before 1919 (11.5%). The importance of this for energy efficiency is analysed in a later chapter. Finally, the characteristics of the housing stock in terms of dwelling type are also beginning to change – the proportion of bungalows (including single storey houses and cottages) and terraced houses has declined slowly, but the perspective set out by some housing commentators in the mid-2000s that a growing proportion of Northern Ireland's housing stock would be flats/ apartments has not so far materialised: less than 10 per cent of homes are of this type.

	Owne Occupi	er ed	Private Re and oth	ented iers	Social Ho	using	All Hous	seholds	% of all Households
				Nu	mber and p	percent	age		
Household Type									
Adult households	180,000	65.6	57,000	20.8	37,400	13.6	274,400	(100%)	39
Households with children	142,800	62.4	50,900	22.3	34,900	15.3	228,600	(100%)	33
Older households	145,000	73.2	14,900	7.5	38,300	19.3	198,200	(100%)	28
All Households	467,800	66.7	122,800	17.5	110,600	15.8	701,200	(100%)	100
Age of Household Reference F	Person								
17 - 24	*	6.5	*	57.5	*	36.0	25,300	(100%)	4
25 - 39	91,600	54.1	53,400	31.6	24,100	14.2	169,100	(100%)	24
40 - 59	197,000	73.4	36,500	13.6	35,000	13.0	268,500	(100%)	38
60 - 74	120,700	75.5	12,700	8.0	26,500	16.5	159,900	(100%)	23
75 plus	56,900	72.6	*	7.0	16,000	20.4	78,400	(100%)	11
All Households	467,800	66.7	122,800	17.5	110,600	15.8	701,200	(100%)	100
Employment Status of HRP									
Working	289,700	76.5	65,400	17.3	23,700	6.3	378,800	(100%)	54
Not working	40,300	30.4	43,000	32.5	49,100	37.1	132,400	(100%)	19
Retired	137,800	72.5	14,400	7.6	37,800	19.9	190,000	(100%)	27
All Households	467,800	66.7	122,800	17.5	110,600	15.8	701,200	(100%)	100
Gross Annual Income									
Less than £10,000	56,400	47.6	28,400	24.0	33,600	28.4	118,400	(100%)	17
£10,000 - £14,999	106,200	53.3	37,900	19.0	55,300	27.7	199,400	(100%)	29
£15,000 - £19,999	69,300	64.2	22,300	20.6	16,500	15.2	108,000	(100%)	15
£20,000 - £29,999	82,600	77.5	21,500	20.2	*	2.3	106,500	(100%)	15
£30,000 or more	153,300	90.8	12,700	7.5	*	1.7	168,900	(100%)	24
All Households	467,800	66.7	122,800	17.5	110,600	15.8	701,200	(100%)	100
Household Religion									
Protestant	257,300	70.4	48,600	13.3	59,700	16.3	365,600	(100%)	52
Catholic	170,200	63.4	54,000	20.1	44,200	16.5	268,400	(100%)	38
Mixed/Other/None	40,300	59.9	20,200	30.1	*	9.9	67,200	(100%)	10
All Households	467,800	66.7	122,800	17.5	110,600	15.8	701,200	(100%)	100
Other Groups									
Lone Adult Households	44,400	41.6	37,100	34.7	25,200	23.7	106,700	(100%)	15

Table 4.1: Household Profile, 2011

(Due to rounding figures may not always add to total households)

* denotes a small number – use caution when quoting proportion

chapter four household profile

4.1 Introduction

This chapter draws on the household⁵ questionnaire section of the Northern Ireland House Condition Survey (NIHCS). It provides an update of the profile of the households in Northern Ireland and an insight into the relationship between key dwelling characteristics and the social and economic characteristics of households. It also notes any changes since the 2009 HCS and examines trends over the ten year period since the 2001 Survey.

Social survey information from the HCS is used widely among housing practitioners in areas such as the assessment of future housing needs, household tenure trends, affordability and social exclusion. It has been used to provide information for strategic decisions, in recent years in relation to the private rented sector, home improvement grants and fuel poverty.

The household questions are reviewed during the questionnaire design stage of each survey. Comments from surveyors and other HCS clients are considered and used to help guide changes either in the question wording, layout or in the addition of new questions on emerging housing or social topics.

The surveyors complete the household questionnaire with the household reference person⁶ or partner (if applicable), as part of the survey process. In 2011, a total of 1,314 interviews were achieved out of a possible 1,322 interviews (physical inspections excluding vacant dwellings). This gives a very high response rate for the household survey at 99 per cent, and is consistent with previous surveys.

4.2 Dwelling Profile of Northern Ireland Households

The Bedroom Standard

The bedroom standard, as defined by the General Household Survey, is used to estimate the occupation density by allocating a standard number of bedrooms to each household in accordance with its age, gender and marital status composition and the relationship between members. A separate bedroom is allocated to each married or cohabiting couple, any other person aged 21 or over, each pair Social survey information from the HCS is used widely among housing practitioners in areas such as the assessment of future housing needs, household tenure trends, affordability and social exclusion.

⁵ A definition of household is included in Appendix E

⁶ A definition of household reference person is included in Appendix E

of adolescents aged 10 to 20 of the same gender, and each pair of children, regardless of gender, less than 10 years old. Any unpaired person aged 10 to 20 is paired, if possible, with a child under 10 of the same gender, or given a separate bedroom, as is any unpaired child less than 10 years old. This standard number of bedrooms is then compared with the actual number of bedrooms available for sole use of the household and deficiencies or excesses are tabulated. The bedroom standard does not take account of bedroom size. Overcrowding is defined as falling below the bedroom standard by one or more bedrooms.

Key findings:

- Three per cent of households in Northern Ireland fell below the bedroom standard, i.e. were overcrowded in 2011. This proportion has remained relatively unchanged since 2001 but has declined from seven per cent in 1996.
- There has been no change in the proportion of households meeting the bedroom standard since 2006 (18% in 2011, 2009 and 2006).
- Under-occupation decreased slightly from 81 per cent in 2009 to 79 per cent in 2011. However, in general, under-occupation has been on the increase since 1996 when the proportion was 68 per cent.

The bedroom standard was analysed by tenure, household size and religion.

The Bedroom Standard⁷ – Tenure, Household Size and Religion

Generally, patterns were similar to findings in 2009:

• Private rented homes (6%) were more likely than social housing (3%) or owner occupied homes (2%) to be overcrowded. As expected, the larger the household the more likely the dwelling was to be overcrowded. Two per cent of three person households lived in overcrowded accommodation compared to 10 per cent of four or more person households. Catholic households (4%) were more likely to live in overcrowded accommodation than Protestant households(2%) but this is largely a reflection of the different average household size and age structures of the two groups.

- The bedroom standard was met, ie. the dwelling had the exact number of bedrooms required for their household, in less than one fifth (18%) of dwellings. This varied significantly by tenure. Almost half (42%) of homes in the social housing sector met the bedroom standard, compared with 13 per cent of owner occupied homes and 16 per cent of private rented homes. Proportions of Protestant (19%) and Catholic (17%) households living in homes that met the bedroom standard were similar to the overall average (18%).
- The majority (79%) of homes were underoccupied. Owner occupied homes (85%) were most likely to be under-occupied, with one or more bedrooms above the standard (53% had two or more bedrooms above the standard). There was little difference in under-occupation by religion (79% of both Protestant and Catholic households lived in under occupied homes).

Age of Household Reference Person Key findings:

- A large proportion (62%) of household reference persons (HRPs) were aged between 25 and 59. One-third (34%) of household reference persons were 60 or older (11% were 75 or older). A small proportion (4%) of household reference persons were aged between 17 and 24. This age group has been excluded from further analysis due to small sample sizes.
- More than one-quarter (27%) of household reference persons were pensioners⁸.
- Table 4.2 shows the age profile of the household reference person in 2006, 2009 and 2011. Overall, there has been little change in the age groups since 2006.

Age band	2006 HCS %	2009 HCS %	2011 HCS %
17-24	4	3	4
25-39	23	25	24
40-59	37	36	38
60-74	24	22	23
75+	13	13	11
Total	100%	100%	100%

Table 4.2: Age Profile of the Household Reference Person, 2006-2011

Tenure, dwelling age, dwelling type and location were analysed by the age of the household reference person.

Age of the Household Reference Person – Dwelling Tenure (Table A4.1)

Figure 4.1: Age of Household Reference Person and Tenure, 2009-2011



Rates of owner occupation across age groups have remained broadly similar to 2009 showing there has been little change in the tenure structure of the housing market since this time. However, comparisons with the 2006 House Condition Survey show a significant decrease in the rate of owner occupation among younger households and a corresponding increase in younger households renting privately, reflecting the difficulties first time buyers have had entering the housing market between 2006 and 2011. The overall proportions of household reference persons living in private rented accommodation were much the same as in 2009, although there was an increase between 2006 and 2009 (again reflecting the housing market conditions at that time). The proportion of household reference persons living in social housing was broadly similar in 2006, 2009 and 2011.

- Similar proportions of household reference persons in 2011 (67%) and 2009 (66%) lived in owner occupied homes (71% in 2006). Below average proportions of household reference persons aged between 25 and 39 (54%; 52% in 2009) lived in owner occupied homes. The corresponding figure in 2006 was 64 per cent.
- As in 2009 and 2006, household reference persons aged between 60 and 74 (76%; 77% in 2009; 77% in 2006) were most likely to live in owner occupied homes.
- The overall proportion of household reference persons living in private rented accommodation remained the same as in 2009 (18%), following an increase between 2006 and 2009 (from 12% to 18%). As in 2009, younger households were disproportionately represented in the private rented sector. Almost one-third (32%; 33% in 2009) of household reference persons aged between 25 and 39 lived in private rented accommodation. This was an increase from 2006 when almost one-fifth (19%) of household reference persons aged between 25 and 39 lived in private rented accommodation.
- There was little change in the overall proportion of household reference persons living in social housing (16% in both 2011 and 2009, and 17% in 2006). Higher than average proportions of household reference persons aged 75 plus (20% in both 2011 and 2009, and 23% in 2006) lived in social housing.

Age of Household Reference Person - Dwelling Age (Table A4.2)

• There has been little change in the overall proportions of stock by dwelling age between 2009 and 2011 (See Chapter 3). The exception is the post 1980 group (41%; 34% in 2009) which shows a substantial increase.⁹

- In 2011, ten per cent of the stock had been built prior to 1919 (13% in 2009). Household reference persons aged 75 plus (15%; 18% in 2009) were most likely to live in pre 1919 housing.
- Household reference persons aged between 25 and 39 were most likely to live in post 1980 stock (54% compared with 41% overall). This was an increase of 11 percentage points from 43 per cent in 2009.

Age of Household Reference Person - Dwelling Type (Table A4.3)

- In general there has been little change in the proportions of dwelling types since 2009.
- As in 2009, household reference persons aged 75 plus were over-represented in single storey dwellings (34% compared with 21% overall). A smaller than average proportion (10%) of household reference persons aged between 25 and 39 lived in single storey dwellings.
- More than one-quarter (28%; 32% in 2009) of household reference persons lived in terraced houses. A higher than average proportion of household reference persons aged between 25 and 39 (35%; 38% in 2009) lived in this type of dwelling.
- Household reference persons aged between 25 and 39 were most likely to live in semi-detached houses (31% compared with 22% overall).
- One-fifth (20%) of occupied homes were detached dwellings. As in 2009, household reference persons aged between 40 and 59 were most likely to occupy detached dwellings (26%; 23% in 2009).

 Less than one-tenth (8%) of occupied homes were flats/apartments. A higher than average proportion (14%; 11% in 2009) of household reference persons aged 75 plus lived in this type of accommodation.

Age of Household Reference Person - Location (Table A4.4)

- Almost three-quarters (71%; 70% in 2009) of occupied dwellings were in urban areas. Most age groups showed little variation from the average.
- More than one-quarter (29%; 30% in 2009) of occupied dwellings were in rural areas. Again most age groups showed little variation from the average.

Household Type

Households were classified into three types - adult households, households with children and older households (in 2009 there were eight household types but these were grouped together in 2011 because of the smaller sample size). A description of each household type and results from earlier House Condition Surveys and the 2011 Census are included in Table 4.3.

Key findings:

- Table 4.3 shows that the most common household type was adult households (39%) followed by households with children (33%).
 More than one-quarter (28%) of households were older households.
- Households with children have shown a marginal increase since 2009. Adult households and older households have decreased slightly.

	2011 HCS %	2011 Census %	2009 HCS %	2006 HCS %	2001 HCS %
Adult households (one or more adults below pensionable age – 65 for men, 60 for women, no dependent children)	39	44	40	41	39
Households with children (one or more adults living with dependent children)	33	34	31	28	32
Older households (one or more people, at least one of whom is of pensionable age 65+ for men, 60+ for women)	28	18	29	31	29
Other (Census only)	-	4	-	-	-
Total	100	100	100	100	100

Table 4.3: Household Types, 2001 to 2011

Tenure, dwelling age, dwelling type and location were analysed by household type categories.

Household Type - Tenure (Table A4.5)

Overall, there has been little change in the proportions of households living in each of the tenures since 2009 although there have been some changes since 2006.

The main changes between 2009 and 2011 are highlighted below:

- Home ownership remained broadly the same (67%; 66% in 2009 and 71% in 2006). Figure 4.2 shows that older households (73%; 75% in 2009 and 73% in 2006) were most likely to live in owner occupied homes.
- There was no change in the proportion of households living in private rented accommodation (18% in both 2011 and 2009; 12% in 2006). A below average proportion of older households (8%; 6% 2009 and 7% in 2006) lived in this type of housing. There was a small decrease in the proportion of adult households renting privately (21%; 24% in 2009). However, this followed an increase between 2006 and 2009 (from 14% to 24%). The household type with the highest proportion renting privately was households with children (22%; 21% in 2009 and 14% in 2006).

The proportion of households living in social housing remained the same as in 2009 (16%; 17% in 2006). Older households (19%; 19% in 2009 and 20% in 2006) and households with children (15%; 17% in 2009 and 18% in 2006) were most likely to live in social housing.



Figure 4.2: Household Types and Tenure, 2009-2011 (% of Households)

Household Type - Dwelling Age (Table A4.6)

Overall, the proportions of the dwelling stock in the various age categories remained similar to 2009, with the exception of pre 1919 and post 1980:

- More than two-fifths (41%) of all dwellings were built after 1980. An above-average proportion of households with children (52%) occupied post 1980 stock. Older households (29%) were least likely to occupy the newest stock.
- A below-average proportion of households with children (6%) occupied pre 1919 housing (compared with 10% overall).

Household Type - Dwelling Type (Table A4.7)

As with dwelling age, the overall proportions of the dwelling stock classified by type showed little change over time.

- As in 2009, the highest proportion (28%; 32% in 2009) of households lived in terraced housing. Households with children (31%) were most likely to occupy terraced housing.
- Higher than average proportions (33% compared with 21% overall) of older households lived in single storey houses.
- Households with children were most likely to live in detached houses (24% compared with 20% overall).
- Adult households (12%) were most likely to live in flats/apartments (8% overall). Households with children (4%) were the least likely household type to live in flats/apartments.

Household Type - Location (Table A4.8)

- Almost three-quarters (71%; 70% in 2009) of all households lived in urban areas. There was little variation between household types. Households with children (69%) were least likely to live in urban areas. Similar proportions of older households (73%) and adult households (72%) lived in urban areas.
- A lower than average proportion of households with children (32% compared with 36% overall) lived in the BMA.

- More than one-quarter (29%) of all households lived in rural areas. Households with children (31%) were more likely than other household types to live in rural areas.
- More than one-tenth (13%) of all households lived in isolated rural areas. There was little variation among household types. Older households (14%) were slightly more likely than the other household types to live in isolated rural areas.

4.3 Social and Economic Profile of Northern Ireland Households

The key socio-economic characteristics examined are:

- The employment status of the household reference person;
- Household income; and
- Household religion.

Employment Status of the Household Reference Person

Three key employment groups were identifiedthose where: the household reference person was working; the household reference person was not working; and the household reference person was retired. In previous House Condition Surveys there were nine groups but in 2011 these were combined due to the smaller sample size. An explanation of each group is below:

- Working self-employed, working full-time, working part-time
- Not working not working but seeking work, not working and not seeking work, permanently sick or disabled, looking after family/home, other (including student)
- Retired

Key findings:

• More than half (54%) of all household reference persons were working, while almost one-fifth (19%) of were not working.

• More than one-quarter (27%) of household reference persons were retired.

Table 4.4: Comparisons of Employment Groups, 2006 – 2011

	Household Reference Persons (%)						
Employment category	2011 HCS	2009 HCS	2006 HCS				
Working	54	50	51				
Not working	19	22	21				
Retired	27	27	29				
Total	100	100	100				

Tenure, dwelling age, dwelling type and location were analysed by the employment status of household reference persons.

Employment Status of Household Reference Person -Tenure (Table A4.9)

Unemployment was highest among household reference persons living in social housing and lowest in the owner occupied sector:

- A high proportion of household reference persons who lived in the owner occupied sector (62%) were working.
- Overall, 16 per cent of households lived in social housing. A higher than average proportion of unemployed household reference persons lived in social housing (37%).
- Almost one-fifth (18%) of households lived in private rented accommodation. A higher than average proportion (33%) of household reference persons who were not working lived in this type of accommodation. Retired household reference persons (8%) were least likely to rent privately.
- Figure 4.3 shows employment groups within tenure and changes since 2009.

Figure 4.3: Employment Status of HRP and Tenure, 2009-2011



Employment Status of Household Reference Person -Dwelling Age (Table A4.10)

Generally, findings were consistent with 2009:

- Overall, ten per cent of all dwellings were built before 1919 (13% in 2009). Household reference persons who were not working (7%) were least likely to live in dwellings that were built before 1919.
- Household reference persons who were working (49%; 41% overall) were most likely to live in post 1980 homes. Similar proportions of household reference persons who were not working (33%; 31% in 2009) or retired (31%; 28% in 2009) lived in post 1980 homes.

Employment Status of Household Reference Person -Dwelling Type (Table A4.11)

There was some variation in dwelling type by employment group:

- A higher than average proportion of household reference persons who were not working (37%; 28% overall) lived in terraced houses.
- Retired household reference persons (29%) were most likely to live in single storey houses (compared with 21% overall).

• A higher than average proportion of household reference persons who were working (26%; 20% overall) lived in detached houses. Household reference persons who were not working (8%) were least likely to live in detached houses.

Employment Status of Household Reference Person -Location (Table A4.12)

- Almost three-quarters (71%) of household reference persons lived in urban areas.
 Proportions of employment groups living in urban areas ranged from 69 per cent of household reference persons who were working to 76 per cent of retired household reference persons.
- A slightly higher than average proportion of household reference persons who were working (31%; 29% overall) lived in rural areas. Retired household reference persons (25%) were least likely to live in rural areas.
- Proportions of household reference persons who were working (14%) or retired (13%) and living in isolated rural areas were similar to the overall average (13%). Household reference persons who were not working (9%) were least likely to live in isolated rural areas.

Annual Household Income

The HCS defines household income as the total annual income before tax for the respondent and partner (if applicable). This was to include all income from savings, employment, benefits, or other sources. Income was recorded in bands and these have been grouped together for ease when reporting.

Key findings:

 Overall, 17 per cent of all households had an annual income of less than £10,000 (compared with 25% in 2009). Analysis of this group showed that almost half (48%) lived in owner occupied homes, almost one-third (31%) had a household reference person aged between 40 and 59 and more than two-fifths (41%) were adult households.

- More than one-quarter (29%; 24% in 2009) of households had an annual income of £10,000 to £14,999.
- The same proportion of households had incomes of between £15,000 and £19,999 and between £20,000 and £29,999 (both 15%). Almost onequarter (24%) of households had incomes of £30,000 or more.

The following table shows changes by income band 2006 to 2011 and compares 2011 results with the 2009/10 Family Resources Survey (FRS) and the 2011/12 Northern Ireland Continuous Household Survey (CHS)¹⁰.

Table 4.5: Comparison of Annual Income Bands HCS, FRS (2009-10) and CHS (2011-12)

Income Band	HCS 2011 (%)	HCS 2009 (%)	CHS 2011- 12 (%)	FRS 2009- 10 (%)	HCS 2006 (%)
Less than £10,000	17	25	22	16	30
£10,000 - £14,999	29	24	18	17	23
£15,000 - £19,999	15	12	12	16	13
£20,000 - £29,999	15	16	17	17	14
£30,000 or more	24	23	31	34	20
Total	100	100	100	100	100

Tenure, dwelling age, dwelling type and location were analysed by annual household income.

Annual Household Income - Tenure (Table A4.13)

Overall patterns were consistent with 2009. The private rented sector continued to show an increase in lower income households which is consistent with the employment status changes.

• Figure 4.4 clearly shows that as household income increased so did the likelihood of owner occupation; 48 per cent of household reference persons with an annual income of less than
£10,000 were owner occupiers, compared to 91 per cent of household reference persons who earned £30,000 or more.





- Generally, proportions of households in private rented accommodation decreased as annual income increased. Consistent with earlier findings on employment changes, figure 4.4 shows that since 2009, there has been an increase in the lowest income households within the private rental sector.
- Similarly, proportions of social renting decreased as annual income increased. More than onequarter (28%) of households earning less than £10,000 per annum lived in social housing. A very small proportion (2%) of households with an annual income of £30,000 or more per annum lived in social housing.
- Almost one-third (30%) of social housing households had an annual income of less than £10,000, compared to 23 per cent of private rental households and 12 per cent of owner occupier households.

Annual Household Income - Dwelling Age (Table A4.14)

As in 2009, higher income households were more likely to live in the newest dwellings.

- Approximately one-quarter (26%) of households with an annual income of less than £10,000 lived in dwellings built post 1980 compared to 67 per cent of households with an annual income of £30,000 or more.
- More than one-quarter (29%) of all pre 1919 dwellings were lived in by households with annual incomes of less than £10,000, and 17 per cent were lived in by households with an annual income of £30,000 or more.

Annual Household Income - Dwelling Type (Table A4.15)

Overall, patterns have remained consistent since 2009 and show links with tenure.

- Generally, higher income groups were more likely to live in detached (42%; £30,000 or more per annum) or semi detached (26%; £30,000 or more per annum) housing.
- The highest proportion of households earning less than £10,000 per annum (31%) lived in terraced houses.

Annual Household Income - Location (Table A4.16)

- Almost three-quarters (71%) of households lived in urban areas. The proportions of income groups living in urban areas ranged from 65 per cent of households earning £30,000 or more, to 80 per cent of households earning between £10,000 and £14,999 per annum.
- Households with incomes of between £10,000 and £14,999 (20%) were least likely to live in rural areas, while those with £30,000 or more (35%) were most likely to live in rural areas (compared with 29% overall).

Household Religion

The Survey gathered information on the religious make-up of the household and this is summarised in Figure 4.5. Respondents were asked for the religion of the household.

Figure 4.5: Households by Religion, 2011



Key findings:

- More than half (52%; 48% in 2009) of respondents designated their household religion as Protestant and 38 per cent (40% in 2009) as Catholic.
- A small proportion (10%) of respondents described their household religion as mixed (Protestant & Catholic)/other/none.

Tenure, dwelling age, dwelling type and location were analysed by household religion.

Household Religion - Tenure (Table A4.17)

Overall the tenure pattern by religion was similar to 2009.

- Slightly higher proportions of Protestant (70%; 70% in 2009) compared to Catholic (63%; 64% in 2009) households owned their homes.
- More than one-tenth (13%; 14% in 2009) of Protestant households and one-fifth (20%; 18% in 2009) of Catholic households lived in privately rented accommodation.
- Similar proportions of Protestant households (16%; 16% in 2009) and Catholic households (17%; 18% in 2009) lived in social housing.

Household Religion - Dwelling Age (Table A4.18)

Figure 4.6: Household Religion and Age of Dwelling, 2009 – 2011



- A higher proportion of Catholic households (44%; 38% in 2009) lived in post 1980 stock than Protestant households (38%; 32% in 2009).
- A higher proportion of Catholic households (12%; 13% in 2009) lived in the oldest stock (pre 1919) than Protestant households (9%; 11% in 2009).

Household Religion - Dwelling Type (Table A4.19)

As in 2009, similar proportions of Catholic and Protestant households occupied most dwelling types.

- More than one-quarter (28%) of both Catholic and Protestant households lived in terraced housing.
- One-fifth (20%) of both Protestant and Catholic households lived in detached housing.

Household Religion - Location (Table A4.20)

There were differences between the two main religious groups in location.

- Almost three-quarters (74%) of Protestant households lived in urban areas compared to 66 per cent of Catholic households.
- There was a further small decrease in the proportion of Protestant households living in the BMA (42%; 44% in 2009 and 48% in 2006). As in 2009, a much smaller proportion of Catholic households (27%; 26% in 2009) lived in the BMA.

• Catholic households (34%) were more likely than Protestant households (26%) to live in rural areas.

4.4 Profiles of Household Sub-Groups

The decline of the traditional nuclear family and the rise of single person households have been well documented. Analyses of household trends are important for the planning of future housing requirements.

Table 4.6: Household Sub-Groups, 2006-2011

This next section provides a synoptic analysis of a number of household sub-groups that are of particular importance in understanding the housing market and estimating the need and demand for housing. A list of the sub-groups is provided in Table 4.6. The socio-economic circumstances, for each sub-group, along with key variables such as tenure, age, location and dwelling type are compared with the occupied stock as a whole in tables 4.7 to 4.11. Key changes 2009-2011 follow after the tables.

Sub-Groups		11	2009 2006			06
	%	No	%	No	%	No
Households with children (dependent child(ren) under 16; includes lone parent households)	33	228,620	31	211,900	29	188,300
Older households (one or more people, at least one of whom is of pensionable age: 65+ for men, 60+ for women)	28	198,220	30	203,900	31	201,000
Lone Adult Households (non-pensionable, under 65 for men and under 60 for women)	15	106,700	13	92,300	14	92,900
Households headed by a person who is not working (includes unemployed, permanently sick/disabled, looking after family/home, student)	19	132,400	23	157,200	20	130,200

	% of Households		No of Households		
	in sub group	in whole survey	in sub group	in whole survey	
by Age of Household Referen	nce Person				
17-24	8	4	17,500	25,400	
25-39	48	24	109,600	169,100	
40-59	44	38	99,400	268,500	
60-74	1	23	2,100	159,900	
75 plus	0	11	0	78,400	
by Employment Status of HR	P				
Working	76	54	173,300	378,800	
Not working	23	19	53,000	132,400	
Retired	1	27	2,200	190,000	
by Annual Household Incom	e				
Less than £10,000	11	17	24,800	118,400	
£10,000 - £14,999	23	29	53,200	199,500	
£15,000-£19,999	16	15	35,900	108,000	
£20,000-£29,999	13	15	30,100	106,500	
£30,000 or more	37	24	84,600	168,900	
by Religion					
Protestant	49	52	112,200	365,600	
Catholic	40	38	91,000	268,500	
Mixed/other/none	11	10	25,300	67,200	
by Tenure					
Owner Occupied	62	67	142,800	467,800	
Private Rented	22	18	51,000	122,800	
Social Housing	15	16	34,900	110,600	
by Construction Date					
Pre 1919	6	10	13,600	66,800	
1919-1944	5	8	11,600	56,400	
1945-1964	15	18	33,100	128,800	
1965-1980	23	23	52,600	161,100	
Post 1980	52	41	117,800	288,200	
by Settlement Type					
BMA	32	36	72,000	254,200	
District Town/Other Town	37	35	85,500	246,500	
Small Rural Settlement	19	16	43,500	111,300	
Isolated Rural	12	13	27,700	89,300	
by Dwelling Type					
Bungalow	15	21	33,400	149,800	
Terraced House	31	28	71,000	197,300	
Semi-Detached House	26	22	60,000	156,900	
Detached House	24	20	55,800	140,700	
Flat/Apartment	4	8	8400	56600	

Table 4.7: All Households with Children, 2011

	% of Households		No of Households		
	in sub group	in whole survey	in sub group	in whole survey	
by Household Size					
1	49	29	97,900	204,600	
2	51	31	100,300	216,700	
3	0	15	0	106,100	
4	0	14	0	97,900	
5+	0	11	0	75,900	
by Employment Status of HR	P				
Working	13	54	26,100	378,800	
Not working	7	19	13,100	132,400	
Retired	80	27	159,100	190,000	
by Annual Household Incom	ie				
Less than £10,000	23	17	45,000	118,400	
£10,000 - £14,999	44	29	86,900	199,500	
£15,000-£19,999	15	15	29,900	108,000	
£20,000-£29,999	14	15	27,400	106,500	
£30,000 or more	5	24	9,100	168,900	
by Religion					
Protestant	60	52	119,200	365,600	
Catholic	33	38	65,500	268,500	
Mixed/other/none	7	10	13,500	67,200	
by Tenure					
Owner Occupied	73	67	145,100	467,800	
Private Rented	8	18	14,900	122,800	
Social Housing	19	16	38,300	110,600	
by Construction Date					
Pre 1919	11	10	21,600	66,800	
1919-1944	10	8	19,400	56,400	
1945-1964	23	18	45,900	128,800	
1965-1980	27	23	54,400	161,100	
Post 1980	29	41	56,900	288,200	
by Settlement Type					
BMA	39	36	77,400	254,200	
District Town/Other Town	34	35	68,100	246,500	
Small Rural Settlement	13	16	24,700	111,300	
Isolated Rural	14	13	27,900	89,300	
by Dwelling Type					
Bungalow	33	21	64,400	149,800	
Terraced House	24	28	48,400	197,300	
Semi-Detached House	19	22	38,500	156,900	
Detached House	15	20	30,000	140,700	
Flat/Apartment	9	8	16,800	56,600	

Table 4.8: Older Households, 2011

Table 4.9: Lone Adult Households (under pension age), 2011

	% of Households		No of Households		
	in sub group	in whole survey	in sub group	in whole survey	
by Age of Household Reference Perso	n				
17-24	4	4	4,200	25,400	
25-39	30	24	31,900	169,100	
40-59	56	38	59,700	268,500	
60-74	10	23	11,000	159,900	
by Employment Status of HRP					
Working	52	54	55,700	378,800	
Not working	41	19	44,200	132,400	
Retired	6	27	6,900	190,000	
by Annual Household Income					
Less than £10,000	33	17	34,900	118,400	
£10,000 - £14,999	23	29	24,700	199,500	
£15,000-£19,999	18	15	19,300	108,000	
£20,000-£29,999	14	15	14,600	106,500	
£30,000 or more	12	24	13,300	168,900	
by Religion					
Protestant	47	52	50,200	365,600	
Catholic	43	38	45,500	268,500	
Mixed/other/none	10	10	11,100	67,200	
by Tenure					
Owner Occupied	42	67	44,400	467,800	
Private Rented	35	18	37,100	122,800	
Social Housing	24	16	25,200	110,600	
by Construction Date					
Pre 1919	14	10	15,200	66,800	
1919-1944	10	8	11,000	56,400	
1945-1964	15	18	15,500	128,800	
1965-1980	24	23	25,200	161,100	
Post 1980	37	41	39,800	288,200	
by Settlement Type					
BMA	42	36	44,700	254,200	
District Town/Other Town	37	35	39,700	246,500	
Small Rural Settlement	15	16	16,200	111,300	
Isolated Rural	6	13	6,200	89,300	
by Dwelling Type					
Bungalow	17	21	17,800	149,800	
Terraced House	31	28	32,700	197,300	
Semi-Detached House	20	22	20,900	156,900	
Detached House	8	20	8,300	140,700	
Flat/Apartment	25	8	27,000	56,600	

	% of Households		No of Households	
	in sub group	in whole survey	in sub group	in whole survey
by Age of Household Reference Person	1			
17-24	10	4	13,100	25,400
25-39	27	24	35,300	169,100
40-59	52	38	68,200	268,500
60-74	8	23	11,100	159,900
75 plus	4	11	4,800	78,400
by Key Benefits claimed				
Child Benefit	33	17	44,300	115,400
Disability Benefit	40	14	53,400	98,900
Incapacity Benefit	30	7	39,800	51,800
Housing Benefit	63	19	83,000	133,200
Income Support	41	9	54,800	65,400
Child Tax Credit	23	11	29,800	75,800
by Annual Household Income				
Less than £10,000	39	17	51,900	118,400
£10,000 - £14,999	46	29	60,800	199,500
£15,000-£19,999	11	15	14,000	108,000
£20,000-£29,999	3	15	4,400	106,500
£30,000 or more	1	24	1,300	168,900
by Religion				
Protestant	43	52	56,600	365,600
Catholic	47	38	62,200	268,500
Mixed/other/none	10	10	13,600	67,200
by Tenure				
Owner Occupied	30	67	40,300	467,800
Private Rented	33	18	43,100	122,800
Social Housing	37	16	49,100	110,600
by Construction Date				
Pre 1919	7	10	9,500	66,800
1919-1944	10	8	13,400	56,400
1945-1964	19	18	25,000	128,800
1965-1980	31	23	41,100	161,100
Post 1980	33	41	43,400	288,200
by Settlement Type				
BMA	36	36	47,400	254,200
District Town/Other Town	37	35	48,900	246,500
Small Rural Settlement	18	16	24,100	111,300
Isolated Rural	9	13	12,000	89,300
by Dwelling Type				
Bungalow	21	21	27,900	149,800
Terraced House	37	28	49,300	197,300
Semi-Detached House	19	22	24,600	156,900
Detached House	8	20	10,600	140,700
Flat/Apartment	15	8	20,000	56,600

Table 4.10: HRP not working, 2011

4.5 Summary of Changes in Household Sub-Groups 2009-2011

Overall there was little inter tenure movement among household sub-groups between 2009 and 2011. Changes are summarised below.

Households with children 2011

Between 2009 and 2011 there was a small increase in the proportion of households with children (from 31% to 33%). There was little inter tenure movement among households with children.

Older households 2011

More than one-quarter (28%; 30% in 2009) of households were older households. As in 2009, the majority of older households (73%; 75% in 2009) lived in owner occupied homes.

Lone adult households (under pension age) 2011

The proportion of lone adult households increased slightly between 2009 and 2011 (from 13% to 15%). There was a small decrease in the proportion of lone adult households living in owner occupied homes (42%; 45% in 2009) and a small increase in the proportion of lone adult households living in private rented accommodation (35%; 32% in 2009).

Households with HRP not working 2011

The proportion of households where the HRP was not working decreased between 2009 and 2011 (from 23% to 19%). There was some inter tenure movement with the proportion living in owner occupied homes decreasing from 37 per cent in 2009 to 30 per cent in 2011. The proportion living in social housing increased from 33 per cent to 37 per cent.

4.6 Summary and Conclusion

The household data from the 2011 HCS confirmed a number of important housing trends including:

• The increase in private renting (from 12% to 18%) and decrease in owner occupation (from 71% to 66%) which was apparent between 2006 and 2009 levelled off in 2011, when two-thirds (67%) of households lived in owner occupied homes and almost one-fifth (18%) of households lived in privately rented accommodation.

- Only three per cent of households lived in homes which were overcrowded.
- The proportion of households living in social housing in 2011 was the same as in 2009. Older households and households with children were most likely to live in social housing.
- Protestant households were slightly more likely than Catholic households to own their own homes. There was no difference in the proportions of Protestant and Catholic households living in terraced or detached housing. Differences between the two main religions can be seen when looking at location.
 Protestant households were more likely to live in urban areas, while there was a higher proportion of Catholics living in rural areas.
- As in previous years the House Condition Survey showed links between income and tenure, dwelling type and dwelling age. Higher income households were more likely to own their own homes, live in detached houses and live in newer dwellings.



	20	06	2009		2011	
Location						
All Urban	12,800	53.1%	8,000	46.0%	14,100	40.0%
All Rural	11,400	46.9%	9,500	54.0%	21,100	60.0%
Tenure						
Owner Occupied	7,500	31.0%	4,400	25.0%	*	13.0%
Private Rented & others	2,200	8.9%	2,700	15.5%	*	7.1%
Social Housing	600	2.5%	100	0.6%	*	0.4%
Vacant	13,900	57.6%	10,300	58.9%	28,000	79.5%
Dwelling Age						
Pre 1919	15,000	62.3%	8,500	48.4%	18,500	52.5%
1919 - 1944	3,800	15.5%	3,200	18.1%	*	16.7%
1945 - 1964	2,500	10.1%	1,400	7.8%	*	5.0%
1965 - 1980	900	3.9%	1,600	9.5%	*	11.2%
Post 1980	2,000	8.2%	2,800	16.1%	*	14.6%
All Unfit Dwellings	24,200	3.4%	17,500	2.4%	35,200	4.6%

Table 5.1: Unfitness - Key Figures, 2006 – 2011

Table 5.2: The State of Repair – Key Figures, 2011

	Dwellings i	n Disrepair	Average Urgent Mean Repair Cost (£)
Tenure			
Owner Occupied	209,300	44.6%	510
Private Rented and Others	65,800	52.5%	551
Social Housing	58,400	52.7%	192
Vacant	41,100	75.0%	20,190
Dwelling Age			
Pre 1919	63,100	72.0%	10,305
1919 - 1944	50,600	74.3%	2,998
1945 - 1964	72,100	53.8%	461
1965 - 1980	98,200	57.9%	449
Post 1980	90,700	30.1%	629
Dwelling Type			
Bungalow	79,500	49.7%	1,696
Terraced House	115,800	55.2%	640
Semi-Detached House	84,300	51.0%	756
Detached House	66,900	42.2%	5,377
Flat	28,200	42.4%	779
Location			
Belfast Metropolitan Area	140,500	52.3%	986
District/Other Town	111,100	42.6%	763
All Urban	251,600	47.5%	876
Small Rural Settlement	63,300	51.8%	1,102
Isolated Rural	59,800	55.2%	7,723
All Rural	123,000	53.4%	4,215
All Dwellings in Disrepair	374,600	49.3%	1,888

chapter five

unfitness and the state of repair

5.1 Unfitness - Introduction

House Condition Surveys have assessed dwelling conditions against the Statutory Fitness Standard since 1974, providing a robust assessment of the level of unfitness in Northern Ireland and demonstrating the substantial progress made in improving housing conditions. For the first time however, the 2011 House Condition Survey showed an increase in the number of unfit dwellings in Northern Ireland, reflecting a combination of factors including lower disposable household income, the higher rate of vacancy (particularly in the private sector), and the reduced availability of home improvement grants. The relative importance of the Fitness Standard has declined with the introduction of new government measures such as the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, which replaced the Fitness Standard in the English House Condition Survey (now the English Housing Survey) in 2007, and the 'Decent Homes' standard. However, the assessment of the fitness of dwellings remains an important component of the House Condition Survey in Northern Ireland.

The Fitness Standard

The current Fitness Standard is set out in Schedule 5 of the Housing (Northern Ireland) Order 1992. This schedule states that a dwelling is unfit for human habitation if it fails to meet one or more of the following requirements:

- It is structurally stable.
- It is free from serious disrepair.
- It is free from dampness prejudicial to the health of the occupants (if any).
- It has adequate provision for heating, lighting and ventilation.
- It has an adequate supply of wholesome water.
- There are satisfactory facilities in the house for the preparation and cooking of food, including a sink with a satisfactory supply of hot and cold water.
- It has a suitably located water closet for the exclusive use of the occupants (if any).

House Condition Surveys have assessed dwelling conditions against the Statutory Fitness Standard since 1974, providing a robust assessment of the level of unfitness in Northern Ireland.

- It has, for the exclusive use of the occupants (if any), a suitably located fixed bath or shower and wash-hand basin, each of which is provided with a satisfactory supply of hot and cold water.
- It has an effective system for the draining of foul, waste and surface water.

In addition, flats may be classified as unfit if the building or part of the building outside of the flat fails to meet any of the following requirements and by reason of that failure is not suitable for occupation:

The building or part is structurally unstable.

- It is free from serious disrepair.
- It is free from dampness.
- It has adequate provision for ventilation.
- It has an effective system for the draining of foul, surface and waste water.

5.2 Profile of Unfitness

The 2011 House Condition Survey estimated that there were some 35,200 dwellings that were statutorily unfit in Northern Ireland. This represents a headline rate of 4.6 per cent (see Table 5.1). This compares with 17,500 unfit dwellings (2.4%) in 2009, 24,200 unfit dwellings (3.4%) in 2006 and 31,600 unfit dwellings (4.9%) in 2001.

Unfitness – Dwelling Location

Urban/Rural (Table A5.1)

As in 2009, higher than average rates of unfitness were seen in rural areas of Northern Ireland (associated with higher rural vacancy rates) and particularly in isolated rural areas, explained at least in part by the depopulation of the more remote parts of Northern Ireland.

Analysis of table 5.1 (and Table A5.1) shows the following:

There was an increase in the rate of unfitness in rural areas (from 4% in 2009 to 9% in 2011) although only 30 per cent of dwellings overall were located in rural areas. In isolated rural areas the unfitness rate increased from five per cent in 2009 to 14 per cent in 2011 (although only 14% of dwellings were located in isolated rural areas). There was little change in the rate of unfitness in urban areas (2% in 2009; 3% in 2011).

Most unfit dwellings were also located in rural areas. Three-fifths (60%; 54% in 2009) of all unfit dwellings were in rural areas while two-fifths (40%; 46% in 2009) of all unfit dwellings were in urban areas.

Unfitness – Dwelling Tenure (Table A5.2)

The rate of unfitness for most tenures was very small. The exception was vacant dwellings which had a clear association with unfitness. Vacant dwellings had an unfitness rate of 51.2 per cent. This was a substantial increase from 2009 when almost onequarter (23.8%) of vacant dwellings were unfit. The increase was largely due to an increase in the number of properties described as – vacant 'being modernised'.

The growth in the proportion of unfit dwellings that were vacant was already apparent in previous House Condition Surveys (59% in 2009; 58% in 2006 and 44% in 2001) and had become more pronounced in 2011 when the majority (80%) of all unfit dwellings were vacant.

Unfitness – Dwelling Age (Table A5.3)

There was a clear relationship between unfitness and dwelling age. Pre 1919 dwellings had a much higher than average rate of unfitness (21.1% compared with 4.6% overall). There was a considerable increase in the unfitness rate for pre 1919 dwellings between 2009 and 2011 (from 8% to 21.1%).

More than half (53%; 48% in 2009) of all unfit dwellings were built before 1919.

Unfitness – Dwelling Type (Table A5.4)

Analysis by dwelling type showed that, as in 2009, detached houses had the highest rate of unfitness (8.6% compared with 4.6% overall).

More than one-third (39%; 31% in 2009) of all unfit dwellings were detached houses.

Unfitness – Household Characteristics (Tables A5.5 – A5.9)

The rate of unfitness for the occupied stock was 0.9 per cent (compared with 1.0% in 2009). The overall number of unfit dwellings in the occupied stock was not big enough to enable analysis by household characteristics (see Tables A5.5 – A5.9).

5.3 The Scale of Unfitness

The assessment

The 2011 House Condition Survey estimated that a total of some 35,200 dwellings were unfit. In order to be classified as unfit, a dwelling must fail on one or more of the 11 individual criteria set out in the nine point Fitness Standard. Dwellings in need of some repair work may or may not be classified as unfit. In each case the surveyor, using his or her professional expertise, assessed the nature of any faults together with their severity and extent or scale. The risks associated with these faults were also assessed to determine whether or not a particular dwelling should be classified as unfit for human habitation. An important element of the House Condition Survey training programme was to maximise the consistency of surveyors' judgements.

The Causes of Unfitness

The three most common reasons for a property being classified as unfit in 2011 were:

- Unsatisfactory facilities for the preparation and cooking of food (26,300 dwellings).
- No, or unsuitably located, bath, shower or wash hand basin (24,600 dwellings).
- Serious disrepair (22,200 dwellings).

This was a slight change from 2009 when the three most common reasons for a property being classified as unfit were: unsatisfactory facilities for the preparation and cooking of food, serious disrepair, and dampness.

5.4 Future action

During the course of their survey of each property the surveyors were asked not only to assess whether the property was unfit, but if so what was the most appropriate course of action in respect of that property. Recommended actions were divided into those suitable for dwellings where the surveyor recommended retention (79%) and those recommended for demolition (21%). This was similar to 2009 when surveyors recommended that 78 per cent of unfit properties be retained and 23 per cent be demolished. In 2011, of the unfit dwellings to be retained the vast majority (76%) were recommended for repair or improvement on a single unit basis (61% of all unfit dwellings). For a further 5,500 (20% of unfit dwellings to be retained) the survey indicated that the best course of action was area-based repair or improvement (16% of all unfit dwellings).

Table 5.3 shows how this contrasts with the recommendations for the dwelling stock as a whole, where for 91 per cent there was no action recommended.

Recommended actions for unfit dwellings varied considerably by tenure which in turn reflected the rate of unfitness in each of the five tenures.

- For vacant stock (80% of all unfit dwellings) surveyors recommended demolition for 22 per cent and repair or improvement for the remainder.
- In the owner occupied stock, repair or improvement was recommended for 65 per cent of unfit dwellings.
- In the occupied private rented sector, demolition was recommended for 31 per cent of unfit dwellings; repair or improvement was recommended for the remaining 69 per cent.

	Unfit Dwellings	All Dwellings
None	1,000 (3%)	690,800 (91%)
Repair/Improve Single Dwelling	21,300 (61%)	56,100 (7%)
Repair/Improve Block/Group of Dwellings	5,500 (16%)	5,800 (<1%)
Demolish/Replace Single Dwelling	6,800 (19%)	6,800 (<1%)
Demolish/Replace Block/Group of Dwellings	500 (2%)	500 (<1%)
Total	35,200 (100%)	760,000 (100%)

Table 5.3: Recommended Future Action for Unfit Dwellings, 2011

5.5 Summary and Conclusion

Between 2009 and 2011 there was an increase in the rate of unfitness of Northern Ireland's housing stock. The headline unfitness rate increased from 2.4 per cent in 2009 to 4.6 per cent in 2011. This was associated with an increase in the rate of vacancy, particularly in isolated rural areas. In 2011 there were 35,200 dwellings that were statutorily unfit (compared with 17,500 dwellings in 2009). The most common reasons for unfitness were unsatisfactory facilities for the preparation and cooking of food; no, or unsuitably located, bath, shower and wash hand basin; and serious disrepair.

5.6 State of Repair – Introduction

Assessing the state of the dwelling stock and the associated repair costs have been key elements in the Northern Ireland House Condition Surveys since 1974.

The method of assessing and modelling repair costs has been refined and has become more complex in more recent surveys, but the basic approach to disrepair has remained essentially the same:

- Surveyors were trained to observe and record the presence of defects.
- The extent of the defects was recorded on the survey form.

- Particular treatments were specified by the surveyor and recorded.
- The cost of the required work was then estimated.

For the 2011 survey, the estimation of the repair costs was, once again, carried out by the Building Research Establishment using its most up to date computer-based model. These repair costs provided a sound estimate of the aggregate cost of the remedial work required. The costs were those required to bring the dwelling into good repair using a high standard of professional workmanship and good quality materials and components. The scale of the treatment as determined by the surveyor is the most critical factor in assessing repair costs. In order to negate the influence of dwelling size on repair costs, the model also produced standardised costings based on £ per m².

This model was exactly the same as that used for the most recent English Housing Survey, thus permitting direct comparisons with England (see Appendix C).

For the 2011 survey, repairs were classified into urgent repairs, basic repairs and comprehensive repairs:

Urgent repairs - work which needs to be undertaken to prevent further significant deterioration to the external fabric of the dwelling in the short term.

Basic Repairs - urgent repairs to the exterior fabric plus additional visible work required to be carried out to the internal and external fabric of the dwelling in the medium term.

Comprehensive Repairs - basic repairs plus any replacements the surveyor has assessed as being needed in the next 10 years.

The state of repair of a dwelling is also a key element of the "Decent Homes" Standard. In order for a dwelling to be considered "decent" it must be in "a reasonable state of repair". Chapter 6 looks at the Decent Homes Standard (including the state of repair) in more detail.

5.7 Dwelling Faults

Surveyors observed and recorded faults in more than half (385,400; 51%) of all dwellings (52% in 2009).

Dwelling Faults – Element (Table A5.10)

Dwellings were much more likely to have faults in their exterior fabric (321,200; 42%) than their interior fabric (168,600; 22%). In 2009, the proportion of dwellings with faults to their exterior fabric (44%) was also considerably higher than those with faults to their interior fabric (24%).

However, between 1996 and 2011 the proportion of the total stock affected by disrepair fell considerably: by 22 percentage points for all disrepair, 15 percentage points for external disrepair and 17 percentage points for internal disrepair.

Further analysis of faults to exterior elements shows:

- Faults to roof elements were the most common type recorded (193,600; 26%), affecting, in particular, roof features such as fascias, rainwater gutters and down pipes and valley gutters (153,600; 20%).
- Faults to boundaries and plots were recorded in less than one-fifth of dwellings (128,900; 17%).
- Faults to windows and doors were recorded in approximately one-sixth of dwellings (119,500; 16%).
- Almost one-sixth of dwellings, (112,200; 15%) had faults in their wall elements, with the most common faults affecting the wall surface (pointing or rendering).
- Structural faults to roofs and walls were relatively rare, being found in less than two per cent of properties in both cases.
- In the case of interior disrepair, faults were most commonly recorded to ceilings (84,100; 11%) and walls (72,600; 10%). Similar proportions had faults to windows (50,100; 7%), doors (46,800; 6%) and floors (43,500; 6%). A smaller proportion had faults to stairs (30,500; 4%).

Surveyors also had to record their estimate of the urgency of the treatment required for any faulty exterior elements. Figure 5.1 illustrates the relationship between the existence of external faults and the required urgency of repair to those elements. The overall pattern was not dissimilar to that for all disrepair, with urgent repairs required to 49 per cent of all faults to external dwelling elements. However, where faults to the damp proof course or wall structure were recorded the figures were higher (77% and 76% respectively). Overall, almost 159,000 dwellings (21%) had faults which required urgent attention.





Disrepair – Dwelling Tenure (Table A5.11)

As with unfitness, there was a clear association between vacancy and disrepair. Three-quarters (75%; 64% in 2009) of vacant dwellings had faults. The likelihood of disrepair (external or internal) was clearly associated with the length of time a dwelling had been vacant. More than three-fifths (63%) of all dwellings that had been vacant for less than one year had at least one fault, whereas for dwellings vacant for more than one year the figure rose to 83 per cent. In the case of urgent faults the difference was even greater; 35 per cent of dwellings vacant for less than one year required at least one urgent repair compared with 68 per cent for dwellings vacant for more than one year. Faults were recorded in the same proportion of privately rented dwellings and occupied social dwellings (both 53%). Almost half (45%) of owner-occupied dwellings had faults.

In terms of internal disrepair, there is a similar pattern to that for all disrepair. Vacant properties had the highest proportion of internal disrepair (59%). Similar proportions of social dwellings (26%) and private rented dwellings (23%) had internal disrepair. Internal disrepair was recorded in almost one-fifth (17%) of owner occupied dwellings.

A broadly similar pattern emerged for external repairs with almost three-quarters (71%) of all vacant properties requiring external repairs. More than two-fifths of both private rented (46%) and social dwellings (41%) required external repairs. External disrepair was recorded in almost two-fifths (38%) of owner-occupied dwellings.



Figure 5.2: Disrepair and Dwelling Tenure, 2011

Disrepair – Dwelling Age (Table A5.12)

There is a clear relationship between dwelling age and disrepair: older dwellings were more likely to have a fault in the internal or external fabric or in amenities and services. (See Figure 5.3)



Figure 5.3: Disrepair and Dwelling Age, 2011

Dwellings built before 1919 (72%) and those built between 1919 and 1944 (74%) were most likely to have fabric disrepair. Dwellings built since 1980 (30%) were least likely to have fabric disrepair.

Pre 1919 dwellings (48%) and those built between 1919 and 1944 (42%) had the highest proportion of internal disrepair. Post 1980 dwellings (12%) had the lowest internal disrepair.

The pattern was similar for external disrepair, with proportions being higher for pre 1919 properties (67%) and those built between 1919 and 1944 (66%). External disrepair was lowest in dwellings built since 1980 (23%).

Disrepair – Dwelling Type (Table A5.13)

The proportion of fabric disrepair varied from 42 per cent for flats/apartments and detached houses, to 55 per cent for terraced houses. Terraced houses also had the highest level of external disrepair (47%) and internal disrepair (26%).

Disrepair – Dwelling Location (Table A5.14)

The level of rural disrepair (53%) remained similar to 2009 (52%). However, there was a decrease in the level of disrepair in urban areas (48%; 52% in 2009).

Interior disrepair was higher in the BMA (26%) than in district towns/other towns (16%). It was also higher in isolated rural areas (30%) than in small rural settlements (20%). More than half (51%) of the dwellings in isolated rural areas had external disrepair. Dwellings in district towns/other towns had the lowest level of external disrepair (37%).

5.8 Repair Costs

Urgent, Basic and Comprehensive Repair Costs

The BRE model provided a sound estimate of the actual costs¹¹ of any remedial work specified by the surveyors. Repair costs have increased since 2009, largely associated with the increase in vacant dwellings. The key figures from this model were as follows:

The average cost per dwelling of urgent repairs for the housing stock as a whole in 2011 was £1,887.59. This equated to £19.62 per m² (The comparable figures for 2009 were £756.34 and £8.57per m²).

The average basic repair cost was £2,122.83 which was equivalent to £22.10 per m². (The comparable figures for 2009 were £938.37 and £10.55 per m²).

The average cost for comprehensive repairs was £3,628 or £42.17 per m². (The comparable figures for 2009 were £3,099 and £42 per m²).

Total Repair Costs

The model estimates, therefore, that the resources required to remedy the urgent repairs required to Northern Ireland's dwelling stock as a whole would cost approximately £1.4 billion; for basic repairs the figure was £1.6 billion and for comprehensive repairs over a 10 year period, £2.8 billion.

In nominal terms the total resources required to remedy urgent and basic disrepair has increased by £875 million and £919 million respectively.

The estimated repair costs continue to indicate that substantial resources are required on an ongoing basis to ensure that Northern Ireland's dwelling stock does not deteriorate.

Distribution of Repair Costs

Closer analysis of the modelled figures shows that a relatively small proportion of dwellings in a very poor state of repair skewed the distribution of repair costs (see Table 5.4).

Actual repair required costing at least (£)						
% of Dwelling Stock	Urgent	Basic				
1	48,483	56,681				
2	21,763	26,750				
5	4,541	5,480				
10	1,592	2,475				
25	363	718				
50	0	0				
Mean (£)	1,888	2,123				
Median (£)	0	0				
Mean per m ² (£)	19.62	22.10				
Median per m ² (£)	0	0				

Table 5.4: The Distribution of Repair Costs, 2011

This is reflected in the considerable disparities between the means and medians for both urgent and basic repairs. It is also reflected in the fact that in the case of urgent repairs only one per cent of dwellings required repairs costing more than approximately £48,000, only five per cent required costs of more than approximately £4,500, and at least 50 per cent required no urgent repairs at all.

A similar pattern existed for basic repairs. Half of the stock required no repairs at all, and only five per cent required repairs costing more than approximately £5,000.

Repair Costs – Tenure (Table A5.15)

There was a clear association between estimated repair costs and tenure. The average urgent repair cost for vacant dwellings was much higher than for any occupied tenure. At £20,190 it was approximately 43 times higher than for the occupied stock as a whole (£467).

A similar concentration was apparent for basic repair costs, where the figure for vacant stock was £21,052 compared to only £654 for occupied dwellings. Indeed, more than three-quarters (77 per cent) of the total urgent repair costs for all stock and almost three-quarters (71%) of the total basic repair costs was needed for the seven per cent of the housing stock that was vacant.

The length of time that a dwelling had been vacant was an important factor in determining the cost required to remedy the repairs (see Figure 5.4). For example, the average basic repair cost increased from £2,903 for dwellings that had been vacant for less than six months to £42,611 for those that had been vacant for three or more years, almost a fifteen fold increase.

Figure 5.4: Basic Repair Costs of Vacant Dwellings and Period of Vacancy, 2011



The private rented sector had the next highest average urgent repair cost (£551) and average basic repair cost (£739). In all, almost £93m was required to remedy basic repair costs in this sector.

Owner-occupied dwellings required an average of £510 for urgent and £712 for basic repairs. This amounted to a total bill of almost £334m (21 per cent of the total) for basic repairs.

The average repair costs for social housing were much lower at £192 for urgent and £314 for basic (a total basic repairs bill of £34.8 million).

Repair Costs – Dwelling Age (see Table A5.16)

Figure 5.5 shows that there was a clear positive relationship between dwelling age and the cost of disrepair. The pre-1919 stock had by far the highest average basic and urgent repair costs (£10,996 and £10,305 respectively). The lowest repair costs were found in dwellings built between 1965 and 1980 (£449 for urgent repair costs and £615 for basic

repair costs). Dwellings built since 1980 had higher repair costs (£629 for urgent repair costs and £702 for basic repair costs) but this age group included houses in which major work was ongoing.

Figure 5.5: Repair Costs and Dwelling Age, 2011



Repair costs – Dwelling Type (Table A5.17)

There were some considerable differences in the average repair costs for different dwelling types. In the case of basic repair costs, these ranged from £5,611 for detached dwellings to £852 for terraced houses. However, this difference was partly a function of the different sizes of these dwelling types. Using the standardised cost, the picture is somewhat different. In this case, costs per m² were proportionately much closer for terraced houses (£14), semi-detached houses (£12) and flats (£13). Detached houses (£41) and single storey houses (£28) had higher than average costs per m².

The figures for urgent repairs show a similar picture, with the average cost per dwelling being highest for detached houses (\pounds 5,377), and lowest for terraced houses (\pounds 640). There was a substantial increase in cost per m² for detached houses (from \pounds 12 in 2009 to \pounds 40 in 2011).

Repair Costs – Dwelling Location (Table A5.18)

There was a major difference in the average repair costs for urban and rural dwellings. Rural dwellings had an average basic repair cost of $\pounds4,472$ compared with a cost of $\pounds1,100$ for urban dwellings. This was also the case when costing basic repair per square metre: £47 for rural dwellings £11 for urban dwellings. A similar picture emerged for urgent repair costs: £4,215 for rural and £876 for urban dwellings.

In the case of isolated rural dwellings, the average basic repair cost was \pounds 8,077 (\pounds 81 per m²) compared with \pounds 1,275 (\pounds 17 per m²) for small rural settlements. The much higher vacancy rate in isolated rural areas (see Chapter 3) was an important factor in this difference.

Repair Costs – Household Characteristics (Table A5.19)

There were considerable variations in the repair costs required to the dwellings occupied by households with different characteristics.

Age of Household Reference Person

Dwellings occupied by an older Household Reference Person (and particularly one aged at least 75) had a much higher average repair cost than the comparable figure for the occupied stock as a whole. For example, for dwellings with a household reference person aged at least 75, the basic repair cost was £1,189 compared to the average of £644.

Figure 5.6: Repair Costs and Age of Household Reference Person, 2011



Household Type

Older households lived in homes with the highest basic repair costs (£805). The next highest basic repair costs were for homes occupied by adult households (£673). Households with children lived in homes with the lowest basic repair costs (£467).

Employment Status

Retired households were most likely to live in homes with higher basic repair costs (\pounds 739). However, the cost per square metre was higher for households where the HRP was not working (\pounds 9 per m² compared to \pounds 8 per m² for retired households).

Annual Income

Households with the lowest incomes tended to live in dwellings with the highest basic repair costs. Those with an income below £10,000 per year had basic repair costs of £980 compared to £517 for households with an income of £30,000 or more. Analysis of the costs per m² showed a similar pattern, with those for households having an income below £10,000 (£11) being almost three times that for those with an income of £30,000 or more (£4).

Figure 5.7: Repair Costs and Annual Income, 2011



Household Religion

Protestant households lived in dwellings with an average basic repair cost of £645 compared to Catholic households where the comparable figure was £657. (See Chapter 4).

5.9 Repairs and Improvements

As part of the household survey, respondents were asked about repairs and improvements carried out to their dwellings during the previous five years. This provided a valuable insight into the resources committed to the existing dwelling stock by occupiers and landlords, although it is most likely an underestimate, not only because respondents sometimes forget, but also because with a recent change of occupancy, the full five-year repair/ improvement history of the dwelling will not be known.

Overall, some 286,000 dwellings had some form of repair or improvement work carried out in the five years prior to 2011. This represented more than two-fifths (41%) of the total occupied stock. In 2009 the House Condition Survey found that 319,000 dwellings had been repaired or improved during the previous five years. This represented almost half (46%) of the stock at that time. This lower In the private rented sector, the figures were much lower. Only 21 per cent of privately rented dwellings had been repaired or improved, possibly reflecting a lack of investment incentives for private landlords. The high turnover of occupants in privately rented dwellings, however, also resulted in limited knowledge among interviewees of the extent of repair within the previous five years, hence the high proportion of "don't know" responses in Table 5.5.

The proportion of dwellings with repair or improvement work carried out in the five year period to 2011 also varied by age. The highest proportions, however, were for dwellings built between 1981 and 1990 (52%), 1965 and 1980 (52%), not - as might be assumed - for dwellings built prior to 1919 (38%).

Table 5.6 shows that the most common repair/ improvement work carried out over the five year period to 2006 was providing/refitting a kitchen (118,300 dwellings; 16% of the stock), providing/

Tenure	Repair/Imp	provement	No V	Vork	Don't	Know	Total O Dwe	ccupied llings
Owner Occupied	205,500	44%	260,400	56%	1900	<1%	467,800	100%
Private Rented	26,000	21%	65,600	53%	31,300	26%	122,800	100%
Social Housing	54,100	49%	47,500	43%	8,900	8%	110,600	100%
Total	285,600	41%	373,500	53%	42,200	6%	701,200	100%

Table 5.5: Repairs and Improvement Work by Tenure, 2011

(All occupied and have had repairs/improvements in last 5 years)

percentage in 2011 undoubtedly reflects, at least in part, the more challenging economic circumstances of many households who have less money to spend on home improvements.

The highest rates of repair and improvement were among social housing (49%) and owner occupied (44%) stock. This reflects the ongoing commitments of the Housing Executive and housing associations to maintain and improve the standard of housing in Northern Ireland and owner occupiers wishing to improve their homes refitting a bathroom (111,000 dwellings; 15% of the stock), installing/replacing central heating (101,000 dwellings; 13% of the stock), For all other work, the number of dwellings affected was much lower.

Repair/Improvement work	Total dwellings	% of total stock
Re-Roofing/Roof Structure	16,900	2.2%
Structural Repairs	8,300	1.1%
Repointing/Rendering	9,000	1.2%
Replacing Windows	71,500	9.4%
Replacing Doors	60,900	8.0%
Inserting/Replacing DPC	3,000	0.4%
Internal Plastering	28,800	3.8%
New Floors	19,800	2.6%
Electrical Wiring	25,700	3.4%
Providing/Refitting Kitchen	118,300	15.6%
Providing/Refitting Bathroom	111,000	14.6%
Installing/Replacing Central Heating	101,000	13.3%
Rearranging Internal Space/Flat Conversion	10,900	1.4%
Roof Insulation	50,100	6.6%
Cavity Wall Insulation	23,300	3.1%
Garage Added	3,600	0.5%
Conservatory Added	5,300	0.7%
Extension	20,500	2.7%
Combining Two or More Rooms	4,300	0.6%
Other Work	31,300	4.1%
Any repairs/improvement to occupied stock	286,000	37.6%
All dwellings	760,000	

Table 5.6: Repairs and Improvement Work, 2011

Figure 5.8 illustrates the cost breakdown of repair and improvements carried out in the 286,000 dwellings that had work carried out in the five year period to 2011.

In more than one-fifth (22%) of dwellings, the work cost more than £10,000, in 19 per cent of dwellings the cost was between £2,001 and £5,000. In 15 per cent of dwellings the cost was between £5,001 and £10,000, while for almost one-third (32%) of dwellings the total cost of work was unknown. For the dwellings where the total cost was known, the majority of respondents (153,000; 78%) stated that they had paid all of the cost themselves and the remainder had contributed some of the expenditure (11%) or none of it (11%). In the case of those households who had contributed to the cost of the work (20,500 households), the most common contribution (28%) was between £1,001 and £2,000.

Figure 5.8: Repair and Improvement Work – Total Cost, 2011



5.10 State of Repair - Summary

There was little change in the state of repair of Northern Ireland's stock between 2009 (52%) and 2011 (51%) in terms of the percentage of dwelling stock with at least one fault. However, the degree of disrepair was significantly higher; the average basic repair cost (which had decreased from £1,476 in 2006 to £938 in 2009) increased to £2,123 in 2011, giving a total repairs bill of £1.6 billion compared with £694 million in 2009.

Disrepair was particularly prevalent in vacant dwellings (75%; 64% in 2009) but it was also higher in the private rented sector and social housing (both 53%) than in the owner occupied sector (45%). There was a clear relationship between the age of the dwelling and disrepair with nearly three-quarters (73%) of all dwellings built before 1945 having faults.

There was also a link between location and disrepair. The level of disrepair was higher in rural areas (53%) than in urban areas (48%). Isolated rural areas in particular had a high level of disrepair (55%), with higher levels of both interior disrepair (30%; 22% overall) and exterior disrepair (51%; 42% overall) than any other location.

	Non-Decency Rate				
	2001	2006	2009	2011	
	%	%	%	%	
Tenure					
Owner Occupied	23.4	20.4	12.6	8.2	
Private Rented and Others	47.3	26.5	17.0	10.2	
Housing Executive	49.5	24.7			
Housing Association	7.4	8.9	14.7	3.7	
Vacant	70.7	49.5	38.0	57.1	
Dwelling Age					
Pre 1919	50.1	41.1	32.4	35.3	
1919 - 1944	45.0	30.3	27.6	29.4	
1945 - 1964	41.2	28.6	19.9	8.5	
1965 - 1980	38.6	21.3	11.9	9.9	
Post 1980	1.1	8.3	3.7	2.4	
Dwelling Type					
Bungalow	26.8	21.6	13.0	12.6	
Terraced House	43.0	24.3	16.5	11.3	
Semi-Detached House	25.7	20.7	13.8	6.8	
Detached House	24.7	21.0	12.0	14.1	
Flat/Apartment	34.0	32.0	25.9	13.8	
Dwelling Location					
All Urban	32.3	22.0	14.5	8.5	
All Rural	30.6	25.3	16.4	18.0	
All Dwellings	31.8	23.0	15.1	11.4	

	Homes in Fuel Poverty							
	2001		20	06	20	09	20	11
	No	%	No	%	No	%	No	%
Tenure								
Owner Occupied	97,900	22.8	148,000	31.8	178,000	38.9	190,000	40.6
Private Rented and Others	21,400	44.0	35,300	44.1	67,800	54.9	60,300	49.1
Housing Executive	46,100	40.1	37,800	40.8	56,500	51.4	43,900	39.7
Housing Association	1,700	9.9	4,500	21.1				
Dwelling Age								
Pre 1919	43,700	44.0	51,800	54.4	55,400	63.4	45,900	68.7
1919 - 1944	25,700	40.2	27,600	41.4	42,600	58.9	30,200	53.6
1945 - 1964	37,100	30.2	51,700	38.2	54,000	45.5	63,200	49.1
1965 - 1980	40,400	26.0	52,700	32.2	82,900	47.4	78,100	48.4
Post 1980	20,200	11.9	41,800	21.1	67,400	28.3	76,800	26.7
Dwelling Type								
Bungalow	45,700	30.9	56,800	38.0	83,900	54.6	76,800	51.3
Terraced House	54,100	28.5	76,900	35.8	104,600	47.6	90,600	45.9
Semi-Detached House	29,100	24.2	40,700	30.6	46,700	33.3	62,300	39.7
Detached House	26,900	25.0	36,500	31.9	43,200	33.6	51,200	36.4
Flat/Apartment* small numbers	11,300	24.6	14,700	30.9	23,900	48.4	13,300	23.5
Dwelling Location								
All Urban	103,900	25.0	152,900	32.8	206,700	42.8	206,000	41.2
All Rural	63,200	32.5	72,700	37.7	95,600	45.8	88,200	44.0
All Dwellings in Fuel Poverty	167,100	27.3	225,600	34.2	302,300	43.7	294,200	42.0

Table 6.2: Fuel Poverty – Key Figures, 2001-2011

	Category 1 Hazards						
	20	06	20	2009		2011	
	No	%	No	%	No	%	
Tenure							
Owner Occupied	93,700	20.0	98,700	21.4	34,300	7.3	
Private Rented and Others	15,400	19.1	19,200	15.4	9,300	7.5	
Housing Executive	8,200	8.8					
Housing Association	700	3.1	9,400	8.6	*	2.1	
Vacant	19,100	47.4	17,200	39.5	29,800	54.5	
Dwelling Age							
Pre 1919	47,400	41.6	38,400	36.1	31,700	36.2	
1919 - 1944	20,500	28.9	21,600	27.6	18,600	27.2	
1945 - 1964	27,200	19.2	29,300	23.4	*	4.7	
1965 - 1980	23,000	13.6	32,900	18.1	12,700	7.5	
Post 1980	19,000	9.1	22,300	9.1	*	2.2	
Dwelling Type							
Bungalow	35,400	22.2	33,600	20.7	19,000	11.9	
Terraced House	36,500	16.2	41,400	17.8	12,500	5.9	
Semi-Detached House	28,300	20.0	28,500	19.4	14,700	8.9	
Detached House	30,500	24.9	34,600	24.9	25,400	16.0	
Flat/Apartment	6,400	11.3	6,400	10.7	*	6.4	
Dwelling Location							
BMA	40,900	14.9	52,500	19.5	20,100	7.5	
District/Other Town	40,700	18.6	37,600	15.8	15,200	5.8	
All Urban	81,600	16.5	90,100	17.7	35,300	6.7	
Small Rural Settlement	22,200	20.7	24,100	20.7	10,900	9.0	
Isolated Rural	33,300	31.9	30,200	26.3	29,600	27.3	
All Rural	55,500	26.3	54,300	23.5	40,500	17.6	
All Dwellings	137,100	19.4	144,500	19.5	75,800	10.0	

Table 6.3: HHSRS- Key Figures, 2006-2011

* denotes a small number - use caution when quoting proportion Due to rounding figures may not add to overall totals

chapter six

decent homes, fuel poverty and the housing health and safety rating system

6.1 Decent Homes

Decent Homes - Introduction

Decent Homes was launched in April 2000 when the Government published a Housing Green Paper entitled "Quality and Choice: A Decent Home for All". It was the first comprehensive review of housing for 23 years and committed the Government to ensuring that "all social housing is of a decent standard within 10 years".

In June 2004 The Decent Homes Standard was adopted in Northern Ireland and was introduced to promote measurable improvements to Northern Ireland's housing. At that time it was hoped that social housing would meet this Standard by 2010. However, financial constraints mean that this date has had to be revised. Until 2007, the Standard applicable to Northern Ireland was essentially the same as that in England and followed the definition originally published by the ODPM, now DCLG. However, England introduced a new Decent Homes Standard in 2007 which replaced the unfitness element by the Housing Health & Safety Rating System. Northern Ireland has retained the Fitness Standard as the first component of the Decent Homes Standard.

The Decent Homes Standard applies in England and Wales and a similar measure, the Index of Housing Quality, applies in Scotland.

6.2 The Decent Homes Standard – A Summary

A decent home is one that is wind and weather tight, warm and has modern facilities. A decent home meets the following four criteria:

Criterion a: It meets the current statutory minimum standards for housing.

The current minimum standard in Northern Ireland is the Fitness Standard set out in Schedule 5 of the Housing (Northern Ireland) Order 1992.

Criterion b: It is in a reasonable state of repair.

A dwelling satisfies this criterion unless:

• One or more key building components are old and, because of their condition need replacing or major repair; or The Decent Homes Standard applies in England and Wales and a similar measure, the Index of Housing Quality, applies in Scotland. • Two or more of the other building components are old and, because of their condition need replacing or major repair.

Criterion c: It has reasonably modern facilities and services.

Dwellings that fail to meet this criterion are those that lack three or more of the following:

- A reasonably modern kitchen (20 years old or less);
- A kitchen with adequate space and layout;
- A reasonably modern bathroom (30 years old or less);
- An appropriately located bathroom and WC;
- Adequate insulation against external noise (where external noise is a problem);
- Adequate size and layout of common areas for blocks of flats.

Criterion d: It provides a reasonable degree of thermal comfort.

This criterion requires dwellings to have both effective insulation and efficient heating.

Efficient heating is defined as any gas or oil programmable central heating or electric storage heaters or programmable LPG/solid fuel central heating or similarly efficient heating systems that are developed in the future. Heating sources that provide less energy efficient options fail the Decent Homes Standard.

Because of the differences in efficiency between gas/oil heating systems and the other heating systems listed, the level of insulation that is appropriate also differs:

- For dwellings with gas/oil programmable heating, cavity wall insulation (if there are cavity walls that can be insulated effectively) or at least 50mm loft insulation (if there is a loft space) is an effective package of insulation.
- For dwellings heated by electric storage/LPG/ programmable solid fuel central heating, a higher specification of insulation is required: at least

200mm of loft insulation (if there is a loft) and cavity wall insulation (if there are cavity walls that can be insulated effectively).

For the purposes of analysis, all dwellings built since 1990 are assumed to meet the thermal comfort criterion.

6.3 Profile of Decent and Non-Decent Homes

In Northern Ireland, the percentage of dwellings failing Decent Homes has decreased considerably since 2001. The largest drop was between the years 2001 and 2006 (from 32%; 206,000 dwellings to 23%; 162,100 dwellings). Since 2009 the rate of decrease has been slowing down. In 2009, around one-sixth of dwellings (15%; 111,800) failed to meet the standard; this compares with approximately onetenth (11%; 86,600) in 2011.

The proportion of dwellings failing Decent Homes in Northern Ireland in 2011 was around half the proportion failing in England. At the time of this report, the latest figures available for England were for 2010, when 26 per cent of dwellings failed the Decent Homes Standard (measured on the basis of the HHSRS as the minimum standard). Failure to meet individual components of the Decent Homes Standard is compared with England later.

The following section examines the dwellings which failed to meet the Decent Homes Standard in 2011 (11%) by property and household characteristics.

Decent Homes – Tenure (Table A6.1)

Variation in the non-decency rate by tenure in 2011 showed:

 Vacant dwellings had the highest rate of nondecency (57%), whereas occupied homes had a much lower proportion failing Decent Homes (8%).

This remained in line with 2006 and 2009 findings.

When vacants were included within tenure the highest failure rates were in the private sector (owner occupied 12% and private rented 15%), whereas social rented homes had a much lower proportion of dwellings failing Decent Homes (6%).

It is important to note that, of all dwellings that failed the Decent Homes Standard, more than twofifths (44%) were owner occupied and a further 36 per cent were vacant dwellings.

Decent Homes – Dwelling Age (Table A6.2)

Figure 6.1 shows that the rate of failure is very dependent on dwelling age. Older dwellings were more likely to fail the Standard.

- More than one-third (35%) of all dwellings that had been built before 1919 were non-decent;
- This proportion fell to 29 per cent for stock built in the period 1919 to 1944 and then to 10 per cent for stock built in the period 1965 to 1980. Very few post 1980 dwellings failed Decent Homes (2%).

Of all dwellings that failed the Decent Homes Standard more than one-third (36%) were pre-1919 in age (31,000 dwellings).

Figure 6.1: Non-Decent Homes and Dwelling Age, 2006-2011



Decent Homes – Dwelling Type (Table A6.3)

- In 2011 detached houses were more likely to fail Decent Homes (detached 14% and bungalows 13%) than terraced (11%) and semi-detached (7%) housing. Small sample sizes for flats and apartments mean that numbers should be treated with caution and are not reported here.
- More than one-quarter (27%) of all non-decent homes were terraced houses and 26 per cent were detached houses.

Decent Homes – Dwelling Location (Table A6.4)

 Isolated rural areas (23%) had the highest rate of non-decency followed by Small Rural Settlements (14%). The Belfast Metropolitan Area (11%) and District and Other Towns (6%) had the lowest rates of non-decency.

In 2011, more than half (52%) of all non-decent dwellings were located in urban areas and the remainder (48%) in rural areas.

6.4 Decent Homes – Household Characteristics (Table A6.5)

A little less than one-tenth (8%; 54,100) of all occupied dwellings failed the Decent Homes Standard. This was examined by the following household characteristics:

Age of Household Reference Person

Consistent with 2009, Household Reference Persons over the age of 75 (14%) were much more likely to live in non-decent homes than other age groups. However, due to small numbers this figure should be treated with some caution.

Household Type

Again, similar to 2009, older households (11%) were more likely to live in non-decent homes than other household types. Households with children (4%) were the least likely to live in dwellings that failed the Decent Homes Standard.

Employment Status

Approximately one tenth (9%) of Household Reference Persons who were retired in 2011 lived in non-decent homes compared with seven per cent of HRPs who were working in 2011.

Annual Income

The 2011 House Condition Survey confirmed the clear relationship between annual income and the likelihood of living in a decent home. The lower the annual income the greater the likelihood of living in a non-decent home (see Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.2: Non-Decent Homes and Annual Income, 2011

Household Religion

Households describing themselves as Catholic (6%) were slightly less likely to live in non-decent homes than those describing themselves as Protestant (9%).

6.5 Thermal Comfort, Lacking Modern Facilities and Services and Disrepair

The Decent Homes Standard is made up of four components: thermal comfort; lacking modern facilities and services; disrepair; and unfitness (covered in Chapter Five). If a dwelling fails the Decent Homes Standard it could fail on one or more of the four criteria. Indeed, 67 per cent (57,700) of the stock failed on one criterion, 10 per cent on two (8,600), 12 per cent (10,700) on three and 11 per cent (9,600) on four criteria.

Overall 86,600 dwellings (11%) failed the Decent Homes Standard in 2011. Of these:

- More than three-fifths (62%; 53,500, dwellings) failed on the basis of the thermal comfort criterion, a decrease in the proportion from 68 per cent in 2009. This reduction is in part due to the significant investment in new and improved heating systems in the social sector;
- More than two-fifths (42%; 36,100) failed on the basis of disrepair, a higher proportion than 2009 (18%; 19,600). This proportional increase partly reflects the decline in the proportion of stock failing on the thermal comfort criterion.

However, the fact that the absolute number of properties failing the Decent Homes Standard on disrepair has increased would indicate a significant growth in disrepair in its own right. Failing to meet the Decent Homes Standard due to disrepair was particularly associated with vacant properties. In 2011, 55 per cent of all properties which failed the Decent Homes Standard on disrepair were vacant. Conversely, 64 per cent of all vacant properties which failed the Decent Homes Standard were in disrepair;

• Less than one-quarter (24%; 20,400) failed on the basis of lacking modern facilities and services, compared with 27% in 2009.

It should be noted that the thermal comfort component of Decent Homes has changed over time as refinements and improvements were made to the SAP model. The SAP01 model was used up to 2006 and the SAP05 model was used in 2009, but in 2011, thermal comfort was based on the SAP09 model. Chapter 7 Energy explains the effects of using SAP09 in more detail.

Comparison with England

Table 6.4 shows how Northern Ireland compares with England on the individual components that make up the Decent Homes Standard. There are notable differences between the two. More than three-fifths (62%) of dwellings failing the standard in Northern Ireland failed on thermal comfort compared to 37 per cent in England. More than two-fifths (42%) of those failing in Northern Ireland failed on disrepair compared to 21 per cent in England, and for modern facilities, the figures were 24 per cent in Northern Ireland and nine per cent in England.

Latest figures available at the time of writing this report show that overall, in England there is a higher failure rate for Decent Homes compared to Northern Ireland (26% compared to 11%). The reason for this appears to be because dwellings in England are more likely to fail on the HHSRS (64%). In Northern Ireland, the fitness standard is used and this accounts for 41 per cent of failures.

	Northern Ireland 2011		England 2010	
	Failing		Failing	
	No	%	No (000s)	%
Decent Homes				
Failing on unfitness	35,240	41	N/A	N/A
Failing on HHSRS	N/A	N/A	3,800	64
Failing on disrepair	36,100	42	1,300	21
Failing on modern facilities	20,400	24	500	9
Failing on thermal comfort	53,500	62	2,200	37
All dwellings failing Decent Homes	86,570	11	5,900	27

Table 6.4: Failing Decent Homes components - Northern Ireland and England

Due to the small sample size and the smaller proportion of dwellings failing the standard in 2011, it is not possible to provide detailed analysis of the four criteria which make up the Standard - thermal comfort, lacking modern facilities and services and disrepair - in the same way as the previous report in 2009. The fourth criterion, unfitness, is covered in more detail in chapter five.

6.6 Decent Homes – Summary

There has been a further significant decrease in the number of dwellings failing the Decent Homes Standard. Since 2001 the number of dwellings failing this Standard has decreased from one-third (32%) to approximately one-tenth (11%; a drop of twenty-one percentage points and some 119,200 dwellings).

The types of dwellings most likely to fail the Decent Homes Standard in 2011 were:

 Vacant properties (57%: 38% in 2009) - although more than two-fifths (44%) of all dwellings that failed the Decent Homes Standard were owner occupied;

- Older dwellings built before 1919 (35%);
- Located in isolated rural areas (23%);
- Occupied by households with older HRPs (14%; 75 plus);
- Low income households (14%; less than £10,000 per annum).

Components of Decent Homes

Overall, 62 per cent of the stock in Northern Ireland which failed the Decent Homes Standard did so on the thermal comfort criterion. This compares with 68 per cent in 2009. This reduction is in part due to the significant investment in new and improved heating systems in the social sector. However, 42 per cent of the stock in Northern Ireland which failed the Decent Homes Standard did so on disrepair, much higher than the 2009 figure of 18 per cent. This proportional increase partly reflects the decline in the proportion of stock failing on the thermal comfort criterion. However, the fact that the absolute number of properties failing the Decent Homes Standard on disrepair has increased would indicate a significant growth in disrepair in its own right. Failing to meet the Decent Homes Standard due to disrepair was particularly associated with vacant properties. In 2011 55 per cent of all properties which failed the Decent Homes Standard on disrepair were vacant. Conversely, 64 per cent of all vacant properties which failed the Decent Homes Standard were in disrepair.

Overall, 24 per cent of the stock in Northern Ireland which failed the Decent Homes Standard did so on *lacking modern facilities and services*. This compares with 27 per cent in 2009.

6.7 Fuel Poverty Fuel Poverty - Introduction

One of the key objectives of the 2011 Northern Ireland House Condition Survey (HCS) was to provide a reliable assessment of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland on a comparable basis with the rest of the United Kingdom. The analysis calculates the level of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland, based on the definition as set out in the UK fuel poverty strategy, and aligned with previous analysis of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland. A household is considered to be in fuel poverty if, in order to maintain a satisfactory level of heating (21°C in the main living area and 18°C in other occupied rooms), it is required to spend in excess of 10 per cent of its household income on all fuel use. Fuel poverty assesses the ability to meet all domestic energy costs including space and water heating, cooking, lights and appliances. This is expressed by means of the fuel poverty ratio (FPR). Consistent with England, the figures for Northern Ireland fuel poverty are derived from several computer models constructed by the Building Research Establishment (BRE) in Watford. The fuel poverty model calculates a fuel poverty ratio for each dwelling. The calculation has three components: energy prices, fuel consumption and income. For further detail see Appendix F.

All of the component models, with the exception of the fuel price model, use data from the 2011 Northern Ireland House Condition Survey. However, the fuel price model uses the Methods of Payment (MOP) data from the HCS.



6.8 Fuel Poverty - Key Results 2001 – 2011

Table 6.5: Northern Ireland Fuel Poverty Estimates 2001-2011

Households in Fuel Poverty	2001	2004	2006	2009	2011
2006 Method	27%	23%	34%	44%	42 %
	167,000	146,000	226,000	302,000	294,000

6.9 Profile of Fuel Poverty

Table 6.5 shows how the rate of fuel poverty has changed over time. The 2011 House Condition Survey estimated that approximately 294,000 (42%) of households in Northern Ireland were in fuel poverty. It is clear that the general trend since 2001 has been an increase in the proportion of households that are fuel poor, although the 2011 data has shown a flattening of this trend, with the proportion of households that were fuel poor in 2011 slightly lower than in 2009.

Despite higher fuel costs and lower disposable household income, significant investment particularly in the social sector, in new energy efficiency measures has had a positive impact on tackling fuel poverty in Northern Ireland. The Housing Executive between 2009 and 2011 invested some £41m on heating conversions (almost 7,000), insulation and double glazing in its housing stock. In addition, the Warm Homes Scheme invested more than £12m on insulation measures (more than 13,000) and heating replacements in eligible private homes. Many owner occupiers themselves have made energy efficiency improvements in their homes, thus reducing the impact of fuel poverty. (See NIHE Home Energy Conservation Reports 2009-2011).

Table 6.6 compares national fuel poverty figures. At the time of this report, the latest results available do not relate to the same year but are as close as possible to 2011.

Table 6.6: Fuel Poverty Estimates by Nation¹² (latest year available)

Households in Fuel Poverty	Northern Ireland	England	Scotland
2011	42%	16% ¹³	28 ¹⁴

In 2011 the fuel poverty rate was much higher in Northern Ireland compared with the latest figures available for England or Scotland. The main reason for this is a combination of lower incomes, higher fuel prices (particularly gas) and higher dependence on oil, electric and solid fuel for heating in Northern Ireland. Table 6.7 shows the level of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland in 2011 by different levels of severity. The table provides information on the proportion of households required to spend more than 15 per cent or more than 20 per cent of their income to meet the required fuel expenditure. It can be seen that six per cent of households in Northern Ireland would be required to spend more than 20 per cent of their income in order to meet the required fuel expenditure.

Table 6.7: Severity of Fuel Poverty in Northern Ireland, 2011

Households in Fuel Poverty	10%	15%	20%
Percentage of fuel poor households – full income	42.0	14.6	5.9
Number of fuel poor households – full income	294,000	103,000	41,000

6.10 Fuel Poverty by Key Dwelling Characteristics

Fuel Poverty and Dwelling Tenure (Table A6.6)

The rate of fuel poverty varied by tenure and patterns remain broadly similar to previous years.

- The tenure with the highest proportion in fuel poverty in 2011 was the private rented sector (60,300; 49%), followed by the Housing Executive (38,000; 44%).
- The social housing stock had a fuel poverty rate of 40 per cent (43,900 households) reflecting in part the much newer stock managed by housing associations. This figure compares with 51 per cent (56,500 households) in 2009 and probably reflects the investment in energy efficiency measures in Housing Executive accommodation in recent years.
- In the owner occupied sector 41 per cent (190,000 households) were in fuel poverty in 2011. This compares with 39 per cent in 2009 (178,000 households). This change is probably within the sample error range.

¹² Scotland apply a more stringent interpretation of a satisfactory heating regime for pensioners, long-term sick and disabled households in that these groups are assumed to require a higher temperature to reach an adequate standard of warmth in their homes. Also, a slightly different approach is used in relation to under-occupancy and heating regimes. ¹³ This figure is for 2010 ¹⁴ This figure is for 2010 It is important to note that almost two-thirds (65%) of all households that were fuel poor lived in owner occupied dwellings. The proportion in 2009 was 59 per cent.

Figure 6.3 summarises the increase in fuel poverty by tenure over time.

Figure 6.3: Households in Fuel Poverty and Tenure, 2001-2011



Fuel Poverty and Dwelling Type (Table A6.7)

As in 2009, the rates of fuel poverty were highest in households living in single storey (51%) and terraced houses (46%) and lowest for households in semidetached (40%) and detached (36%) houses.

Fuel Poverty and Dwelling Age (Table A6.8)

As with the Decent Homes Standard and the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, there was an association between dwelling age and fuel poverty. Households living in older dwellings had higher rates of fuel poverty. This is consistent with previous findings.

- More than two-thirds (69%) of households living in dwellings built before 1919 were fuel poor. The figure for 2009 was 63 per cent.
- The rate of fuel poverty was lower for households living in dwellings built between 1919 and 1944 (54%; 59% in 2009).
- The rate of fuel poverty for households living in newer, post 1980 stock was only 27% (28 % in 2009).

However, of all households in fuel poverty approximately 27 per cent lived in dwellings constructed between 1965 and 1980 and 26 per cent lived in dwellings constructed post 1980.

Fuel Poverty and Dwelling Location (Table A6.9)

As in 2006 and 2009, there was some evidence of an urban/rural dichotomy in relation to fuel poor households, with rates at 41 per cent and 44 per cent (respectively). The highest rate of fuel poverty was found in households living in isolated rural areas (50%).

As noted in Chapter 1, the 2011 sample size does not permit the production of robust fuel poverty figures at Local Government District level. However, work will begin in 2013 to develop regression models using the 2011 Census to produce reasonably robust estimates.

Fuel Poverty and Fuel Source

There was considerable variation in the rate of fuel poverty by fuel used for heating. Households with solid fuel (59%) or electric (46%) central heating were more likely to be in fuel poverty than households with oil (44%) or mains gas (34%) central heating.

Fuel Poverty and Cavity Wall Insulation

Households living in dwellings with full cavity wall insulation (34%) were less likely to be in fuel poverty than households living in dwellings with partial (50%) or without any type of wall insulation (61%). Households living in dwellings with internal or external (68%) insulation had the highest rate of fuel poverty and were more common in isolated rural areas and in older dwellings.

Fuel Poverty and Loft Insulation

There was a clear inverse relationship between loft insulation thickness and fuel poverty, in that as the thickness of loft insulation increased fuel poverty decreased, demonstrating the difference that improved insulation can make. Almost two-thirds (64%) of households with less than 100mm of loft insulation were in fuel poverty, compared with around one-third (34%) of households with more than 150mm of loft insulation. Four-fifths (80%) of households with no loft insulation were in fuel poverty.

6.11 Fuel Poverty by Key Household Characteristics (Table A6.10)

Fuel Poverty and Age of Household Reference Person

Figure 6.4 shows households in fuel poverty by age of HRP. It shows how fuel poverty has increased over time for the different HRP age groups, and clearly confirms the trend that households headed by older people were much more likely to be living in fuel poverty.

- In 2011 household reference persons aged 75 plus (66%) and between 60 and 74 (52%) were more likely to be living in fuel poverty, compared with those aged between 40 and 59 (39%) and between 25 and 39 (26%).
- As in 2006 and 2009, approximately half (46%) of all households that were fuel poor were headed by household reference persons aged 60 or more.

Figure 6.4: Households in Fuel Poverty and Age of HRP, 2001-2011



Fuel Poverty and Household type

The rate of fuel poverty varied by household type and was consistent with findings by age.

• A very high proportion (61%) of older households were in fuel poverty.

- Almost two-fifths (37%) of adult households were in fuel poverty.
- Households with children (32%) were least likely to be in fuel poverty.

Fuel Poverty and Employment of Household Reference Person

The rate of fuel poverty varied by employment type and was also consistent with findings by age.

- More than three-fifths (62%) of households headed by a retired person were living in fuel poverty in 2011.
- More than half of households with (55%) reference persons who were not working were living in fuel poverty.
- The lowest rate of fuel poverty was found in households headed by working persons (only 27%; 25% in 2009).

Figure 6.5: Households in Fuel Poverty and Employment Status of HRP, 2011



Fuel Poverty and Income

Table 6.8 shows the clear relationship between income and fuel poverty. Low income households were much more likely to be living in fuel poverty, supporting the hypothesis that one of the most important underlying causes of fuel poverty is a low income.

• In 2011, 79 per cent of households with an annual income of less than £10,000 per annum were in fuel poverty.

 As income increased, the proportion of households in fuel poverty declined. The rate of fuel poverty for households with an annual income of between £15,000 and £19,999 was 41 per cent, while only five per cent for those with an annual income of £30,000 or more were in fuel poverty

Table 6.8: Fuel Poverty and Annual (Gross) Household Income, 2006-2011

Annual Household Income	Percentage in Fuel Poverty 2011	Percentage in Fuel Poverty 2009	Percentage in Fuel Poverty 2006
Less than £10,000	79%	81%	66%
£10,000 - £14,999	64%	64%	41%
£15,000 - £19,999	41%	42%	26%
£20,000 - £29,999	19%	15%	8%
£30,000 or more	5%	3%	3%
Overall Rate	42%	44%	34%

• Consideration of all households in fuel poverty shows that 75 per cent had an annual household income of £14,999 or less.

Fuel Poverty and Religion

There was little variation in the rate of fuel poverty by the two main religious groups. More than twofifths of households who described themselves as as Protestant (44%) and Catholic (42%) were in fuel poverty. The equivalent figures in 2009 were 46 per cent and 44 per cent.

6.12 Fuel Poverty - Summary

Analysis of households in fuel poverty in 2011 shows that:

 Considerable progress had been made in reducing fuel poverty in Northern Ireland between 2001 and 2004 (from 27% to 23%). By 2006 the rate of fuel poverty had increased to 34 per cent and then to 44 per cent in 2009. This was mainly due to very significant increases in the price of fuel and continued dependence on oil, electric and solid fuel for heating in Northern Ireland. The 2011 HCS shows some progress in reducing the proportion in fuel poverty despite rising fuel prices largely as a result of significant investment in new energy efficiency measures such as heating conversions, insulation and double glazing by the Housing Executive in its own stock and also by the Warm Homes Scheme in private homes.

 Low income continued to be a significant cause of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland in 2011; 79 per cent of households with an annual income of less than £10,000 were in fuel poverty. Indeed, 75 per cent of all households in fuel poverty had incomes of £14,999 per annum or less.

However, the HCS indicates that fuel poverty was also correlated to a number of other factors:

- Almost two-thirds (69%) of households living in older dwellings (pre 1919) were in fuel poverty;
- Half (50%) of households living in isolated rural areas were in fuel poverty;
- Almost two-thirds (66%) of households headed by an older person (75 plus) were in fuel poverty in 2011. Three-fifths (61%) of older households were fuel poor;
- Fuel poverty was higher in households with HRPs who were unemployed (55%) or retired (62%).

The 2011 HCS continues to indicate that even if the dwelling is given an efficient heating system and is insulated to the highest standards it does not mean that the household will automatically be brought out of fuel poverty. The cost of fuel and low income will remain important determinants of whether a household is still in fuel poverty.

6.13 Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)

HHSRS – Introduction

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) represents a very different approach to housing standards. It is a risk-based system that

identifies defects in dwellings and evaluates the potential effect of any defects or deficiencies on the health and safety of occupants, visitors, neighbours or passers-by. The System generates a score which represents the seriousness of any hazard. Any hazards that have a score of over 1,000 are described as 'Category 1' and are deemed to fail the statutory minimum standard. (For further information see Appendix G).

The Government commissioned Warwick University and the Building Research Establishment (BRE) to develop the HHSRS, as a replacement for the Fitness Standard. It has been the minimum standard for housing in England since 2006.

6.14 The HHSRS and the House Condition Survey

The HHSRS is a relatively new measure and therefore reporting on changes over time should be treated with some caution, as it is a system which relies on reducing surveyor variability in the assessment of risks to a minimum. In the light of this, it was decided to change the quality control approach towards surveyor assessments in 2011. Therefore, caution should be exercised when any comparisons are being made with 2009. In addition, as highlighted in the 2009 HCS report, changes to the number of hazards and how some were assessed means that results in 2006 are not directly comparable with those from 2009.

6.15 Common Category 1 HHSRS Hazards, 2011

The most common risks in Northern Ireland in 2011 were excess cold and food safety. The most common risks in England in 2008 were excess cold and falls on the stairs. It should be noted that Category 1 excessive cold has been modelled using SAP09 which is not directly comparable with SAP05, which was used in the 2009 House Condition Survey.

More than half (57%) of dwellings identified with a Category 1 hazard had only one such hazard and 14 per cent had two hazards. At the other end of the scale, 16 per cent of dwellings had between six and fourteen hazards, the vast majority of these being vacant properties.

6.16 HHSRS in Northern Ireland in 2011

Overall one in ten (10%) dwellings in Northern Ireland were considered to have one or more Category 1 risk(s) in 2011. This equates to approximately 75,800 dwellings. At the time of this report, the latest figure for England was 18 per cent for 2010.

6.17 HHSRS by Key Dwelling Characteristics

HHSRS and Dwelling Tenure (Table A6.11)

There was some variation by tenure in relation to dwellings failing the HHSRS standard. Not surprisingly, vacant dwellings were more likely to have Category 1 hazards (55%) than any other tenure.

Around seven per cent of both owner occupied and private rented sector dwellings had Category 1 hazards. Smaller proportions were found in the social sector.

HHSRS and Dwelling Age (Table A6.12)

As in previous surveys, older dwellings were more likely to fail the HHSRS than newer dwellings. More than one-third (36%) of dwellings constructed before 1919 and 27 per cent of dwellings constructed between 1919 and 1944 had Category 1 hazards.

HHSRS and Dwelling Type (Table A6.13)

One-sixth (16%) of detached houses and 12 per cent of single storey dwellings had Category 1 hazards. Less than ten per cent of other dwelling types had Category 1 hazards.

Figure 6.6: Category 1 Hazards and Dwelling Type, 2011



HHSRS and Location (Table A6.14)

Dwellings in rural areas (18%) were more likely to fail the HHSRS than dwellings in urban areas (7%). Dwellings in isolated rural areas (27%) had the highest proportion of Category 1 hazards.

6.18 HHSRS and Key Household Characteristics (Table A6.15)

The apparent 2011 fall in the incidence of any Category 1 hazard is especially pronounced in the occupied stock, down from 18 per cent in 2009 to six per cent in 2011. Therefore, due to the small sample sizes for Category 1 hazards among the occupied stock, the following analysis is limited, although any trends are highlighted.

Age of Household Reference Person

As in 2009, as the age of the HRP increased so did the likelihood of failing the HHSRS. Dwellings with HRPs aged 75 or more had the highest rate of Category 1 hazards (9%).

Household Type

There was some variation by household type. Older (8%) households were most likely to have Category 1 hazards.

Table 6.9: Household Type and Category 1 Hazards, 2011

Household Type	Category 1 Hazards (%)
Adult	7
Households with children	3
Older	8
Overall	6

Employment Status of Household Reference Person

As in 2009, there was little variation by employment group. Households with retired HRPs were most likely to fail the HHSRS.

Household Income

Again, there was little variation by income groups.

Household Religion

Households failing the HHSRS showed some variation by religion. Catholic households (5%) were slightly less likely to live in dwellings with Category 1 Hazards compared with Protestant households (8%).

6.19 Summary and Conclusion

Overall, ten per cent of all dwellings in Northern Ireland had Category 1 hazards in 2011. The most common hazards in dwellings in Northern Ireland were excess cold and food safety.

The types of dwellings most likely to have Category 1 hazards were:

- vacant properties (55%);
- older dwellings built before 1919 (36%) and between 1919 and 1944 (27%);
- located in isolated rural areas (27%);
- occupied by households with older HRPs (9%; 75 plus);

This section has provided a measure of Northern Ireland's dwelling stock in terms of the HHSRS, which allows comparisons with England. In England, the HHSRS has already replaced unfitness as the first element of the Decent Homes Standard. Although the HHSRS has not yet been accepted as an enforceable standard in Northern Ireland, it provides a useful indicator of the relatively high standard of Northern Ireland's housing stock generally, compared with England's.


Table 7.1: Central Heating – Key Figures

	CH Ga	St	СНО		CH Solid Electric/ Fuel/Ot	Fuel/ Dual her	Total Ce Heati	ntral ng	Total N Centi Heati	lon al ng	Tota	
	No	%	No	%	No	%	No	%	No	%	No	%
Owner Occupied	60,930	13.0	356,970	76.1	50,620	10.8	468,520	9.99	*	0.1	469,070	100.0
%	48.0		69.3		47.3		62.5		5.2		61.7	
Private Rented and Others	21,560	17.2	85,940	68.5	16,880	13.5	124,380	99.2	*	0.8	125,440	100.0
%	17.0		16.7		15.8		16.6		10.0		16.5	
Social Housing	37,170	33.6	51,940	46.9	21,650	19.5	110,760	100.0	*	0.0	110,760	100.0
%	29.3		10.1		20.2		14.8		0.0		14.6	
Vacant	*	13.3	20,620	37.7	17,900	32.7	45,810	83.7	*	16.3	54,730	100.0
%	5.7		4.0		16.7		6.1		84.7		7.2	
Total	126,950	16.7	515,470	67.8	107,050	14.1	749,470	98.6	10,530	1.4	760,000	100.0
%	100.0		100.0		100.0		100.0		100.0		100.0	

Due to rounding figures may not add to totals shown

<u>inning chapter seven</u>

energy

7.1 Introduction

The Housing Executive is Northern Ireland's Home Energy Conservation Authority. In this role its primary objective is to improve energy efficiency. The Northern Ireland House Condition Survey is the primary data source for assessing progress towards improved energy efficiency.

The energy efficiency of a dwelling is determined primarily by the fuel source and heating type. Other factors such as insulation and double glazing are also important. This chapter examines these key energy-related features by tenure, dwelling age, type and location, and the household characteristics of the occupants.

7.2 Central Heating

Central heating is traditionally seen as a key indicator of the standard of housing. The 2011 House Condition Survey defines "central heating" as a heating system with a distribution system sufficient to provide heat in at least two rooms. In addition, in dwellings where there was no boiler, but there was a heating system with some means of controlling temperature and timing, (for example, electric storage heaters) and at least two rooms were heated, this system was counted as central heating. This approach is consistent with the previous five House Condition Surveys.

Overall, the proportion of dwellings in Northern Ireland with central heating is very high. In 2011, a total of 749,500 (99%) dwellings were recorded as having central heating. Approximately 10,500 properties in Northern Ireland did not have central heating; the majority (85%) of these were vacant properties. The energy efficiency of a dwelling is determined primarily by the fuel source and heating type. Other factors such as insulation and double glazing are also important.



Figure 7.1: Central Heating and Tenure, 2006-2011

Central Heating – Dwelling Tenure (Table A7.1)

- Figure 7.1 shows that in 2011 the proportion of occupied dwellings with central heating was at least 99 per cent.
- There was a decrease in the proportion of vacant dwellings with central heating in 2011 (84%; 91% in 2009). This reflects the number of older, poorer quality properties which are increasingly being left vacant.

Central Heating – Dwelling Age (Table A7.2)

There remains little variation by dwelling age although lack of central heating is much more likely to be associated with dwellings built before 1919.

- Almost all dwellings built after 1919 had central heating (houses built after 1980 recorded as having no central heating (0.6%) were either still in the process of construction or refurbishment).
- The proportion of dwellings built before 1919 that had central heating was 95 per cent (97% in 2009). Furthermore, 42 per cent of all dwellings with no central heating had been built before 1919 (45% in 2009).

Central Heating – Dwelling Type (Table A7.3)

As in 2009, there was little variation by dwelling type, although the proportion of flats/apartments with no central heating was still higher (4%) than for other dwelling types (1% overall).

Central Heating - Dwelling Location (Table A7.4)

A similar proportion of urban and rural dwellings had central heating in 2011 (99% for urban and 97% for rural).

Central Heating – Household Characteristics (Table A7.5)

Overall, 99.8 per cent of occupied dwellings had central heating in 2011. In terms of individual household characteristics, there was little variation between groups. At least 99 per cent of occupied dwellings grouped in terms of age of household reference person, household type, employment status, annual income and household religion had central heating.

7.3 Fuel Sources and Heating Systems

The type of fuel used for heating is a key determinant of the energy efficiency of a dwelling. Figure 7.2 shows the fuel sources used for heating homes in Northern Ireland.

Figure 7.2: The Changing Profile of Central Heating Fuel, 2001-2011



The great majority of dwellings (85%; 84% in 2009) had either oil fired or mains gas central heating systems.

 Consistent with 2009, oil remains the predominant fuel source for domestic heating in Northern Ireland. More than two-thirds (515,500, 68%; 68% in 2009) of all dwellings had oil central heating systems in 2011. It should be noted that a further seven per cent of dwellings had dual fuel central heating; where this is the case, oil is by far the most common primary fuel source.

- The increasing use of gas for central heating continues. In 2009, 113,600 dwellings (15%) were heated by mains gas; by 2011 this has increased to 127,000 dwellings (17%).
- The use of dual fuel (7%; 6% in 2009), solid fuel (3%; 4% in 2009) and electricity (3%; 4% in 2009) for central heating remained broadly similar in 2011 and together accounted for only 14 per cent of the housing stock (15% in 2009).

Central Heating Fuel Source – Dwelling Tenure (A7.1)

- In 2011, 68 per cent of all dwellings had oil fired central heating. This increased to 76 per cent for owner occupied dwellings (77% in 2009).
- Consistent with 2009, social housing sector dwellings were more likely to have gas central heating than any other tenure (34%; 17% overall).
- Vacant dwellings had the highest proportion (33%) of central heating systems with a fuel source other than mains gas or oil.

Figure 7.3: Central Heating Fuel and Tenure, 2009-2011



Central Heating Fuel Source – Dwelling Age (Table A7.2)

- Consistent with 2009 findings, dwellings built between 1965 and 1980 and post 1980 were most likely to have oil fired central heating (72% and 70% respectively; 68% overall)
- Dwellings built before 1919 were most likely to have central heating systems other than mains gas or oil fired (25%; 14% overall) and were least likely to have oil fired central heating (56%; 68% overall).
- Dwellings built between 1945 and 1964 had the highest proportion of mains gas central heating (25%; 17% overall).

Central Heating Fuel Source – Dwelling Type (Table A7.3)

Analysis of central heating fuel source by dwelling type showed there were a number of differences:

- There continues to be variation in the proportions of dwellings with oil fired central heating across dwelling types. In 2011, bungalows and detached houses were most likely to have oil fired central heating (76% for both; 68% overall) and least likely to have mains gas central heating (5% and 9% respectively; 17% overall).
- Conversely, flats/apartments remain least likely to have oil fired central heating (12%; 9 % in 2009) and most likely to have mains gas central heating (47%; 42% in 2009).
- Flats/apartments also had the highest proportion of central heating systems other than mains gas or oil fired 38%; 14% overall).
- Notably, there was an increase in the proportion of detached dwellings with mains gas central heating (9%; 3% in 2009). At the same time there has been a decrease in the proportion of detached dwellings with oil fired central heating (76%; 87% in 2009).

Central Heating Fuel Source - Dwelling Location (Table A7.4)

As in previous years, the use of mains gas was predominantly located in the Belfast Metropolitan Area (BMA).

- Almost two fifths (101,890; 38%) of all dwellings in the BMA had mains gas central heating, with the vast majority of gas-heated dwellings located in urban areas (98%; 98% in 2009); reflecting the extent of the gas network.
- Whilst there was a shift in the use of gas central heating to include more dwellings situated in district towns in 2009, this was not the case in 2011. The proportion of gas central heated dwellings located in urban towns remained broadly similar to 2009 findings (18%; 17% in 2009), with the majority still located in the BMA (80%; 81% in 2009).
- There was a decrease in the proportion of rural dwellings with oil fired central heating, from 82 per cent in 2009 to 76 per cent in 2011. This was most notable for dwellings located in isolated rural areas, where the proportion of properties with oil fired central heating decreased from 82 per cent in 2009 to 73 per cent in 2011. This reflects the higher vacancy rate found in isolated rural areas in 2011 (see Chapter 3) where older, poorer quality properties are increasingly being left vacant.

Central Heating Fuel Source – Household Characteristics (Table A7.5)

In 2011, 17 per cent of occupied dwellings had gas central heating and 70 per cent had oil fired central heating. This section gives an overview of central heating fuel sources by key household characteristics.

Age of Household Reference Person

• Analysis by oil fired central heating indicates some variation by age of household reference person (HRP) with findings ranging from 67 per cent of those HRPs aged 75 or more living in dwellings with oiled fired central heating to 74 per cent for those aged 25 to 39. • Those households with a household reference person aged 60 to 74 were least likely (13%; 17% overall) to live in dwellings with mains gas central heating and most likely (17%; 13% overall) to have a central heating system other than mains gas or oil fired.

Household Type

- There was little variation between overall figures and those found by household type for oil fired (70% overall) and mains gas (17% overall) central heating.
- However, 'households with children' were most likely (74%) to live in dwellings with oil fired central heating and least likely (10%) to live in dwellings with a central heating system other than mains gas or oil fired.
- When compared to 'adult households' (13%), a higher proportion (16%) of 'older households' lived in dwellings which had a central heating system other than mains gas or oil fired.

Employment Status

- Households categorised as not working were more likely (26%; 17% overall) to live in dwellings with mains gas than those households either working (15%) or retired (16%).
- Compared to those households with household reference persons retired (16%) or not working (17%), a smaller proportion (10%) of households categorised as 'working' lived in dwellings with a central heating system other than mains gas or oil fired.

Annual Income

As in previous years, there was a clear association between annual household income and the proportion of households with oil fired central heating:

- Among households with an annual income of £30,000 or more, 80 per cent had oil fired central heating whereas for households with less £10,000 and between £10,000 and £14,999 the corresponding figures were 63 per cent and 62 per cent respectively.
- Conversely, households with the lowest income (less than £10,000) were more likely (16%) to live

in dwellings with a fuel source other than mains gas or oil.

7.4 Dwelling Insulation

The proportion of the stock with full cavity wall insulation remained broadly similar to 2009 findings. In 2011, 503,120 dwellings had full cavity wall insulation which accounted for two thirds (66%) of the total housing stock (65% on 2009).

There was also little change in the proportion of dwellings with no wall insulation; almost one-quarter (173,600 dwellings, 23%; 21% in 2009) of the total housing stock had no wall insulation. The analysis of the housing stock in terms of wall insulation is complex, primarily due to the fact that many older dwellings (often with solid walls) now have modern extensions with insulated cavity walls. For the purpose of this analysis the following classification has been adopted.

Full Cavity Wall Insulation

Dwellings constructed with cavity walls where all walls contain cavity wall insulation.

Partial Cavity Wall Insulation

Dwellings of full or part cavity wall construction; where at least one cavity wall contains insulation.

Internal/External Insulation

Dwellings originally built with solid wall construction, not included in the above category, but which have at least one wall with internal and/ or external insulation. Partial cavity wall and internal/ external insulation figures are presented together for 2011.

No Wall Insulation

The remaining dwellings (of cavity wall or solid construction or both), where there is no evidence of insulation.

Recording Cavity Wall Insulation in 2011

Changes made to the 2011 House Condition Survey surveyors' form included adjustments to the recording of cavity wall insulation. As such, careful consideration was given to the identification and recording of cavity wall insulation during the surveyors' briefing prior to fieldwork. Consequently, findings for cavity wall insulation for 2011 were subject to design effect and as such fluctuation between surveys findings was expected. Furthermore, while trends remained broadly similar in 2011, differences between 2009 and 2011, in many cases, were within sample error. The subsequent analysis, therefore, focuses on 2011 figures with few comparisons made between 2009 and 2011.

Wall Insulation – Dwelling Tenure (Table A7.6)

- The highest rate of full cavity wall insulation, in 2011, was found in social housing (80%). This compares with 89 per cent in 2009 when assumptions based on operational records proved somewhat inaccurate.
- Conversely, the lowest proportion of full cavity wall insulation was found in vacant dwellings (38%).
- Furthermore, vacant dwellings were most likely to have no cavity wall insulation (40%) followed by privately rented dwellings (32%; 23% overall).
- Further analysis of all dwellings with no wall insulation shows that the majority were in the private sector (57% owner occupied; 23% privately rented).

Figure 7.4: Cavity Wall Insulation and Tenure, 2009 – 2011



Wall Insulation – Dwelling Age (Table A7.7)

As in previous years, there remains a clear association between dwelling age and wall insulation:

- All dwellings built after 1980 (100%; 98% in 2009) had full cavity wall insulation. The proportion declined steadily by age band to less than one per cent of pre-1919 dwellings (1% in 2009), reflecting the solid wall construction that predominated during this period.
- Similarly, pre-1919 dwellings were most likely to have no cavity wall insulation (63%). The proportion of dwellings with no cavity wall insulation declined steadily as dwelling age declined, with 22 per cent of dwellings built between 1965 and 1980 having no cavity wall insulation.

Wall Insulation – Dwelling Type (Table A7.8)

Consistent with 2009, terraced houses had the lowest rate of full cavity wall insulation (58%; 66% overall) and the highest rate of no wall insulation (30%; 23% over all). Single storey dwellings and flats/ apartments were most likely to have full cavity wall insulation (73% for both) with single storey dwellings least likely to have no wall insulation (13%).

Wall Insulation – Dwelling Location (Table A7.9)

- There was little variation in the rate of full cavity wall insulation by location. The proportion of all urban dwellings with full cavity wall insulation (67%) was slightly higher than the proportion of all rural dwellings (65%).
- However, there was some variation within urban locations; dwellings located in the BMA (60%) were less likely to have full cavity wall insulation than those located in district towns and other urban settlements (74%).
- Furthermore, the rate of full cavity wall insulation was significantly higher among dwellings located in small rural settlements (80%) than those located in isolated rural areas (49%). This is consistent with the previous three surveys.

Wall Insulation – Household Characteristics (Table A7.10)

This section examines wall insulation by key household variables. Overall, 69 per cent of occupied dwellings had full cavity wall insulation.

Age of Household Reference Person

As in 2009, dwellings with household reference persons aged 75 or older (62%) were less likely to have full cavity wall insulation and most likely to have none (24%).

Household Type

Households with children were far more likely (78%) to live in dwellings with full cavity wall insulation than adult households (65%) or older households (64%) and least likely to live in dwellings with no wall insulation (14%).

Employment Status

There was little variation in the proportions of dwellings without any cavity wall insulation by employment status, ranging from 20 per cent for households categorised as working to 23 per cent for households categorised as retired. Households categorised as working lived in dwellings with a higher rate of full cavity wall insulation (71%) than those dwellings occupied by households categorised as not working or retired (69% and 65% respectively).

Annual Income

There was some variation by annual household income. Only approximately three-fifths (59%) of households with an annual income less than £10,000 lived in dwellings with full cavity wall insulation compared with 81 per cent of dwellings occupied by households with an income of £30,000 or more.

Religion

As in 2009, there was some difference by religion. Almost two thirds of Protestants (65%; 66% in 2009) but nearly three-quarters (72%; 72% in 2009) of Catholic households lived in dwellings with full cavity wall insulation. Conversely, one-quarter (25%; 20% in 2009) of Protestants and 17 per cent (16% in 2009) of Catholics were without any cavity wall insulation in their homes.

7.5 Loft Insulation

The 2011 House Condition Survey collected information on the presence and thickness of loft insulation in all dwellings with lofts, where access was available and where the householder granted permission. Consistent with previous years, there has been little change in the overall proportion of dwellings with loft insulation. However, the proportion of dwellings found to have the highest standard of insulation in terms of thickness (more then 150mm) continues to increase.

The 2011 Survey estimated that 723,700 (95%) dwellings had lofts. Of these around 84,700 had been converted to a room(s) with permanent stairs or the pitch of the roof was too shallow to permit access or insulation to be laid. This left a total of 639,000 dwellings (84% of the total stock) where there was potential for loft insulation:

- Of these, 96 per cent (613,000 dwellings) had loft insulation; consistent with 2009 (96%).
- The proportion of dwellings with insulation less than 100mm decreased from 20 per cent in 2009 to 13 per cent in 2011.
- There was a slight increase in the proportion of properties with loft insulation of between 100 and 150mm thickness to 46 per cent (44% in 2009).
- More than one-third (35%) of dwellings had loft insulation more than 150mm; an increase from 30 per cent in 2009.
- Four per cent (26,000) of dwellings had no loft insulation; comparable to figures collected in 2009 (5%).

Loft Insulation – Dwelling Tenure (Table A7.11)

- All (100%) social dwellings had loft insulation in 2011 (99% in 2009).
- Private dwellings were found to have the biggest increases in the highest standard of insulation in

terms of thickness. Almost one-third (32%; 23% in 2009) of private rented and two-fifths (40%; 33% in 2009) of owner occupied dwellings had loft insulation more than 150mm in thickness in 2011.

• There was a 22 percentage point increase in the proportion of vacant dwellings found to have no loft insulation, from 15 per cent in 2009 to 37 per cent in 2011. Again, this reflects an increase in the number of older, poorer quality properties which are being left vacant.

Loft Insulation - Dwelling Age (Table A7.12)

There remains a clear association between loft insulation and age of dwelling.

- The oldest age categories had the highest proportions of dwellings with no insulation (23% for pre-1919 dwellings and 11% for 1919 to 1944 dwellings; 4% overall).
- Almost all (99%) dwellings built since 1945 had loft insulation. Moreover, dwellings built after 1980 were most likely (54%; 35% overall) to have loft insulation more than150mm in thickness.

Loft Insulation - Dwelling Type (Table A7.13)

- Consistent with 2009 findings, detached dwellings were most likely to have no loft insulation (7% compared to 4% overall).
- There continues to be a shift towards more loft insulation within all dwelling types. For example, the proportion of detached dwellings with loft insulation thickness of between 100 and 150mm increased from 31 per cent in 2009 to 41 per cent in 2011.
- However, the highest standard of loft insulation in terms of thickness (more than 150mm) was mostly found in flats/apartments 49 per cent; a substantial increase from 19 per cent in 2009.

Loft Insulation – Dwelling Location (Table A7.14)

 Comparable to 2009 findings, dwellings with lofts located in rural areas were slightly more likely to be without loft insulation compared to those in urban areas (7% and 3% respectively; 4% overall). The proportion rose to 12 per cent for dwellings located in isolated rural areas.

- Whilst there has been an increase in both rural and urban areas, in the proportion of dwellings that have the highest standard of insulation in terms of thickness (more than 150mm) this is most notable for dwellings located in district towns (44%; 28% in 2009).
- Although both urban (35%) and rural (37%) dwellings overall had a similar proportion of dwellings with loft insulation to a depth of 150mm or more, dwellings located in Belfast Metropolitan Area remained least likely to have loft insulation more than 150mm thick (25%; 35% for total urban).

Loft Insulation – Household Characteristics (Table A7.15)

In 2011, 98 per cent of occupied dwellings with lofts had loft insulation (96% in 2009).

Age of Household Reference Person

- Household reference persons aged 75 or more remained most likely to live in dwellings with no loft insulation (5%; 2% overall) in 2011, although this was a decrease from 2009, when 9 per cent of persons aged 75 or more lived in dwellings without loft insulation.
- Whilst there was an improvement overall in the proportion of households with the highest standard of loft insulation (more than 150mm in thickness), households with a reference person aged 25 to 39 (51%; 34% in 2009) remained most likely to live in dwellings with the highest standard of loft insulation.
- Household reference persons aged 40-59 years were least likely to live in dwellings with the highest standard of loft insulation (32%; 32% in 2009; 37% overall).

Household Type

Households were categorised into three broad types in 2011: 'adult households', 'households with children' and 'older households'. Older households were most likely live in dwellings with loft insulation less than 100mm in thickness (17%; 13% overall). Households with children were most likely to live in dwellings with loft insulation 150mm or more in thickness (45%).

Employment Status

Households with retired household reference persons were more likely to live in dwellings with loft insulation less than 100mm (15%; 13% overall). Dwellings with household reference persons working were most likely to have loft insulation of 150mm or more (40%; 37% overall).

Annual Income

Households with an income of £30,000 or more (47%) were more likely to live in dwellings with the highest standard of loft insulation (more than 150mm) and least likely to live in dwellings with loft insulation less than 100mm (7%). Conversely, households with an income between £10,000 and £14,000 were least likely to have loft insulation more than 150mm (30%) and most likely to have loft insulation less than 100mm (18%).

Religion

Consistent with previous years, there was some variation by religion, largely due to the differing age profiles and the tendency for Catholics to live in newer housing. Protestant households (33%; 26% in 2009) remained less likely to live in dwellings with the highest standard of loft insulation (more than 150mm in thickness) compared to Catholic households (41%; 35% in 2009).

7.6 Double Glazing

The 2011 House Condition Survey indicates that further progress has been made in relation to this aspect of energy efficiency in Northern Ireland's dwelling stock.

- In 2009, an estimated two-thirds (77%; 566,700) of all dwellings had full double glazing. By 2011 this proportion had increased to 81 per cent (611,700 dwellings).
- The proportion of dwellings with partial glazing declined from 15 per cent to 12 per cent between 2009 and 2011 and the proportion of dwellings without double glazing decreased from nine per cent to seven per cent over the same period.



Figure 7.5: Full Double Glazing and Tenure, 2006-2011

Double Glazing - Dwelling Tenure (Table A7.16)

Figure 7.7 shows that between 2006 and 2011, with the exception of vacant properties, improvement has been made in the proportions of dwellings with full double glazing, in both the private and social sectors.

- There was a significant increase in the proportion of private rented sector dwellings with full double glazing from 70 per cent in 2009 to 84 per cent in 2011.
- Moreover, both owner occupied and private rented sector dwellings were most likely to have full double glazing (84%; 81% overall).
- There was also an increase in the proportion of social sector dwellings with full double glazing (78%; 72% in 2009). This was coupled with a decline in the proportion of social sector dwellings with no double glazing; a decrease from 17per cent in 2009 to 10 per cent in 2011.
- There was a decrease in the proportion of vacant dwellings with full double glazing from 67 per cent in 2009 to 51 per cent in 2011. This is consistent with findings in earlier sections, where older, poorer quality properties are increasingly being left vacant.

Double Glazing – Dwelling Age (Table A7.17)

There remains a correlation between dwelling age and the presence of full double glazing:

- Consistent with 2009 findings, the vast majority of dwellings built after 1980 (94%; 90% in 2009) had full double glazing and this steadily declined by age of dwelling to 55 per cent (59% in 2009) for dwellings built before 1919.
- There has been a 10 percentage point increase in the proportion of dwellings built before 1919 with no double glazing, which at least partly reflects the higher rate of vacant properties found in this age band (see Chapter 3).

Double Glazing - Dwelling Type (Table A 7.18)

- Analysis of full double glazing indicates some variation by dwelling type. Findings ranged from 88 per cent for flats/apartments to 76 per cent for bungalows (81% overall).
- There was a notable increase in the number of terraced houses with full double glazing (81%; 72% in 2009).
- Whilst flats/apartments were most likely to have full double glazing (88%; 81% overall) semidetached dwellings were least likely to have no double glazing (4%; 7% overall).

Double Glazing - Dwelling Location (Table A7.19)

- While full double glazing figures show an increase for urban dwellings from 77 per cent 2009 to 83 per cent in 2011, figures for dwellings located in rural areas remain broadly similar to 2009.
- Further analysis of urban figures shows there was an increase in the proportion of dwellings located in the Belfast Metropolitan Area with full double glazing (80%; 73% in 2009).
- Conversely there has been a decrease in the proportion of dwellings located in the BMA with no double glazing (5%; 10% in 2009).

Double Glazing – Household Characteristics (Table A7.20)

The proportion of occupied dwellings with full double glazing in 2011 was 83 per cent, an increase from 77 per cent in 2009. Six per cent of occupied dwellings had no double glazing in 2011 (8% in 2009).

Age of Household Reference Person

Households with household reference persons aged 25 to 39 were more likely to live in dwellings with full double glazing (89%) compared to 69 per cent of those aged 75 or more, who were least likely to live in a fully double glazed dwelling in 2011. Conversely, household reference persons aged 75 or more were more likely to live in dwellings without double glazing (10%; 6% overall). These patterns are consistent with previous surveys.

Household Type

Older households were less likely to live in dwellings with full double glazing (74%) than households with children (88%) or adult households (85%; 83% overall).

Employment Status

Households with household reference persons working were most likely to live in dwellings with full double glazing (87%; 83% overall). Consistent with the age of household reference person and household type, households with retired household reference persons were least likely to live in a dwelling with full double glazing (75%).

Annual Income

There remains an association between household annual income and double glazing. Those dwellings with an income of less than £10,000 were least likely to have full double glazing (74%) compared to those with an income of £30,000 or more (91%; 83% overall).

Household Religion

There was a small variation for dwellings with full double glazing by household religion (Protestant, 81% and Catholic, 85%). However, a broadly similar proportion of Protestant and Catholic households lived in dwellings with no double glazing (6% and 5% respectively).

7.7 SAP Rating

The Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) is the Government's standard method of rating the energy efficiency of a dwelling. The Building Research Establishment (BRE) has developed the current and previous models on behalf of Government.

In 2001 BRE developed a modified SAP model for Northern Ireland to take into account the greater prevalence of solid fuel and electrical heating compared to England. This BRE model was comparable to the English model in all other aspects and provided the basis for the analysis of the data from the 2001 House Condition Survey.

In 2005 the SAP model was modified to take into account, in particular, thermal bridging. SAP05 was used to analyse the data from the 2006 and 2009 House Condition Surveys, with 2001 figures recalculated to provide a consistent time series.

The SAP model has since been updated to SAP09 and this new methodology (SAP09) has been used to derive the energy efficiency rating for 2011 data. For comparison purposes, data from 2009 has also been recalculated using SAP09.

The SAP takes into account a range of factors that contribute to energy efficiency such as materials used for construction, the efficiency and control of heating systems and fuel used for space and water heating. Revisions made to the SAP09 methodology include a move from annual calculations of space and water heating and boiler efficiency to monthly calculations. This provides a more accurate assessment of energy use and boiler efficiency in terms of seasonal changes throughout the year. Other modifications to the methodology included weather data updates, internal heat gains and the cost of energy in the light of rising fuel prices.

The SAP rating itself is on a logarithmic scale and provides a comparative measure of the energy efficiency of dwellings. The lower the score the lower the energy efficiency and the higher the score (up to a maximum of 100) the higher the efficiency. Appendix H provides further information on the updated SAP09 model and how SAP was calculated for Northern Ireland.

Using SAP09, Northern Ireland's dwelling stock had an average SAP rating of 56.7 in 2009. By 2011 this had increased to 59.6. The estimated average for England calculated using SAP09 in 2010 was 55.0.

This section outlines how the SAP rating varied by the physical characteristics of the dwelling and the socio-demographic characteristics of the household.

Figure 7.6: SAP09 Rating and Tenure, 2009-2011



SAP Rating – Dwelling Tenure (Table A7.21)

With the exception of vacant dwellings, the SAP09 rating had increased for all tenures between 2009 and 2011.

- There was a four SAP point increase for owneroccupied dwellings, from 56 in 2009 to 60 in 2011.
- Social housing remained the sector with the highest SAP rating, with an average SAP rating of 68, an increase of five SAP points from 63 in 2009.
- In vacant dwellings, SAP decreased by seven points from 49 in 2009 to 42 in 2011.

SAP Rating – Dwelling Age (Table A7.22)

With the exception of pre-1919 dwellings, improvements were made across dwelling age bands in 2011. Furthermore, there remained a clear inverse relationship between average SAP rating and dwelling age, in that as dwelling age decreased SAP rating increased. In pre-1919 dwellings the average SAP was 42. For dwellings built after 1980 the average SAP had increased to 68. The two-point decrease noted in the average SAP rating for pre-1919 dwelling reflects the higher rate of vacant properties found in this age band (see Chapter 3).

SAP Rating – Dwelling Type (Table A7.23)

As in 2009, there was some variation in the SAP rating by dwelling type. In 2011 single storey dwellings had the lowest SAP rating (54; 52 in 2009) and flats/apartments the highest SAP rating (69; 65 in 2009), compared to 60 SAP points for the housing stock as a whole.

SAP Rating – Dwelling Location (Table A7.24)

Urban dwellings (62; 58 in 2009) remain more energy efficient than rural dwellings (55; 54 in 2009). As in 2009, dwellings in isolated rural areas (49; 50 in 2009) continued to have the lowest average SAP rating compared to other locations.

SAP Rating – Household Characteristics (Table A7.25)

The following outlines variations in average SAP ratings by household characteristics. Overall, the average SAP rating for occupied dwellings was 61, an increase from 57 in 2009.

Age of Household Reference Person

Whilst there was some association between age of the household reference person and the energy efficiency of dwellings, significant improvements were found in dwellings occupied by older household reference persons.

• While older household reference persons remained most likely to be living in dwellings that were less energy efficient, the average SAP rating for dwellings with reference persons aged 75 or older had increased by four points from 54 in 2009 to 58 in 2011. This improvement was reflected in the decrease in the proportion of these households living in fuel poverty by 10 percentage points in 2011 (see Chapter 6).

Household Type

Households with children lived in dwellings with the highest average SAP rating of 64. Older households were more likely to live in dwellings that were less efficient (average SAP rating 59) than adult households (average SAP rating 61).

Employment Status

Consistent with 2009, household reference persons who were retired were more likely to live in the least energy efficient dwellings (average SAP rating 59,) reflecting the higher proportion of these households living in the oldest stock (See Chapter 4). Little variation was noted for those dwellings with a household reference person either working or not working (average SAP rating of 62 and 63 respectively).

Annual Income

There was a positive relationship between average SAP rating and annual household income, in that households with the lowest annual incomes (less than £10,000) were more likely to live in the least energy efficient dwellings (average SAP 59), whereas households with the highest annual incomes (£30,000 or more) were more likely to live in the most energy efficient dwellings (average SAP 63).

Religion

There was a small difference in the average energy efficiency of dwellings occupied by Protestant (average SAP 60; 56 in 2009) and Catholic (average SAP 62; 59 in 2009) households.

7.8 Summary

The 2011 House Condition Survey shows that the progress made in achieving higher levels of energy efficiency between 2006 and 2009 had been sustained:

- Overall 99 per cent of all dwellings had central heating (99% in 2009).
- The majority of dwellings (85%) had either oil fired (68%; 68% in 2009), or mains gas central heating (17%; 15% in 2009).

Small improvements were also noted for loft insulation and double glazing:

- There was an increase in the use of the highest standard of loft insulation (more than 150mm) from 30 per cent in 2009 to 35 per cent in 2011.
- Improvement was also achieved with the proportion of dwellings with full double glazing increasing from 77 per cent in 2009 to 81 per cent in 2011; this was most notable in the private rented sector where there was an increase in the proportion of dwellings with full double glazing from 70 per cent in 2009 to 84 per cent in 2011.

The progress sustained and small improvements made was reflected in an increase in the overall SAP rating, which rose from 56.7 to 59.6 (SAP09) between 2009 and 2011.

Energy efficiency for households also improved as the average SAP rating for all occupied dwellings increased from 57 in 2009 to 61 2011; this was most notable in dwellings with household reference persons aged 75 or older where there was a four point increase in SAP rating from 54 to 58 (SAP09).

However, whilst progress had been sustained across most sectors of the housing market there was a notable decline in some of the key energy-related features found in vacant dwellings. This reflects the number of older, poorer quality properties that are increasingly being left vacant.

Moreover, households living in dwellings with lower energy efficiency ratings remain the most vulnerable groups where the household reference person was elderly, retired or on low income.



appendices

APPENDIX A The Conduct of the Survey

Surveyor Training

A total of 18 professional surveyors were employed to work on the 2011 House Condition Survey (HCS), all of whom had worked on the 2006 and 2009 surveys. Surveyors employed were Environmental Health Officers, chartered surveyors or architects.

Four experienced supervisors were re-appointed, all having carried out this role for the 2006 and 2009 surveys. Each supervisor was responsible for advising surveyors and ensuring their work was of a consistent and satisfactory quality.

All surveyors attended a two and a half day prebriefing session in May 2011. The purpose of the training was to introduce updates to the e-form and website software and to discuss changes to the form since 2009. The training also included a review of the more complex aspects of the form such as the Housing Health and Safety Rating System and energy sections and also a refresher on interviewing techniques.

The training was conducted by the Building Research Establishment (BRE), Housing Executive Research staff and the HCS supervisors. The training included test inspections of selected dwellings.

The training was in two stages. After the main session of updates and reviews of the survey form, surveyors were asked to complete three surveys of dwellings on their tablet over the period of a week. After this a further one-day training session covered any problems encountered by the surveyors with the e-form or the website.

Fieldwork

Fieldwork began in June and was completed by October 2011.

Each surveyor was responsible for between 20 and 215 full inspections depending on whether they were contracted on a part time or full time basis.

They were required to work in at least two sample areas to reduce likelihood of differences between areas being the result of surveyor variability.

In 2011 (as in previous years) a system of 'payment by result' was used and there were four different rates of payment;

- Full physical inspection and household survey
- Full physical inspection but no household survey
- Full physical inspection of vacant dwellings
- Refusal/non-response

A property could be classified as a non-response only after a minimum of five visits. Surveyors were required to complete the first two pages of the survey form and take at least one photograph for all dwellings. These photographs were to be an important part of the data quality assurance.

Each surveyor issued a letter and a leaflet to each household selected explaining the purpose of the survey 1-2 weeks prior to calling out.

Surveyors uploaded their completed forms to a secure website on a daily basis. Initial quality assurance checks were carried out by surveyors on the tablet p.c. The surveyors also completed further quality assurance and validation checks after the form had been uploaded to the website. Surveyors, on completion of their own checks, sent forms to their supervisors. Supervisors were then responsible for checking key technical data and completing and correcting as appropriate, in consultation with the surveyor.

Each survey form was registered on a secure website using a unique schedule number. The website was designed to provide information on how the fieldwork was progressing, giving details by surveyor of the number of forms uploaded, or being validated, sent on to supervisor or completed.

Data Preparation and Validation

Further post-validation checks and analysis by the Research Unit indicated that, following validation, data quality was high.



NIHCS 2011

APPENDIX B THE SURVEY FORM



Northern Ireland House Condition Survey 2011

Please write address here	Surveyor Name
	Surveyor Number

1. Survey record Household Internal External Date Start time Finish time inspection inspection interview Day Month Hrs Mins Hrs Mins Full Partial None Full Partial None Full Partial None First visit 1 2 3 2 3 2 3 1 1 Last visit 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 Inspection outcome 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 Total number of visits

Survey Outcome

	Pro	oblems of acc	ess		(Other problem	s		
Full survey	No contact made	Access refused to surveyor	Access refused at NIHE	Address untraceable	Dwelling derelict	Dwelling demolished	No longer usable as a dwelling	Other	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	
Number of	photograph	is taken		Compass R	eading	N Inc	come Complet	ed 1	2

											· ·	2
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	W	E HMO form	1	2
									SW S	Photos taken	1	2

Settlement Type

Uri	ban	Ru	ıral	
BMA	District town / Other town	Small rural settlement	Isolated rural	Clear
1	2	3	4	5

2. First impression of condition / Capital Value

Seriously defective	/ }	Defe	ective	Acce	ptable	s	Satisf	actory			
1		2	3	4	5	6		7	7		
Capital	Is the c	dwelling i	n accord with	n the Capital Va	lue?						
value	Yes	1 -		nspect this dw	elling						
	No	2									
	Is there	e another	dwelling on	the plot that be	etter matches t	he Capita	al Val	ue?			
	Yes	1 -		s this a viable	dwelling?	Yes	1			Inspe	ct this dwelling
	No	2				No	2				
							-				
	Inspec	t original	dwelling			Inspect of	origin	al dwe	lling		
OFFICE	USE	ONLY									
Address of	on PRA	WL datab	ase? Yes	No Address	s on Grants da	tabase?	Yes	No	Х Соо	rdinate	
Prop ref n	umber			Grants r	number				Ү Соо	rdinate	
Prop code	•		Tenant Se	old Grant ty	ре	Renovat	tion F	isabled acilities	Pointe	er UPRN	
Date of sa	le			Date of from VI	construction ∆				Postco	ode	

3. Dwelling description and occupancy

Type of occupancy (clarify with household)	Single family dwelling 1	Shared house 2	Household with lodgers 3	Bedsits or flatlets 4	Purpose built with shared amenities 5	Hostel/ B&B 6
				Close with house	ehold and refer addre	ss to Supervisor

Dwelling type (clarify with household)

		House/b	ungalow				Flat	
End terrace	Mid terrace	Mid terrace w. passage	Semi detached	Detached	Temporary	Purpose built	Converted	Non residential plus flat
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

Bungalow? Y N

1

Tenure (clarify with household)

Owner	Private	Housing	Housing
occupied	rented	Executive	association
1	2	3	4

Construction date (clarify with household)

Dro 1010	1010 1011	1045 1064	1065 1074	1075 1090	1001 1000	1001 2000	2001 2011			
Ple 1919	1919-1944	1945-1964	1905-1974	1975-1960	1901-1990	1991-2000	2001-2011			
				_		_		If Post 1990	 	
1	2	3	4	5	6	/	8	specify year		
									 	-

Source of information

Occupancy (ask where possible)

	Occupied				Vacant			
		Awaiting	Awaiting	Awaiting	Being	New never	Being used for	Other (specify)
	1	2	another tenant	4	5	6	other purpose 7	8
							-	
	If occupied: have the curre lived here?	how long nt occupants	Years Month		If vacant: how the dwelling be	w long has Y een vacant? boarded up/sec	Vears Months	
Ре	rmanent res	idence?		> If	occupants have m	noved in within th	ne last 6 months,	ask for date:-
	Yes	No - second home	No - holiday home		Г	Day Month	Year	

Source of information on tenure and occupancy

3

2

Occupant	Neighbour	Caretaker/	Estimate/	Other (specify):
1	2	warden/agent 3	appearance 4	5

IDENTIFY MODULE NOW

4. Is address one dwelling?



Interior 5.

S. Interior	roi	om	Kito	hen	Red	room	Bath	room	Ci
Does room exist?	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y
Level (B, G, 1, 2, 3 etc)									
Function (L, K, S, T, D, B, U, C, X)									
Room inspected?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y
Ceiling height (metres)					1				
Width (metres)	•			•					
Depth (metres)	-								
Ceilings (answer in tenths) Faults?	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y
Take down and renew									
Isolated repair, fill cracks									
Leave									
Floors (answer in tenths)									L_
Solid floors?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y
Faults?	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	γ
Replace structure									
Replace only boards or screed									
Leave									
									L
Faults?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ
Rebuild partition wall									
Hack-off, replaster									
Isolated repair, fill cracks			-						
Leave									┝
Dry lining present?	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Ŋ
Internal insulation	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y
Doors (answer in numbers)									
Faults?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ
Renew									
Repair/rehang									
Windows/Frames									
Faults?	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	γ
Means of escape?	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y
Secondary glazing for sound insulation?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y
Heating & Services									
CH/prog. appliance?	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Ì
Fixed other heater? Fluorescent/low energy lighting?	Ý	N	Ý	N N	Ý	N	Ϋ́	N N	۲ ۷
	1	IN	-	IN	-	TN	1	T N	
	Liv	ing							

11	^ t	^	0	
		-		
_	•••	v	•	~

Detects	room	Kitchen	Degroom	Daurroom	Circulation
Rising (ground level) damp	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Penetrating (higher level) damp	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Serious condensation/mould growth	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Inadequate natural light	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Inadequate artificial light	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Inadequate room ventilation	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Inadequate appliance ventilation	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Wood boring insect attack	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Dry/wet rot	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Evidence of mice	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Evidence of rats	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y



									Habitable	3		
al	Integral balcony	Extra room 1	Extra	Extra room 3	Extra room 4	Extra room 5	Extra	Extra room 7	rooms (specify No)		
Ν	ΥŃ	ΥN	ΥN	ΥN	ΥN	YN	ΥN	ΥN				
						L						
									Separabl units?	e		
									YN			
	Stairs	: with	in dw	ellina					Bedroo	ms		
	Pre	sent?		cining				YN	(specify	no.)		
	Ope	en Plan?)					ΥN	1			
	Fau	lts?						YN				
	Rep	place str	ucture ads					Y				
	Rep	place tre	aus Iustrade	s				Y				
	Rep	air/refix	treads/b	balustrac	des			Ý				
	C		ala. II						-			
	Secu	ity of	awell	Ing	Eairly bia	- Fairly low	Low	Vorulow	Not Applia			
	Main er	trance o	door	1	2	3	4	5	Not Applic			
	Other e	xternal o	doors	1	2	3	4	5	8			
	Accessi	ble wind	lows	1	2	3	4	5	8			
	Bur	Burglar alarm pr Door viewer pre Smoke detector(Carbon monoxid cessibility Flush threshold		ent?				ΥN]			
	Doc	Burglar alarm pr Door viewer pres Smoke detector(Carbon monoxid cessibility Flush threshold		t?				Y N				
	Car	bon moi	noxide d	etector				Y N				
	Acces	ssibili	tv					1 14	1			
	Flus	sh threst	-) 10ld <15	imm?				YN	1			
	Roc	om on er	ntrance	level sui	table fo	r bedroc	m?	ΥN				
	Bat	hroom a	t entran	ce level?	?			Y N				
	Wh	at entra eelchair	ance leve accessi	er? ble WC	at entra	Y N						
	Cha	ange in f	loor leve	el/trip ste	eps at e	Y N						
	Doc	orsets ar	nd circul	ation me	et part	R?		ΥN				
	Stra	ight stai	irs with I	andings	>900m	ım?		YN				
	Adap	tation	s for o	disable	ed pe	ople						
	Rar	nps?						Y N				
	Gra	b rails?	ugh flog	vr lift?				Y N Y N				
	Hoi	sts?	iugii noc	/ ///				Y N				
	Eleo	ctrical m	odificati	ons?				ΥN]			
							Oinnife and		Qi-sife satte			
	ппэг	(5					lower risk	risk	higher risk			
	Fall	ina on s	tairs etc				1	2	3			
	Fall	ing on le	evel surf	aces			1	2	3			
	Fall	ing betw	een lev	els			1	2	3			
	Fire	nos hot	surface	e oto			1	2	3			
	Dar	np and r	nould a	rowth			1	2	3			
	Ent	ry by int	ruders				1	2	3			
	Noi	se					1	2	3			
	Coll	isions a	na entra	ipment			1	2	3			
				If	'3' cc		RS in Sc	ection 22)			
					0,50	510 1110		.0001122				
						Significantly	Average	Significantly	Fxtreme			
						lower risk than average	risk	higher risk than average	risk			
								5.				

	than average	risk	than average	ris	SK
Excess heat	1	2	3	2	1
Lighting	1	2	3	2	1
Domestic hygiene, pests and refuse	1	2	3	2	1
	Describe	'extreme	risk' in Se	ectio	n 22
Rats and Mice	Traps se	een?		Υ	Ν
	Chemic	als seer	1?	Υ	Ν
Type of evidence	Other vis	sual evic	lence?	Υ	Ν
	Told abo	out it?		Υ	Ν

5. Interior – amenities

Kitchen amen	itchen amenities Action Drinking water supply pipework																				
			Pres	ent	Wor	king	None	Minor repair	Major repair	Replace	Install	1			Pipe se	work	Le pre	ead sent	Mai	ns	
Cold water drinking	supply	?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	Befor	e stop	ocock?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	
Hot water?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	After	stopc	ock?	Y	Ν	Y	N			
Sink?			Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	1	2		4	5	Main	cook	er fuel t	уре						
Fixed waste?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2		4	5	Elec	tric	Oil	Solid	Fuel	Main	s gas	LPC bottlec	G / I gas	Other
Cooking provision?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	1		2	;	3	4	4	5		6
Cupboards?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	Y	N A	Adequat	e coo	oker	spac	e?			
Worktop			Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	Y	N /	Adequat	e cup	oboa	rd un	its?	Vorkte	n (m	otros)
Extractor fan?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν						Onde	1	2	om	0,	3		VOIRIO	φ (<i>m</i>	ieuesj
Washing Machine?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν		Are the	re signif	icant pr	oblems	with: S	pace		YN	N	Kitch	en ac	lapted	Y	' N
Tumble Dryer?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν						La	ayout		Y N	N	tor ai	sable	a use	? <u> </u>	
Refrigerator?			Y	Ν	Y	Ν						С	leana	bility	Y N	N					
	Origina		Pre 19	60	1960)'s	1970's	1980's	1990's	2000's	2010's	In progress	Δ	Actual da	ate of	f					
Ritchen amenities last refurbished	9		1		2		3	4	5	6	7	8	k n	titchen r nent (if l	efurb know	ish- n)	L				
Bathroom am	eniti	ies							Action				F	loor							No. of
	Pres	ent	Wor	rking	Hot w	& cold ater	None	Minor repair Ma	ajor repair Rep	lace Insta	II Basement	t Ground	Spec	cify		_	Badly locate	∮ d?		_	external surfaces
Bath/shower?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2	4	1 5	BB	GG					Y	Ν			
Wash hand basin?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	1	2	4	4 5	BB	GG			Interna	al?	Close	to 2	In	lf b n2 Ext	WC not in athroom:
W.C.?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν			1	2	3 4	4 5	BB	GG			Y	N	Y	N .	1 Y	N N	Y N
Extractor fan in bathroom?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν			A	e there s	significa	nt probl	ems witł	h: Space	e	Y	N	ls an	iv batl	hroon	n adar		
												Layou	ut	Y	N	ted for	or dis	abled	use?	L	T IN
												Clear	nability	Y Y	Ν	ls an	y batł	۱room	whee	: -	
												Locat	ion	Y	Ν	chair	acce	ssible	?	L	
	Origina	I	Pre 19	60	1960)'s	1970's	1980's	1990's	2000's	2010's	In progress		Actual c	date o	of					
Bath/shower last refurbished	9		1		2		3	4	5	6	7	8		bath/sho refurbis known)	ower hmer	nt (if					
Secondary an	neni	tie	S				Hot & cold	4	Action				F	loor			In hor	droom/			_
Second kitchen?			Pre	sent	Wo	rking	water	None	Minor repair	Major repair	r Replace	Basemen	t Gr	round	Specify	y	en-s	suite			
Second hath/showor?			Y	IN N	V	NI	Y N	1	2	3	4	BB		30		-	V	NI			
Second wash hand ha	isin?		Y	N N	Y	N N	Y N	1	2	3	4	BB				-	Y	N N			
Second W.C.2			T V		T V	IN NI	T IN	1	2	2	4			30		-	T V		ln V	iternal?	, _]
0000Hu W.O.!			T	ÎN	T	IN			2	3	4	DD		30			ľ	IN	ľ		•
HHSRS - haza	SRS - hazards relating to whole dwelling interior																				
Hazards th	nat m	ay	requ	iire	scoi	ring						Significant lower risk than average	ly Ave c r ge	erage S isk ł th	lignificar higher ris an avera	ntly sk age					

Hazards that may require scoring

Other hazards that may pose an extreme risk

Falls associated with baths etc.

Personal hygiene, sanitation and drainage

Position and operability of amenities

Water Supply

Food Safety



Average risk Significantly lower risk than average Extreme risk Significantly higher risk than average 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 2 3 4 1 2 4 1 3

Describe 'extreme risk' in Section 22

5. Interior - Primary services

Gas system				Nono	A Minor Popair	ction Major Popair	Poplaco			
	Present? Y	Mains supply?	YN	1	2	3	4			
		Maine suppry.			_		· · ·			
	Housing Ho	ealth and Safety R	ating Syster	n (HHSRS)	s tr	Significantly Average S lower risk risk nan average th	ignificantly Extreme higher risk risk an average			
				Uncombusted	fuel gas	1 2	3 4			
				Explosions	L	1 2	3 4			
					[Describe 'extreme ri	sk' in Section 22			
Electrical system	n	_								
	Present? Y	Norma	al mains supp	oly? Y N	0	ff-peak supply	? Y N			
	Location of met	ters	Under stairs	Special curboard	External	Mixture	Unknown			
			or on wai	cupboard	to meter					
			1	2	3	4	5			
	Type of wiring		Lead or rubber covered	PVC sheathed		Mixture	Unknown			
			1	2		4	5			
	Earthing wires		Unsheathed or green	Yellow and green sheath		Mixture	Unknown			
			1	2		4	5			
	Consumer unit	arrangement	Separate fuse boxes for each circuit	One or two "covered boxes"	One or two "accessible boxes"	Mixture	Unknown			
			1	2	3	4	5			
	Overload prote	ction	Wire fuses	Cartridge fuses	MCB's	Mixture	Unknown			
			1	2	3	4	5			
	Personal protect	otion	No RCD's	RCD in consumer unit	Separate RCD's	Mixture	Unknown			
			1	2	3	4	5			
	Power sockets		Round 2 or 3 pin	Square 3 pin		Mixture	Unknown			
			1	2		4	5			
	Lighting circuits	;	Wooden mounting	Flush mounted switches or		Mixture	Unknown			
			blocks 1	roses 2		4	5			
			None	Minor Repair	Major Repair	Replace	Install			
	Action		1	2	3	4	5			
	Housing H	ealth and Safety R	ating Syster	m (HHSRS)	S	Significantly Average S lower risk risk	Significantly Extreme higher risk risk			
				Electric	cal safety	than average than average				
						Describe 'extreme risk' in Section 22				
					L	socombe extreme ns	1 11 0000011 22			

Cavity wall insulation

Is there any evidence of cavity wall insulation in/around the electricity or gas meters?



Ventilation

Total number of open fireplaces



5. Interior – space heating

Note of the instant source in white? Present? Individual Version? Y N If present: Y N If present: Primary heating group Central heating Storage Warm air Communal Electricity Communal Distribution type Relations A for a solid fuel Condensing	Primary heating							Location of system						nunal,	nunal,							
Present? is household if present: if present: if present: Primary heating group Central heating Storage if present: Primary heating if primary heating Primary heating if primary heating Primary heating if present: Primary heating if present: Primary heati						l	Main hea in winter	at source ?		Indiv	vidual		Estat	e	BI	ock	Gro	מטס	of	numb dwel	er of ings	
If present: V N I Z 3 4 If present: Primary heating group Central heating (well with rate) Storage heaters Warm air 2 Communal 4 Electric caling/ underfloor Reduetors Gas Oil Storage 1 Reduetors Linderfloor Communal Dual Marine Bulk Bottled UP LDG Oil Coal Smoke free Arthractic Wood Economy Home Free Primary VILL Coal Smoke free Or 08 01 11 12 13 14 15 Secondary Primary heating type Standard Back boiler Combinishing Combinishing Combinishing Combinishing No boiler Unknown 1 2 3 4 - 7 9 CRITICAL INFORMATION for combinishing group FROM TABLE No boiler Unknown Adian - <			Prese	ent?			(ask hou	isehold)			1				2.	0	dwe	elling	js	ser	ved	
If present: Primary heating group Central heating heaters Storage heaters Warm air Communal Communal Electric celling? Room heaters a Room heaters heaters Distribution type Image: Storage 1 Image: Storage beaters Image: Storage beaters Image: Storage beaters Image: Storage 3 Image: Storage 4 Image: Storage 5 Image: Storage 6 Image: Storage 5 Image: Storage 6 Image: Storage 7 Image:			Ŷ	Ν	If pres	ent:	YI	Ν			1		2			3		4				
Primary heating group wet with radio heaters a a a a b a a a b a <th>If prese</th> <th>ent:</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>Cen</th> <th>tral heat</th> <th>ina</th> <th>Sto</th> <th>rade</th> <th>V</th> <th>Varm</th> <th>air</th> <th>Com</th> <th>munal/</th> <th>Electri</th> <th>c cei</th> <th>ilina/ F</th> <th>Room hea</th> <th>ters</th> <th></th>	If prese	ent:					Cen	tral heat	ina	Sto	rade	V	Varm	air	Com	munal/	Electri	c cei	ilina/ F	Room hea	ters	
Image: control is control in the control is control in the cont	•		Prim	nary h	eating	grou	p (we	t with ra	ds)	hea	iters		0		С	HP	und	erflo	or	0		
Distribution type Radiators Underfloor Gas Oil Solid fuel Electricity Communal Dual Mains Bulk Bothed Coal Similare free Antimacile Wood Electricity Communal Dual 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 Secondary 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 11 12 13 14 15 Secondary Primary heating type 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 Action Condensing Condensing Combine during Age Clainfy with household 1 2 3 4 - 9 - - 9 Primary heating distribution Manufacturer name: Manufacturer name: Manufacturer Age								1		-	2		3			4		5		6		
Primary heating fuel Communal Dual Gas 01 Coal Solid fuel Electricity Communal Dual Mains Buik Bottled Coal Smoke Anthracitle Wood Economy Hende Eco Other CHPWassle From Primary heating type Sandard Go 01 05 uit Go Other ChPWassle From Primary Standard Back bolier (contination Condensing) Condensing Combined primary storage No bolier Unknown 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 CRITICAL INFORMATION FROM TABLE Manufacturer name: 1 2 3 4 1 0				Dis	tributio	n type	, F	adiators 1	;	Unde	erfloor 2											
Gas Oil Solid fuel Electricity Community Dual Mains Buik Bottled Cas Smoke Antinacite Wood Comm Home Eco Other CHPWasse Primary Primary Primary Home Eco Other CHPWasse Primary Present? Present? Present?	Prima	ry he	ating f	fuel						_	-							7				_
Mains Bulk Bolted Colled Colled Colled Primary Primary 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 12 13 14 15 Secondary Primary heating type Standard (no condensing) Back boller Combination (non condensing) Condensing Condensing Combination (non condensing) No boller Unknown 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 Combination (non condensing) Condensing Condensing Condensing No boller Unknown 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 CRITICAL INFORMATION FROM TABLE Primary heating appliance Code 1 2 3 4 - Primary heating distribution Manufacturer name: 1 2 3 4 - Primary heating controls (non storage heaters) Present? Manual charge control Y N U Boler themostat <		Gas		Oil		Smok	olid fu	ıel				Elect	ricity		_	Comm	unal	_		Dual		_
01 02 03 04 05 Tuell tool 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 Secondary Primary heating type Standard (non condensing) Back boller Combination (non condensing) Condensing (non condensing) Condensing primary storage unit No boller Unknown 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 Action From TABLE Primary heating appliance First digit should match code for primary heating group FROM TABLE Now Action Age Clarify with household 1 2 3 4 - - - - - Primary heating group Manufacturer name: -<	Mains	Bulk LPG	Bottled		Coal	less	Antl	hracite	Wood	Eco	nomy 7	Home energy	Ec ene	o Ot rav	ther C	HP/Waste heat	From boile	ו r	F	Primary		
Primary heating type Standard (non condensing) Back boiler Combination (non condensing) Condensing Condensing Combined primary storage No boiler Unknown 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 CRITICAL INFORMATION FROM TABLE Code 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 </td <td>01</td> <td>02</td> <td>03</td> <td>04</td> <td>05</td> <td>tuel 06</td> <td></td> <td>07</td> <td>08</td> <td>0</td> <td>)9</td> <td>10</td> <td>1'</td> <td>1 1</td> <td>12</td> <td>13</td> <td>14</td> <td></td> <td>15 Se</td> <td>econdary</td> <td></td> <td></td>	01	02	03	04	05	tuel 06		07	08	0)9	10	1'	1 1	12	13	14		15 Se	econdary		
Standard (non condensing) Back boiler (non condensing) Condensing (non condensing) Condensing (non condensing) Condensing (non condensing) Condensing (non condensing) Condensing (non condensing) Condensing (non condensing) No boiler Unknown 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 CRITICAL INFORMATION Frimary heating appliance First digit should match code for primary heating group FROM TABLE Action (non expert Migor repar 1 2 3 4 - Primary heating distribution for primary heating controls (non storage heaters) Present? Manufacturer name: Model name/number: 1 2 3 4 -	Prima	rv he	ating f	tvpe																		
(non condensing) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 CRITICAL INFORMATION FROM TABLE Primary heating appliance First digit should match code for primary heating group Primary heating distribution If boiler driven system: Boiler Menufacturer name: Model name/number: Primary heating controls (<i>non storage heaters</i>) Present? Primary heating controls (<i>non storage heaters</i>) Present? Veral on/off Y N U No Primary heating controls (<i>storage heaters</i>) Present? Manual charge control Y N U No Description Manual charge control Y N U No Description No Description No Type of system No Description No No Description No <p< td=""><td>Star</td><td>ndard</td><td>Ba</td><td>ck boil</td><td>er</td><td>Com</td><td>oinatio</td><td>n (</td><td>Conde</td><td>nsing</td><td></td><td>Conde</td><td>ensing</td><td>]</td><td>Com</td><td>bined</td><td>N</td><td>lo bo</td><td>oiler</td><td>Un</td><td>known</td><td></td></p<>	Star	ndard	Ba	ck boil	er	Com	oinatio	n (Conde	nsing		Conde	ensing]	Com	bined	N	lo bo	oiler	Un	known	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9 CRITICAL INFORMATION First digit should match code for primary heating group FROM TABLE Action Action Age Clairify with household 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 Primary heating group I 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 Primary heating group Manufacturer name: 1 2 3 4 1	(non cor	ndensin	g)		(r	non co	ndensi	ing)				Cor	mbi	р	rimary u	storage nit						
CRITICAL INFORMATION FROM TABLE Primary heating appliance Code Note More repair More		1		2			3		4			5	5		(6		7			9	
Primary heating appliance First digit should match code for primary heating group Manufacturer name: I	CRIT	ICAL	INFO	RMA [.]	TION		FR	ом т	ABLI	E		None	Minor	ACTIO repair N	on 1ajor repa	ir Replace	A	ge ◄		Clarify w househo	ith Id	
First digit should match code for primary heating group 1 2 3 4 Primary heating group If boiler driven system: Boiler Model name/number: Model name/number: Primary heating controls (nor storage heaters) Present? Overall on/off Verall on/off Verall on/off Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Manual charge control Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N Y N <t< td=""><td>Prim</td><td>arv h</td><td>eating</td><td>app</td><td>liance</td><td>9</td><td></td><td>Code</td><td>;</td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>:</td><td>2</td><td>3</td><td>4</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Prim	arv h	eating	app	liance	9		Code	;			1	:	2	3	4						
for primary heating group 1 2 3 4 Primary heating distribution If boiler driven system: Boiler Manufacturer name: Model name/number: Model name/number: Present? Overall on/off Verall on/off Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Manual charge control Y N U Automatic charge control Y N U Celect type control Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U Dther heating Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Type of system Type of system Main acting to provide the mostat Y N Difference fore Vortifies the mostat Y N U Deter heating Present? Present	First d	ligit sho	ould mat	ch co	de																	
Primary heating distribution Manufacturer name: If boiler driven system: Boiler Model name/number: Model name/number: Model name/number: Primary heating controls (non storage heaters) Primary heating controls (storage heaters) Present? Y N Overall on/off Y N Boiler thermostat Y N Timer Y N Room thermostat Y N Radiator controls (manual) Y N Tree and temperature zone control Y N Delayed start thermostat Y N Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N Y N U Type of system Type of system	for prii	mary h	eating g	roup			L					1	:	2	3	4		1				
If boiler driven system: Boiler Manufacturer name: Model name/number: Model name/number: Overall on/off Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Image: State of thermostat Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Type of system Main use firm LDC Firstein beatrage Difficit beatrage Y N U Type of system	Prima	Primary heating distribution																				
Model name/number: Model name/number: Primary heating controls (nor storage heaters) Present? Primary heating controls (storage heaters) Present? Overall on/off Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Immer Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Rodiator controls (manual) Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Type of system Present Present Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N U Type of system Type of system	If boil	er dri	ven sv	/sten	n. Boile	ar I	/lanufac	cturer nar	ne:													
Primary heating controls (non storage heaters) Present? Primary heating controls (storage heaters) Present? Overall on/off Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Timer Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Rodiator controls (manual) Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Type of system			ven oj	,5101	Doine	M	lodel na	ame/numl	ber:	1	1	1			1	1.1	1	T	1	1.1	1	1
Overall on/off Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Timer Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Y N U	Prima	ry he	ating	conti	rols (I	non	stora	age he	eater	rs)			Ρ	rima	ry he	eating	cont	rol	s (st	orage	heate	ers)
Overall on/off Y N U Boiler thermostat Y N U Timer Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U TRVs / appliance thermostat Y N U Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Type of system		-	_			Prese	ent?	-		-								Pres	ent?	-		
Boiler thermostat Y N U Timer Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U TRVs / appliance thermostat Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Type of system	Overall	on/off				Y N	U						M	anual cl	harge c	ontrol	Y	' N	1 U			
Timer Y N U Manual override on timer Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U TRVs / appliance thermostat Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Y N	Boiler th	nermosta	ıt		Ľ	Y N	U						Αι	utomatic	charg	e control	Y	' N	1 U			
Manual override on timer Y N U Room thermostat Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U TRVs / appliance thermostat Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Type of system	Timer					Y N	U						Ce	elect typ	oe conti	rol	Y	'N	۱ U			
Room thermostat Y N U Radiator controls (manual) Y N U TRVs / appliance thermostat Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Y Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Y Delayed start thermostat Y N Y N U Y N U Type of system Nain heat source in winter?	Manual	override	on timer		`	Y N	U															
Radiator controls (manual) Y N U TRVs / appliance thermostat Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Y N U Other heating Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Y N Type of system Delivid for the store Delivid for the store Delivid for the store 120	Room th	hermosta	at		•	Y N	U															
TRVs / appliance thermostat Y N U Time and temperature zone control Y N U Delayed start thermostat Y N U Other heating Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Y N Y N Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Y N Delayed start thermostat Y N U Y N U Y N Delayed start thermostat Y N U Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Type of system Delid for the start Delid for the start	Radiato	r control	s (manual)		Y N	U															
Time and temperature zone control Delayed start thermostat Time and temperature zone control Y N U Y N	TRVs /	applianc	e thermos	tat	•	Y N	U															
Delayed start thermostat Y N Other heating Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Type of system	Time an	nd tempe	rature zor	na contr	rol ,	Y N	U															
Other heating Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Type of system Neine geo firms LDC	Delever			ie conti		Y N	-															
Other heating Present? Main heat source in winter? (ask household) Y N Y N Type of system	Delayed	a start th	ermostat				0															
Y N Y N Type of system Delist first bestern Delist first bestern	Other	heat	ng F	Present	? Mai	n heat :	source	in winter	? (ask ł	nouse	hold)											
				Y N	ΙY	Ν				Туре	e of s	vstem										
mains gas mes					Mains g	jas fire	s					LP	G	Ele	ectric h	eaters	Sol	id fu	el heat	ers LPG	1	
Open Balanced Fan Cond- Live Live Decorative Flueless Unknown Fixed Panel, Portable Individual Open Stove/ Portable Other	Open	Balance	d Fan	Con	d- Li	ve	Live	Decorativ	e Flue	less l	Jnknov	n Fixe	ed	Panel,	Porta	ble Individ	ual O	pen	Stov	e/ Portab	Oth	er
flue flue assisted ensing effect - effect fan open to sealed to assisted chimney heaters or radiant fire space heaters	flue	flue	assisted	l ensir	ng effe seale	ect - ef ed to a	fect fan ssisted	open to chimne) /			heat	ers co O	onvector r radian	r t	storaç heate	ge f er	ire	spac heat	er heater	s	
01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17	01	02	03	04	chim 0	nney 5	flue 06	07	0	8	09	1(11	12	13		14	15	16	17	7
			A =4							141-	a se al d	2 of c t			1		Sign	ificantly		ne Significar	tly Extra	me

	Act	ion		Δαe	Housing Health and Safety		Significantly lower risk	Average risk	Significantly higher risk	Extreme risk
None	Minor repair	Major repair	Replace	nge	Rating System (HHSRS)		than average		than average	
1	2	3	4			Carbon monoxide and	1	2	3	4
	_	-	-			fuel combustion products				
							Describe '	extreme	risk' in Sec	tion 22

Hot water system	Pres	sent?														
	Y	Ν														
If present indicate all	sys	sten	ns avai	lable									Act	tion		
	Pres	sent?				F	uel					None	Minor repair	Major repair	Replace	Age
Boiler with central heating	Y	Ν														
Boiler (water heating only)	Y	Ν	Mains gas 01	Bulk LPG 02	Bottled gas 03	Oil 04	Coa 05	al Sm	nokeless 06	Anthracite 07	Wood 08	1	2	3	4	
Back boiler (water heating only)	Y	Ν	Mains gas 01	Bulk LPG 02	Bottled gas 03	Oil 04	Coa 05	al Sm	nokeless 06	Anthracite 07	Wood 08	1	2	3	4	
Single immersion heater	Y	Ν	Standard 09	7 hr tariff 10	10 hr tariff 11	24 hr tari 12	f					1	2	3	4	
Dual immersion heater	Y	Ν		7 hr tariff 10	10 hr tariff 11	24 hr tari 12	f					1	2	3	4	
Separate instantaneous heater (Single point)	Y	N	Mains gas 01	Bulk LPG 02	Bottled gas 03	Oil 04	Stand 09	ard				1	2	3	4	
Separate instantaneous heater (Multi point)	Y	Ν	Mains gas 01	Bulk LPG 02	Bottled gas 03	Oil 04	Stand 09	ard				1	2	3	4	
Communal	Y	Ν	CHP/waste 13	From boiler 14												
Other	Y	N	Specify:							Fuel from facing page	1					
Cylinder present?	lf c see	ylin en:	ider _{Si}	ze/volume	450 x (1	900mm 10 I) 1	450 x (1	1050m 40 l) 2	ım 450	0 x 1500mm (210 l) 3	450 x (2	1650mr 45 I) 4	n			
Y N U			Cylinder	insulatior	Factory	oam insulated 1	Ja Loos	acket e jacke 2	et	Other 3	N	one 4				
	Cyl	linder	insulation	thickness	s 0 1	12.	5mm 2	25m 3	nm :	38mm 4	50mm 5	80r	nm 3	100m 7	ım 1	50mm 8
Water heating control	ls?		Present?					0		· .	5		-			Ţ
Time clock for water heati	ng		Y N l	J												
Cylinder thermostat			Y N l	ains gas 01 Bulk LPG 02 Bottled gas 03 Oil 04 Standard 09 1 2 3 4 ains gas 01 02 Bottled gas 03 Oil 04 Standard 09 1 2 3 4 ains gas 01 02 Bottled gas 03 Oil 04 Standard 09 1 2 3 4 IP/waste from boiler 13 14 Image:												

6. Loft inspection Inspect <u>all</u> houses and top floor flats

	Hou Bung	ise/ alow	Top f	loor flat	Mid flo	oor flat	Ground	floor flat	Basem	ent flat		
	1			2	:	3	2	1		5		
						G	SO TO SI	ECTION	7			
Type of loft	Fully	boarded		No boardi partial boa 2	ng or arding	Rooi perma	m(s) with inent stai 3	rs sha	o loft (flat allow pitch 4	or very ned roof)		
								G	D TO SEC	TION 7		
Roof insulation above living space?		Yes 1		No 2		Dor	n't know 9					
Type of loft Insulation	Minera fibre g 1	l wool/ glass	Vern be	niculite eads 2	High peri qı ;	formance uilt 3	Rigid boa	foam ard I	N appli	lot cable 8	Don't	know 9
Approximate thickness of loft insulation	No insulation 00	25mm 01	50mm 02	75mm 03	100mm 04	125mm 05	150mm 06	200mm 07	250mm 08	300mm 09	>300mm 10	Don't know thickness 99
Loft information from:	Ins	00 01 0: Inspection 1		Occupa 2	ant	no information 9						
Any roof structure problems seen?	Y N			ls	s there a	ny evide	ence of o	cavity w	all insula	ation in 1	he loft?	Y N
If yes , describe and transfer to Section 21												

7. Household questionnaire

I would now like to	ask you some questior	ns about	your hom	e and	the people	who live in it	t.				
Cooperated	Vacant	Occup	ant		Refused	Reasons(s)					
		tempor	arily								
1	2	awa 3	y		7						
O1 is this accommo	dation your household	l'e only r	osidonco2	,		Voc		1	G	, to 03	,
QT IS this accommo	dation your nousehold	is only n	esidence?	ſ		res		1	GC		
						NO Davit la		2	Go		
Q2 Is this accommo	odation					Don't kr	IOW	9	Go	to Q3	;
Your household's m	nain residence							1			
A home used for ho	olidays/weekends by yo	u or you	r family (f	or fo	ur weeks or	more per yea	ar)	2			
A home used for ho	lidays/weekends by ho	liday ma	kers (i.e. l	let ou	it on a comm	nercial basis))	3			
A home used for ho	lidays/weekends by yo	ur family	/ (less tha	n 4 w	veeks), & als	o holiday ma	kers	4			
(on a commercial ba	asis)										
A home used as an	alternative to your mai	n reside	nce in con	nnect	ion with you	r job but not	for	-			
holidays/weekends								5			
A home used by a s	student of a university of	or college	е					6			
Don't know								7			
(ASK ALL) Q3 Do you (or you	r family) own this dwel	rent it?									
Own property	outright	1	Go to G	24	llausian I				0	4- 00	halam
Buying with m	ortgage or loan	2	Go to C	24	Housing E	Executive ten	ant	4	Go		below
Co-Ownership)	3	Go to C	24	Private te	nant Nant si sti su t		5	Go		below
(ASK All OWNERS)							enani	0	Go		below
Q4 From whom did	you buy this dwelling?	,			Goes with			1	Go		below
Bought from the	e Housing Executive/				Other (Please specify) 6 Go to Qo						
Housing Associ	iation	1	Go to G	Q5a							
Bought from pro	evious private owner	2	Go to C	25a	(ASK ALL	TENANTS -	HE, H	A and F	Private		
Bought new fro	m builder/developer	3	Go to C	Q5a	Rented Se	ector)					
Inherited		4	Go to C	27	Q6a Wher	n did you (or	your	family)	first re	nt	
Other (Please s	pecify)	5	Go to C	27	this dwell	ing?	Year				
					l would no	ow like to ask	(you	some q	uestio	ns abo	out the ren
Q5a Is this dwelling (i.e. are you a first t	g your first home purcl ime buver?)	nase			you pay fe	or this home.					
	Yes	1			Q6b How	often is the r	ent p	aid for t	his ac	commo	odation?
	No	2						000	.le		I
									eK eke	1	
Q5b Did you (or yo	our family) rent this dw	ng it?				Four we	ake	2			
	Yes	1						Calenda	r month	3	
	No	2						Don't kn	ow	77	
					(Interviewer	check HB is not	naid)	l ive ren	free	5	Go to Q7
					(interviewer	SHOCK TID IS HOL	paid)	Live ren		3	
Q5c When did you	(or your family) buy th	is dwelli	ng? Go to	o Q7		much is the	wook	v forte	iahtlu	month	ly ront for
	Year				this accor	mmodation?	Amou	int to n	earest	£.	iy rent for
							Amo	unt (£)			Go to Q7
							Refu	sed	8	8	Go to Q7
		Don	't know 77 Go to			Go to Q7					

ASK ALL

Q7 Which of the following do you have in your home? (Read out list and ring all that apply)

SURVEYOR DOUBLE CHECK DWELLING FOR CAVITY WALL INSULATION

Cavity wall insulation	Y	Ν	DK	N/A
Loft insulation	Y	Ν	DK	N/A
Double glazing	Y	Ν	DK	
Draught stripping on external doors	Y	Ν	DK	
Draught stripping on windows	Y	Ν	DK	
Low energy light bulbs	Y	Ν	DK	IF YES, HOW MANY
Smoke alarm (battery)	Y	Ν	DK	IF YES, HOW MANY
Smoke alarm (mains)	Y	Ν	DK	IF YES, HOW MANY
Lead water pipes	Y	Ν	DK	
Mains drainage	Y	Ν	DK	If NO, ask type
Digital TV(Digital Box)	Y	Ν	DK	
Home computer	Y	Ν	DK	
Access to the internet	Y	Ν	DK	

The next questions are about repairs and improvements to your home.

Q8a Have any repairs or improvements been carried out to your home in the past 5 years by you or a landlord (if applicable)?

/es	1	Go to Q8b
No	2	Go to Q9
Don't know	8	Go to Q9

Q8b Which of the following repairs and/or improvements have been carried out by you or a landlord in the past 5 years? (Read out list and ring all that apply) SHOW CARD

Re-roofing/roof structure work	Y	Ν	DK	Providing or refitting bathroom	Y	Ν	DK
Structural repairs to walls, chimneys, foundations	Y	Ν	DK	Installing/replacing central heating	Y	Ν	DK
Repointing/rendering	Y	Ν	DK	Rearranging internal space/flat conversion	Y	Ν	DK
Replacing windows	Y	Ν	DK	Roof insulation	Y	Ν	DK
Replacing doors	Y	Ν	DK	Cavity wall insulation	Y	Ν	DK
Inserting/replacing damp proof course	Y	Ν	DK	Garage added	Y	Ν	DK
Internal plastering	Y	Ν	DK	Conservatory added	Y	Ν	DK
Putting in new floors	Y	Ν	DK	Extension (adding one or more rooms)	Y	Ν	DK
Electrical wiring	Y	Ν	DK	Combining two or more rooms	Y	Ν	DK
Providing or refitting kitchen	Y	Ν	DK	Other (please specify)			

Q8c Approximately how much did this work cost in total? (include VAT)

Less than £500	1	£5001-£10000	5	
£501-£1000	2	Over £10000	6	
£1001-£2000	3	DK	7	Go to Q9
£2001-£5000	4	Refused	8	Go to Q9

Q8d How much of the total cost of the work did you or your household pay?

All	1	Go to Q9
Some	2	Go to Q8e
None	8	Go to Q9

Q8e Approximately how much did this work cost your household (ie your contribution to the overall cost?)

Less than £500	1	£5001-£10000	5
£501-£1000	2	over £10000	6
£1001-£2000	3	DK	7
£2001-£5000	4	Refused	8

OWNERS GO TO Q9 RENTERS GO TO Q14

(ASK OWNERS)

Q9a	a Are you aware that grants may be available from the Housing Executive towards the cost of carrying out								
	work to your property	?							
		Yes	1	Go T	o Q9b				
(ASK	(IF YES)	No	2	Go T	o Q14a				
Q9b	If no Housing Executiv	ve grants were avai	able, wo	uld you co	nsider taking a low/ne	o interes	t or equity release loan in order		
	to carry out work to y	our home?							
		Yes		1					
		No		2					
		Don't know		9					
(ASK Q10	(IF YES to 9a) Have you applied for a	ı grant from the Ho	using Exc	ecutive in t	he last 5 years?				
		Yes		1	Go To Q11				
		No		2	Go To Q13				
		Don't know/Can't r	emembe	r 9	Go To Q14a				
(ASK	(IF YES)		_		1				
Q11	When did you apply?	Year]				
Q12	What was the outcome	9?					1		
		Still a	waiting	outcome		1			
		Exec	utive ref	used		2	All		
		Didn	t pursue	grant		3	go to		
Awarded grant and still doing work					loing work	4	Q14a		
		Awar	ded grar	nt and work	now completed	5			
		Othe	r (please	specify)		6			

ASK IF RESPONDENT HAS NOT APPLIED FOR GRANT Do not prompt: (Ring all that apply)

Q13	Why not? any other reasons?			
	Reason(s)			
	No major work was required on the house	Y	Ν	
	Didn't think the type of work which was required on the house would be grant-aided	Y	Ν	
	Because of means testing	Y	Ν	All
	Didn't want the inconvenience	Y	Ν	go to
	Heard that approval took too long	Y	Ν	Q14a
	Thought the cost of work would be too high relative to grant	Y	Ν	
	Previous grant - more than five years	Y	Ν	
	Other (please specify)	Y	Ν	

The next questions ask about heating in your home.

Q14a How satisfied are you with each of the following aspects of your heating system?

	Very Satisfied	Satisfied	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Very dissatisfied
The type of heating	1	2	3	4	5
The cost of running your system	1	2	3	4	5
The amount of heat that you can get	1	2	3	4	5
The control over the level of heat	1	2	3	4	5
The ease of use of the system	1	2	3	4	5

Q14b SHOWCARD

Generally speaking, during winter when heating needs are greatest, when would you or someone else in your household have your heating on to stay warm? (For each option ring one only)

All day/all the time
Weekday morning
Weekday lunchtime
Weekday afternoon



Weekday evenings Weekend daytimes Weekend evenings Don't know

1	2
1	2
1	2
1	

ASK ALL

Q15 SHOWCARD

Which of these methods do you mainly use to pay for your electricity? (Ring one only)

Direct debit	1	Fuel direct	7
Budget payment	2	Standing order	8
Easysaver / Energysaver Card	3	Telephone / On-line banking	9
Power card meter	4	Included with rent	10
Cash or cheque	5	No mains electricity	11
Key pad meters (Pay as you go)	6	Don't Know	12

Q16 SHOWCARD

REFER BACK TO SECTION 5 HEATING. ONLY ASK QUESTION 16 IF PRIMARY HEATING SERVICE IS MAINS GAS

Which of these methods do you mainly use to pay for your mains gas? (Ring one only)



Person	HRP	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Age last birthday	1									
Gender Male	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Female	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Relationship to Household Reference Person HRP	1									
Partner (married)		2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Partner (cohabiting)		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Partner (civil partnership)		4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
Child		5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5
Palein Other Relative		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
Lodger		8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
Other non-relative		9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9
Marital Status Single (never married)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Married	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Civil Partnership	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Separated / Divorced	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
Widowed (not legally remarried)	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5
Co-habiting	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Family Unit (See Surveyor Notes above)	1			_						
	'									
PERSONS AGED 16+ ONLY - Employment Status: Self-Employed	01	01	01	01	01	01	01	01	01	01
Working Full Time	02	02	02	02	02	02	02	02	02	02
Working Part Time	03	03	03	03	03	03	03	03	03	03
Not working - seeking work	04	04	04	04	04	04	04	04	04	04
Not working - not seeking work	05	05	05	05	05	05	05	05	05	05
Retired from work - excludes looking after family home Student (Further/Higher Education)	05	05	00	05	05	05	00	00	00	06 07
Perm Sick/Disabled	08	08	08	08	08	08	08	08	08	08
Looking after family/home	09	09	09	09	09	09	09	09	09	09
Other (including schoolchild)	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
How does the person usually travel to work? (16+ and working) (Tick one box for	the long	est part, b	y distanc	e, of the	usual jou	rney to w	ork)			
Work mainly at or from home	01	01	01	01	01	01	01	01	01	01
Train	02	02	02	02	02	02	02	02	02	02
Bus, minibus or coach (public or private)	03	03	03	03	03	03	03	03	03	03
Motorcycle, scooter or moped	04	04	04	04	04	04	04	04	04	04
Driving a car or van Passenger in car or van (Include sharing driving)	05	05	05	05	05	05	05	05	05	05
Bicvcle	07	00	07	07	07	07	07	07	07	07
On foot	08	08	08	08	08	08	08	08	08	08
Other	09	09	09	09	09	09	09	09	09	09
Not applicable (does not work)	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability whether the second se	hich has la	asted, or	is expecte	ed to last	, at least	12 month	is' (Includ	e probler	ns related	d to old
age)										
Yes, limited a lot	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Yes, limited a little	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	3	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	3	5
Do you have any of the following conditions which have lasted, or are expected to	o last, at	1000t 1'/ r	nonths?							
	1	least 121		1		1				1
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity)	1 2 2	1 2 2	1 2 3	1 2 3	1 2 2	1 2 3	1 2 3	1 2 3	1 2 3	1 2 3
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4	1 2 3 4
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5 hest num	1 2 3 4 5 ber used	1 2 3 4 5 by that p	1 2 3 4 5 erson)	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Free No aide	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe	1 2 3 4 5 erson cod	1 2 3 4 5 le the hig	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01	1 2 3 4 5 ber used	1 2 3 4 5 by that p	1 2 3 4 5 erson)	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3 4 5
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 le the hig 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 01 02
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (F No aids Stick Crutches	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe 01 02 03 04 04	1 2 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fi No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chain	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe 01 02 03 04 05 05	1 2 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 05	1 2 3 4 5 le the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery onwered scopter	1 2 3 4 5 0 0 1 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 0 1 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle	1 2 3 4 5 or each pu 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 e the higi 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (F- No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed	1 2 3 4 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (F No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fi No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chain Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed	1 2 3 4 5 5 r each pr 02 03 04 05 06 07 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	1 2 3 4 5 e the higi 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller	1 2 3 4 5 or each pu 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooler Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller	1 2 3 4 5 or each pu 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 cr	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 ie the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 07	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 07	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 07	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 07	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 02 03 04 07	1 2 3 4 5 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 02 03 04 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 02 03 04 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 02 03 04 07
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Parkistam	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 7 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fi No aids Stick Crutchese Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Pakistani Bang(adeshi) Black Carribean	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 07 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 07 08 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 06 07 07 08 06 07 07 08 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 07 08 08 09 09 01 02 03 09 01 02 03 06 07 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 08 08 07 08 08 09 07 07 07 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 08 08 09 07 07 07 08 07 08 07 08 09 07 07 07 07 08 07 08 09 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 1 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Bangladeshi Black Carribean Black African	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08	1 2 3 3 4 5 2 5 2 7 5 0 C 0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9	1 2 3 4 5 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 07 08	1 2 3 4 5 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Black Carribean Black African	1 2 3 4 5 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 8 0 9 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 9	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 1 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 5 06 07 08 09 09
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Pakistan Bangladeshi Black Carribean Black African Black Other Mixed ethnic group (please specify)	1 2 3 4 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10	1 2 3 4 5 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Bangdaeshi Black African Black African Black Other Mixed ethnic group (please specify) Any other ethnic group (please specify)	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 1 2 3 4 5 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11	1 2 3 4 5 e the higi 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fi Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fi No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Black Carribean Black African Black African Black Other Mixed ethnic group (please specify) Any other ethnic group (please specify)	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 01 02 03 04 01 02 03 04 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 1 2 3 4 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 01 02 03 04 10 2 03 04 10 2 03 04 10 2 03 04 10 2 03 04 10 2 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooler Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Travellen Bangtadeshi Black Carribean Black African Black African Black African Black Chinese Mixed ethnic group (please specify) What does each person consider their nationality/citizenship to be?	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 01 02 03 04 05 07 00 01 02 03 04 05 07 00 00 01 02 03 04 05 05 00 00 01 02 03 00 00 01 02 03 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 1 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01	1 2 3 4 5 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 08 09 09 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 09 00 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 08 09 09 00 07 08 09 00 07 08 07 08 07 08 09 07 07 08 07 07 08 09 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 07 08 07 07 00 07 07 08 09 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooler Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Black African Black African Black African Self-yop (please specify) Any other ethnic group (please specify) What does each person consider their nationality/citizenship to be?	1 2 3 4 5 or each pu 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 06 07 02 03 00 04 02 03 00 04 02 03 04 05 06 06 07 02 02 03 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 04 02 03 04 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 02 03 04 00 02 03 04 02 03 04 04 05 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 1 2 3 4 5 5 Prison code 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 101 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 01 02 03	1 2 3 4 5 1 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 9 10 10 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 1 0 1 0 5 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 5 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 7 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 07 08 07 08 09 00 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 07 08 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 08 07 07 08 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Balack African Black African Black African Black African Black African Black Other Mixed ethnic group (please specify) What does each person consider their nationality/citizenship to be?	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 04 05 06	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 1 11	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 04	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 1 11	1 2 3 4 5 5 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 7 0 4 0 5 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 04 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 10 04 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 10 04 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 10 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Pakistani Balack African Black African Black Other Mixed ethnic group (please specify) Any other ethnic group (please specify) Morther Irish Northern Irish British Irish Soctish	1 2 3 4 5 or each pe 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 102 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 04 05 04	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 102 03 04 05 05 06 07 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 102 03 04 05 06 07 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 102 03 04 05 06 07 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 05 05 06 07 05 06 07 05 06 07 05 06 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 07 05 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 5 0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 7 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 7 0 0 4 0 5 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 07 08 07 08 09 09 01 05 06 07 06 07 08 07 08 07 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 06 07 08 07 08 07 08 07 08 09 07 08 09 09 00 07 06 07 08 09 00 07 08 09 00 05 06 07 08 09 00 00 05 06 07 08 09 00 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 06 07 07 06 06 07 07 06 06 07 07 06 06 07 07 06 07 07 06 06 07 07 07 07 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 05 06 07 08 09 00 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 05 06 07 08 09 10 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 05 06 05 05 05 05 05 05 05 05 05 05
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Balack African Black Corribean Black Corribean Bla	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 00 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 00 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 06 07	1 2 3 4 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 06 07 08 09 09 00 00 06 07 08 09 09 00 00 00 00 00 05 06 07 08 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 03 04 05 06 07 03 04 05 06 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 08 09 05 05 05 05 05 05 05 05 05 05	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 07 08 09 00 07 08 09 00 07 08 09 00 07 08 09 00 07 08 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 00 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 00 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 03 06 07 06 07 08 09 01 01 05 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 06 07 08 09 09 10 11 02 03 06 07 05 06 06 07 06 07 08 09 05 06 06 07 05 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 07 06 06 06 07 06 06 06 07 06 06 06 06 07 06 06 06 07 06 06 06 06 06 06 07 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (F No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Balack African Black Carribean Black Chribean Black Car	1 2 3 4 5 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 7 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 7 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 7 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 7 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 08 09 01 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 08 09 04 05 06 07 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 04 05 06<	1 2 3 4 5 1 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 07 08 09 01 07 08 09 01 07 08 09 07 08 09 01 07 08 09 00 07 08 09 01 07 08 09 01 07 08 09 07 08 09 01 07 08 09 07 08 09 07 08 09 07 08 09 07 08 09 07 08 09 07 08 09 07 08 09 07 07 08 09 07 07 08 09 07 07 08 07 08 09 07 07 08 07 08 09 07 07 08 09 07 07 07 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 08 09 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 09 00 07 07 08 09 09 00 07 07 08 09 09 00 07 07 07 08 09 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 07 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 07 07 07 08 09 07 07 07 07 08 09 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 03 04 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 09 09 00 00 07 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 00 07 07 08 09 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 00 01 07 07 08 09 00 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 07 08 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fi No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Balack African Black Intern Irish Northern Irish British / Irish Socitish Portugese Latvian Lithuanian Polich	1 2 3 4 5 07 each pu 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 1 2 3 4 5 5 erson cod 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 1 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 00 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 00 00 07 08 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 09	1 2 3 4 5 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 0 10 10 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 10 10 2 0 3 0 4 0 5	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 09 09 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fr No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chair Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooler Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Travellen Balack African Black Internet Mixed ethnic group (please specify) What does each person consider their nationality/citizenship to be?	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 1 2 3 4 5 5 erson code 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Deafness / Blindness or partial hearing / sight loss A mobility or dexterity difficulty (a limitation of 1 or more basic physical activity) Frequent periods of confusion or memory loss Other condition No condition Does anyone in the household use the following aids indoors or outdoors? (Fi No aids Stick Crutches Zimmer Frame Self-propelled wheel chain Wheel chair pushed by another person Battery powered scooter Adapted vehicle Confined to bed To which of these ethnic groups does the person belong? White Chinese Irish Traveller Indian Black African Black Intir Strate Intish Intish Northern Irish British / Irish Scottish Portugese Latvian Lithuanian Polist Nigerian	1 2 3 4 5 or each pr 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 20 3 04 05 06 06 07 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 20 3 04 07 02 03 04 05 06 07 07 08 09 10 10 20 03 04 05 06 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07 07	1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02	1 2 3 4 5 e the hig 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 hest num 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 ber used 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 by that p 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 erson) 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	1 2 3 4 5 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 2 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

Q17 The next questions ask about the people who live in your home. I do not require names. I will start with the Household Reference Person.

Enter person number of respondent	
Enter total number of people in the household	
Enter total number of adults (16 or over) in the household	
Enter number of family units in the household	
Enter number of children in the household	

OCCUPATION

Q18a What is the Household Reference Person's present/most recent (last) job?

Record full title of main job: (If job title is ambiguous probe for more details. If civil servant stated ask for department/ division. If a manager ask how many people he/she manages.) If the person is retired ask for main job at retirement. If the person is of working age and not working, only ask for previous job if he/she has worked in last 5 years.

Q18b If HRP is currently working Ask:

Where is your place of work loc	ated?											
If HRP reports to a depot, write in depot location.												
(Tick as appropriate)												
Mainly work at or from home	No fixed place											

Q19a Does the Household Reference Person or partner (if applicable) receive any of the following benefits? (If no partner code N/A). (Read out list and ring all that apply) (SHOW CARD)

BENEFITS/TAX CREDITS	Hous	sehold Re	ference F	Person							
	Yes	No	Ref	D/K	Ye	s	No	Ref	N/A	D/K	
Child Benefit	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
A Disability Benefit	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Incapacity Benefit	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Employment & Support allowance	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Housing Benefit	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	(if yes, complete Q19b)
Income Support	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Jobseeker's Allowance	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
State Pension	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Occupational Pension	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Working Tax Credit	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Child Tax Credit	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Pension Credit	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	
Rates Rebate (Owner Occupiers only)	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9	(if yes, complete Q19e)
Any others	1	2	7	9	1		2	7	0	9]

Q19b Can I just check, how much does the Household Reference Person or partner (if applicable) receive from Housing Benefit each week? Code exact amount to nearest £, possible, if not known, probe and code estimate. Probe for weekly period, if other period given, calculate as weekly.

- Q19c Does the Housing benefit you receive cover all the rent
- Q19d How much is the shortfall you have to pay per week / month between housing benefit and full rent?

Q19e ASK OWNER OCCUPIERS ONLY

- Can I just check, how much does the Household Reference Person or partner (if applicable) receive from Rates Rebate each week? Code exact amount to nearest \pounds , if possible, if not known, probe and code estimate. Probe for weekly period, if other period given, calculate as weekly.
- Q19f Did anyone in the Household receive the Winter fuel Payment between October and December 2010?



Per Week	£	Per Month	£
Don't Know	77	Don't Know	77
Refused	88	Refused	88

Y N

£

N D/K

Estimate	1	
Don't know	2	
Refused	3	

Q20 Now I would like to ask you some questions about your income. Answers of individual respondents will not be disclosed to anyone outside the Housing Executive's Research Unit. No one outside the Research Unit is able to access this information. [SHOW CARD]. What is the total income before tax and other deductions of yourself and your partner (if you have one)? Please include all income from employment, benefits (including Housing Benefit), or other sources. (Ring one only) PLEASE USE SHOWCARD WITH WEEKLY, MONTHLY AND ANNUAL INCOME BANDS

Less than £60 per week	Less than £250 per month	Less than £3,000 per annum	1
£60-£79 per week	£251-£330 per month	£3,000 to £3,999 per annum	2
£80-£99 per week	£331-£419 per month	£4,000 to £4,999 per annum	3
£100-£119 per week	£420-£500 per month	£5,000 to £5,999 per annum	4
£120-£130 per week	£501-£580 per month	£6,000 to £6,999 per annum	5
£131-£150 per week	£581-£669 per month	£7,000 to £7,999 per annum	6
£151-£170 per week	£670-£750 per month	£8,000 to £8,999 per annum	7
£171-£190 per week	£751-£830 per month	£9,000 to £9,999 per annum	8
£191-£210 per week	£831-£919 per month	£10,000 to £10,999 per annum	9
£211-£230 per week	£920-£1,000 per month	£11,000 to £11,999 per annum	10
£231-£250 per week	£1,001-£1,080 per month	£12,000 to £12,999 per annum	11
£251-£269 per week	£1,081-£1,169 per month	£13,000 to £13,999 per annum	12
£270-£289 per week	£1,170-£1,250 per month	£14,000 to £14,999 per annum	13
£290-£310 per week	£1,251-£1,330 per month	£15,000 to £15,999 per annum	14
£311-£389 per week	£1,331-£1,669 per month	£16,000 to £19,999 per annum	15
£390-£580 per week	£1,670-£2,500 per month	£20,000 to £29,999 per annum	16
£581-£769 per week	£2,501-£3,330 per month	£30,000 to £39,999 per annum	17
£770-£960 per week	£3,331-£4,169 per month	£40,000 to £49,999 per annum	18
£961 or more per week	£4,170 or more per month	£50,000 or more per annum	19
Refused	Refused	Refused	99
Don't know	Don't know	Don't know	88

Q21 How would you describe the religious make-up of this household? (Ring one only)

Protestant	Catholic (RC)	Mixed religion (Protestant/Catholic)	Other	None	D/K	Refused
1	2	3	4	5	8	9

Q22 How would you describe the religious make-up of this estate/area? (Ring one only)

Totally Protestant	Mainly Protestant	Mixed Protestant/Catholic	Mainly Catholic (RC)	Totally Catholic (RC)	D/K	Refused
1	2	3	4	5	8	9

Q23 How many cars or vans are owned, or available for use, by one or more members of your household? (include any company car or van if available for private use). (Ring one only)

None	0
One	1
Two	2
Three	3
Four or more (please write in)	

Q24 Has this accommodation been designed or adapted for wheelchair useage?

Very Satisfied Satisfied Dissatisfied Very dissatisfied Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 3 2 1 4 5 Very Satisfied Satisfied Neither satisfied Dissatisfied Very dissatisfied nor dissatisfied 3 2 5 1 4

Q25 Overall how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with your home? (Ring one only)

Q26 Overall how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with this neighbourhood as a place to live? (Ring one only)

Y N D/K

Q27a What was your usual address one year ago?

1	Go to	Q28	;						
2	Go to	Q28	;						
3	Go to	Q27	'b						
	-								
	1 2 3	1Go to2Go to3Go to	1 Go to Q28 2 Go to Q28 3 Go to Q27	1 Go to Q28 2 Go to Q28 3 Go to Q27b	1 Go to Q28 2 Go to Q28 3 Go to Q27b	1 Go to Q28 2 Go to Q28 3 Go to Q27b	1 Go to Q28 2 Go to Q28 3 Go to Q27b	1 Go to Q28 2 Go to Q28 3 Go to Q27b	1 Go to Q28 2 Go to Q28 3 Go to Q27b

То	wn														
•		_													
Co	unty		 												
Co	ountr	у													

Q27b Was this property (Ring one only)

Your parental home?	1				
Own home - Owner occupied?	2				
- private rented?	3				
- NIHE?	4				
- housing association?					
- Other?	6				

Q27c What is	vour main reason	for moving to	vour new home?
den o trinde lo	your mann rouoon	ior morning to	your non nonior

	Property Related
1	Wanted / Needed larger property
2	Wanted / Needed smaller property
3	No suitable properties in previous area
	Financial
4	Wanted to purchase own home
5	Wanted to move up the property ladder
6	Wanted to reduce housing costs
	Personal
7	To be nearer work
8	Change in employment / place of study
9	To be nearer family, relatives and friends
10	Set up home with a partner
11	Relationship breakdown or bereavement
12	Addition to the family
	Area
13	To be nearer schools/services
14	Disliked previous neighbourhood / area
15	Wanted a different neighbourhood / area
16	Poor transport links
17	Other reasons (specify)

(select one only)

Go to Q27b

Q28 As part of the Housing Executive's quality assurance role of the House Condition Survey a small number of respondents will be selected to ask for their views on how the survey was conducted. Would you be willing to take part in this? (Ring one only)

Yes	1	If Yes, go to Q29
Yes (in certain circumstances)	2	
No	3	

INTERVIEWER INSTRUCTION

If YES, in certain circumstances code main conditions to any follow-up survey.

Contact household beforehand	Y	
Only at a convenient time	Y	
Someone else (eg carer) needs to be there	Y	
Other (please specify)	Y	
N/A	0	

Q29 Would it be possible to have your telephone number, so the Housing Executive can contact you. (Ring one only)

Yes	1	
No	2	
No phone	3	
N/A	0	

IF YES, RECORD TELEPHONE NUMBER Code

Code	Telephone number

Q30 It is helpful to have a contact name to ask for. Record as much of this as respondent will allow (Refusal enter 0)

NAME OF RESPONDENT	Title	Forename	Surname			

Q31 If access to email, can I have your email address?

Y	Record email address:
Ν	
N/A	

8. Details of flat

Plan	of flat	t	Draw p	lan of	modu	le and	locate f	lat wit	hin it.	Show if	measu	remen	ts have	been r	ectang	ularised	I	
									Back									
Left																		Right
									Front									
Vall	is of expos	ed			1	- enestra	ation		F	enestra	ition		Fe	enestrat	ion		Fe	nestratio
(Colur	nns add	l up to	10)	Fron	t wall	area	m ²	Back	wall	area r	n ²	Left v	vall	area m	2	Right v	vall	area m ²
To out	side air					1				1				1				
To bet														+				
to inte	ernal ac	cesswa	ays															
To oth	er flats																	
								Ļ										
				For Fe	nestratio	n area us	e whole h	umbers c	oniy			_						
Entry floor to dwelling proper (level of first actual accommodation)		Bas	sement	Gi	round	Sp	ecify	Un	known									
			BB		GG		1		99									
Private	entry o	stair		N	lone		Up	D	own									
					1		2		3									
Dime	ension	s of f	flat (int	erna	l and	recta	ngular	rised)										
			(0	,										



If yes, record at section 13
9. Common parts of module.

Common parts exist	A	ccesswa	ay					Security of module								
Y N IF NO, GO TO SECTION 10	Main horizontal of typical/ upper level	Stairway on typical/ upper level	Main entrance to module		Lifts		Refuse chutes				Mu	Iltiple cess	Sing acce	ngle Restrict cess acces		ted is
Does access/area exist?	ΥN	ΥN	ΥN		ΥN		ΥN	Туре о	of acc	cess		1	2		3	
Balcony/Deck/Corridor/Lobby														_		
Spacious/Average/Tight											00010	Moski		la madul	le 2	
Enclosed? In module? Working?	Y N Y N	Y N Y N	Y N Y N	Y N Y N Concierge system Y Y N Y N Door ontry system Y					m Y	N	Y	N	Y I	N		
Lift control	ols access	sible to wh	neelchair	user?	Y N			0001	ontry	Syste						
Floors/ treads (answer in m ²)	idle to a v	isually im	paired pei	rson?	YN											
Faults?	Y N	Y N	Y N		Fire s	afe	etv of f	lat surve	ved							
Modify structure					Flati			it is	Through	Thro	ugh her	Thro	ugh			
Renew surface					Escape to final e	rou exit	te from fla	it surveyed ling	Tinai	exit	flat	flat a comr are	ind non as	area	as	
Repair surface										1	2	3		4		
Walls (answer in m ²)		VN	VN	1	Fire	pr	ecautio	ons					Act	ion		
Modify structure			I IN		i no produciono			Pres	sent	None	Min	or	Мај	or	Renew	
Renew surface					Protec	tion	to stairs/	lobbies?	Y	Ν	1	2		3		4
					Self cl	osin	ng fire doo	ors?	Y	N	1	2		3	_	4
Repair surface					Fire ex	xung ienc	juisners? v liahtina	7	T Y	N N	1	2	_	3 3	\rightarrow	4
Repaint surface					Sign p	osti	ng?		Ŷ	N	1			Ū		4
Ceilings/soffits (answer in m ²)		V	V N	1	Safe p	oract	tices?		Y	Ν						
Faults?	T IN	T IN	T IN		Alternative route?					N	1	2		2		4
Renew surface										2		3		4		
Repair surface					Contr	ihi	ution t	o problor			hin a	1000		odu	I a)	
Renaint surface					Contr	IDU		o problei	115 (wit		None	m	Minor	ie)	Major
								Normal wea	ar and	d tear		1	\Box	2		3
Faults?	Y N	Y N	Y N					Inadequate	main	itenar	nce	1	_	2		3
Replace								Poor design	te us 1/spe	e cificat	tion	1	+	2	-	3
Repair/rehang								Vandalism	., op o	omou		1	╈	2		3
Repaint								Graffiti				1	\bot	2		3
Accessway windows (answe	ar in numbe	are)						Litter/rubbis	sh			1	⊥	2		3
Faults?	Y N	Y N	Y N		HHSF	RS	- comr	non area	S (at	ffecti	na flat :	survev	ed)			
Replace									- 1		5	Significar lower ris	itly sk	Average risk	e Sie hi tha	gnificantly igher risk
Repair								Falling on s	tairs	etc		1	-go	2		3
Repaint								Falling on le	evel s	surfac	es	1		2		3
Accessway lighting (answer	in numbers	;)						Falling betw	veen	levels	6	1	+	2		3
Faults?	Y N	ΥN	Y N					Fire Flames hot	t curf	2005	otc	1	+	2		3
Replace light fittings								Damp and i	moulo	d grov	wth	1		2		3
Replace light switches								Entry by int	ruder	s		1		2		3
Balustrades (answer in metre leng	gths)							Noise				1	\bot	2		3
Faults?	Y N	Y N	YN					Collisions/e	ntrap	ment		1		2		3
Replace									lf	'3', s	score H	HSR	3 in	Sect	ion 2	22
Defects Ventilation	Y	Y	Y													
Artificial lighting	Ý	Ý	Ý													
Rats and Mice				C loc	ation											
Evidence of mice	Y Y	Y Y	Y Y		Y Y	Тур	oe of evide Othe	ence: Traps s r visual evide	seen?	Y Y	N N	Chemie Told at	cals bout	seen' it?	? \ \ \	r N 7 N

10. Number of flats in module

This section is critical. Make every attempt to record correct number of flats in module

Number of flats	
in module	

Unknown Specify 999

DOUBLE CHECK the number of flats against what you have defined as your module in Section 8 before continuing



Other flats in module

Are they?	Survey flat is	Mostly same	Mostly small	Mostly large	Mixture of	Mixture of flats/	Unknown
	only one in	as survey	nats	TIAIS	small/large	maisonettes	
	module	dwelling			flats		
	8	1	2	3	4	5	9

Approximate number of vacant	Survey flat is only	Specify
flats in module	one in module 888	

11. Shared facilities and services (within 100m of survey dwelling)

Do shared facilities/services exist? Y N

IF NO, GO TO SECTION 12

Stores and	Location					Action		
common rooms	Pres	ent?	Integral?	Integral?	None	Minor	Major	
Tenant stores	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3	
Bin stores	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3	
Paladin stores	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3	
Laundry	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3	
Drying room	Υ	Ν	1	2	1	2	3	
Community room	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3	
Warden cartaker office	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3	

			ACTION					
services	Present?		None	Minor	Major			
ССТV	Y	Ν	1	2	3			
TV reception	Y	Ν	1	2	3			
Lightning conductors	Y	Ν	1	2	3			
Communal heating	Y	Ν	1	2	3			
Burglar alarm system	Y	Ν	1	2	3			
External lighting	Y	Ν	1	2	3			

Communal		Location					Action		
parking facilities	Pres	ent?	Integral?	Integral?	None	Minor	Major		
Garages	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3		
Multi storey parking	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3		
Underground parking	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3		
Roof parking	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3		
Other covered parking	Y	Ν	1	2	1	2	3		
Open air parking bays	Y	Ν			1	2	3		

Contribution to problems in condition (outside survey module)

	None	Minor	Major
Normal wear and tear	1	2	3
Inadequate maintenance	1	2	3
Inappropriate use	1	2	3
Poor design/specification	1	2	3
Vandalism	1	2	3
Graffiti	1	2	3
Litter/rubbish	1	2	3

Accessibility

Number of steps from pavement to entrance of module

Level Access	No step but slope > 1:20	1 step	2 s	tep 3 o		or more steps		
8	7	1	1 2			3		
Space for	ramp							
Not applic	able 8	Yes 1			No 2			
Is path firm and even?					Ν			
Is entrance adequately lit?					Ν			
Is entrance covered?					Ν			

Su	rfa	ces	an	d
				-

Common/electrical

	fanaaa	Action							
iences		Pres	ent?	None	Minor	Major			
	Drying areas	Y	Ν	1	2	3			
	Children's play areas	Y	Ν	1	2	3			
	Unadopted estate roads	Y	Ν	1	2	3			

Action

('Y' IN BOX ABOVE)

Landscaping

Landscaping		Action			
	Pres	ent?	None	Minor	Major
Paths	Y	Ν	1	2	3
Walls/fences	Y	Ν	1	2	3
Hard landscaping	Y	Ν	1	2	3
Grass/planting	Y	Ν	1	2	3

Design of paths

ANSWER IF PATHS PRESENT

	(,
Paths	Yes	No	Not applicable
At least 900mm wide?	1	2	3
Gradient gentler than 1 in 12?	1	2	3
Protected from adjacent drops?	1	2	3

HHSRS - shared areas

(affecting dwelling surveyed)

	Significantly lower risk than average	Average risk	Significantly higher risk than average
Falling on stairs etc	1	2	3
Falling on level surfaces	1	2	3
Falling between levels	1	2	3
Entry by intruders	1	2	3
Collision and entrapment	1	2	3
If '3', score I	HSRS	in Sectio	on 22

12. House/module shape

Draw	plan								Back									
Left																		Right
									Front									
Loc	cation c	of	No ad	ditional	Fro	nt eleva	tion	Bad	ck eleva	tion	Le	ft elevat	ion	Rig	ıht eleva	tion	Unkı	nown
ado	ditional	part	ра 7	art '7	Left 01	Centre 02	Right 03	Left 04	Centre 05	Right 06	Front 07	Centre 08	Back 09	Front 10	Centre 11	Back 12	g	9
			Attic/ba	sement	in house	e/module	Э		Attic	only 1	Basem	ent only 2	Bo	oth 3	Nei	ther 1	Unki	nown 9
			Entry flo	oor to ho	ouse/mo	dule			Base	ement 3	Gro (ound G	Flo	oor	Unkr	nown Ə		

13. External dimensions of house/module



14. Material and construction of house/module (code one type only)

Code	Material	Construction	Туре	
01	Masonry	Boxwall	Solid	
02	Masonry	Boxwall	Cavity	
03	Masonry	Crosswall		
04	Concrete	Boxwall	In-situ	
05	Concrete	Boxwall	Precast panel <1m wide	
06	Concrete	Boxwall	Precast panel >1m wide	Proprietary system? Y N U
07	Concrete	Crosswall	In-situ	
08	Concrete	Crosswall	Precast panel	
09	Concrete	Frame	In-situ	If Ves name
10	Concrete	Frame	Precast	ii res, name.
11	Timber	Frame	Pre 1919	
12	Timber	Frame	Post 1919	
13	Metal	Frame		
14	Other, please	specify if know	'n	

15. Improvements/alterations (to the house/module since original construction)

Clarify with Household

Code most recent (or most significant)

	110110	110 1010	1010 1001	1000 1001	1000 1000	1001 1000	rooo procont	in progrooo	
Conversion to more than one dwelling	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Conversion to HMO use	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Conversion from non-residential use	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Two or more dwellings combined	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Complete refurbishment/modernisation	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Rearrangement of internal space	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Extension added for amenities	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Extension added for living space	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Alteration of external appearance	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Over-roofing	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	ASK HOUSEHOLD
Over-cladding	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Exact year of
Structure replaced	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	loft conversion
Loft conversion	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Radon remedial works (check postcode)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	

1945-1964 1965-1984 1985-1990 1991-1995 1996

045



18. Exterior – of house/module

FI	RC	N	ΓV	IE\	N				Chimney stacks				E	BA	СК	VI	EW
					Mas	onry	Ot	her	(Number)	Mas	onry	Oti	ner				
					Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Present?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν				
									Number								
									Age								
					Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Faults?	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν				
									Rebuild								
									Part rebuild								
									Repoint/refix pot								
									Leave								
					Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Urgent?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν				
									Replacement period								
	Dite	le e el			_		01-	-1-4	Roof structure	Dite	la a d			_	-4	0	-1-4
i r	Pitc	nea	war	isard	F	at	Cn	alet	(Tenths of area)	Pito	nea	wan	sard	FI	at	Chi	alet
									Tenths of area								
									Age								
	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Faults?	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
									Replace								
									Strengthen								

Leave Urgent?

Replacement period

Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν
Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	N

Clay tile Concrete Asphalt tile

Glass/ metal/ laminate

Y N Y N

Thatch

Felt

Y N Y N Y N

Y N Y N Y N Y N Y N Y N Y N Y N Y N Y

Man made slate

ï

Y N Y N

Т

Natural

slate/stone /shingle

ΥN

Nat slate/ /shii	ural stone ngle	M ma sla	an ade ate	Cla	y tile	Con ti	crete le	Asp	halt	F	elt	Gla me lami	ass/ etal/ inate	Tha	atch	Roof covering (Tenths of area)
																Tenths of area
																Age
Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Faults?
																Renew
																Isolated repairs
																Leave
Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Urgent?
																Replacement period

Υ ΥN

ΝY Ν Υ Ν

Fas	cias	Val gutt flash	ley ers/ iings	Gutt dov pip	ters/ vn- ies	Sta	cks/ stes	Pa para	irty ipets
Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν
Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν
Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν

Roof features and



Fas	cias	Val gutt flash	ley ers/ iings	Gutt dov pip	ters/ wn- bes	Star was	cks/ stes	Pa para	rty pets
Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν
Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν
Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν

	•				F	RC)NT	ΓV	ΊF\	N						Wall structure						F	RΔ	ск	VI	FW	J					
Stand Maso	ard hry	Nar Mas	row onry	Mas	onry	9" s	olid	>9"	solid	In	situ	Con	crete	Wo metal pa	ood/ /plastic nels	(Tenths of area)	Star Mas	dard onry	Nai Mas	row	Maso	onry	9" s	solid	>9"	solid	In s	situ	Conc	crete	Wo metal/ par	ood/ /plastic nels
Cavi	y	ou	rity	Jingi	loui							pui				Net tenths of area		vity	UU	Vity	Single	icui					CON		pun			
																Age																
Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Faults?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
																Rebuild/renew																
1																Repair					1											
																Leave																
Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Urgent?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
											1					Replacement period																
		Mas poir	onry iting	No mas nat	on- onry ural	Reno	dered	Shi tim	plap iber	Tile	hung	Slip fac	/tile ced	Wo metal pa	ood/ /plastic nels	Wall finish (Tenths of area)	Mas poir	ionry nting	No mas nat	on- ionry ural	Rend	ered	Ship tim	plap ber	Tile	hung	Slip fac	/tile ced	Wo metal/ par	od/ plastic tels		
																Net tenths of area																
							1		1							Age																
		Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Faults?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν		
																Render																
																Renew/repoint																
									1		1					Isolated repairs																
																Paint																
																Leave																
		Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Urgent?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν		
																Replacement period																
		Sin	Ba	iys Mi	ulti	Stan	Dori dard	ners Re	oof	Por	ches	Cons tor	erva- ies	Balc	onies	Dormers and bays	Sir	Ba	ays M	ulti	Stand	Dorr dard	ners Ro	oof	Pore	ches	Cons tor	ierva- ies	Balco	onies		
	[sto Y	rey N	sto Y	^{rey}	Y	Ν	exte Y	nsion N	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	N	Present?	Y	rey N	Y	rey N	Y	Ν	Y	nsion N	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	N		
									1							Number																
																Age																
		Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Faults?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν		
																Rebuild roof and walls																
											1					Rebuild roof only																
																Rebuild wall only																
																Major repairs																
																Minor repairs																
																Demolish																
																Leave														_		
		Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Urgent?	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	N	Y	Ν		
																Replacement period																
																					-					1						
										Phy	sical	Inje	ction	No	one C	Camp proof course (Tenths of length)	Phy	sical	Inje	ction	Nor	пе			For	all	co	nse	erva	ato	rie	S
										ba						Tenths of length	Physical Injection barrier DPC							Clo cor	nser	le do vator	or be y and	etwee d dw	elling	, Y	1	Ν
										Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Faults?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν		Fo (So	otpri g <i>m</i>)	nt of <i>in wi</i>	cons hole	serva num	tory bers	Γ	1	٦

18. Exterior – of house/module (continued)

Replace/install

Leave

Urgent?

Replacement period

Y N Y N Y N

SG DG

Υ Ν

Poly Glass

Conservatory window type

Fixed radiator or other fixed heater present?

Conservatory roof

Y N Y N Y N



18. Exterior – of survey dwelling

19. Around the house/module

Underground draina	ge	_																		
Drainage system			I	Mains	5	Septi	c tank		Cess	pool	Ρ	rivate se svste	ewage m	U	nknowr	ו				
Faults? Y N				1		:	2		3			4			9					
Blockage Y		Г										HHSR	s		Significar lower ris	ntly A sk	verage risk	Significantly higher risk	Ext	reme isk
Other (specify) Y												Persor	hal hvo	iene	than avera	age	2	than average		Л
												sanitat	ion and	d	Deserik	iov	Z (tromo	riold in So	tion	+
		L										draina	ge		Descrit	be ex	treme	risk in Sec	ction	22
Rats and mice outsid	de hi	0115	e/m	nodi	ıle							Trans	Ch	emicals	2 Oth	er visu	ual T	old about		
Evidence of mice?			1	loui				_				seen?			evi	dence	? 	it?		
Evidence of rats?	Y	N						Ту	/pe of (evidenc	ce:									
Pets/livestock kept outside	? Y	Ν									ľ	HHSR	S		lower ris	itiy P sk age	risk	higher risk than average	EXT ri	isk
	No	one	Mi	nor	Major							Domes	tic hyg	iene	1		2	3		4
Litter/rubbish around house/module		1	2	2	3						1	pests a	nd refu	ise	Describ	be 'ex	treme	risk' in Se	ction	22
											_									
Parking provision of	sur	vey	dw	elli	ng									• "						
ASK HOUSEHOLD	Dee		0	1-10	Car	Nor			Action	Dener	D	11 - h-		/vno c	Local	oti Oti	»/parкi her	ng		
Integral garage	Pres	sent?	V	N	spaces	Nor		or	Major 3	Renew	De	emolish	Househ	old a	2	land	llord 3	Other		
Attached garage		N		N		1	2	_	2	-		5	1	+	2		2			
Allacheu garage	T		T V				2	_	3	4	-	5		+	2		2	4		
Detached garage	Ŷ	N	Y	N		1	2	_	3	4		5	1	_	2		3	4		
Car port	Y	N	Y	N		1	2		3	4		5	1		2	3	3	4		
Designated parking space(s	;) Y	Ν	Y	Ν		1	2		3	4		5	1		2	3	3	4		
	Ac	dequ	ate	Ina	dequate	١	lone	1					Is the	e an	y off-p	lot p	arkin	ģ		
Street parking		1			2		3						the en	itrand	ce to d	welli	ing/m	odule,	Y	Ν
					2		0						than 1	n eve :12 g	en acc gradier	es ro nt?	oute d	of less		
Cavity wall insulation	n eu	mm	harv	,		1.														
Cavity wan insulatio	1 30	•••••	iai y		Y N	Are	a arour	nd r	meters	(P5)										
E	videnc	no of	cavi	tv	Y N	Lof	space	(P)	7)				Is the	e cle	ear evid	denc	e tha	t cavity		
Wa	all ins	ultat	ion:	Ly.	Y N	Oco	cupant i	res	ponse	(P8)		>	wall in	isulat	tion is	pres	ent ir	ו the יצ	Y	Ν
					ΥN	Ele	vation f	eat	tures (I	P14)			majon	ty OI	the ca	vity	wans			
					ΥN	Air	bricks ((P1	4)											
Exposure	NL.				-			_	1											
Is the dwelling in an	expos	sed	Sli	ghtly	Expo	osed	expose	ed												
exposed position?	1		CV	2	' :	3	4													
							•			-4 :- 44	- 1									_
of overshading of the	None verv l	e or little	Mo	odest	Signi	ficant	Heavy	ý	ove	at is the rshadir	e II na	to the	None verv li	or ttle	Mode	st	Signif	icant I	leav	У
dwelling windows?	1			2	3	3	4		mo	dule ro	.g oof	?	1		2		3	i -	4	
90 Block								_			_									_
20. DIOCK		D	etach	ed		Specif	v numbe	er		More th	nan	50	1							
Number of houses/		hous	se/mo	dule						71	_									
			01							75	2									
Approximate number		Spec	ify nu	Imbei	r															
disrepair in block																				
	M	aior t	runk		Main roa	d	Side ro	had	Cu	l de ser	2/	Prive	te road	1	Inmade					
Situation of block	1410	roa	d	'	~		-		c	rescent	-1	· mva	-		no road	, t				
		1			2		3	00		4			5		6					

21. Structural defects

Any structural defects present? Y N

IF YES, DESCRIBE BELOW IF YES OR NO, COMPLETE HHSRS ASSESSMENT AT BOTTOM OF PAGE

		Action required on assumption problem is progessive												
		Ac	tion	Mor	nitor/	Act	tion				Any additional action re	equired that	-	
	Defect	requ	ired?	exar furth	mine	desc	ribed				is not accounted for e	elsewhere		
				Turti		on fo	orm?	Treatme	ent?			Extent		
Roof sagging	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν							
Roof humping	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν							
Deeferreeding	V	v	N	v	N	V	N	Tie-ing	Y	N	Number:			
Roof spreading	Ť	Ť	IN	Ť	IN	ř	IN	Other	Y	N	Specify			
Sulphate attack	v	v	N	v	N	v	N	Chimney-liner	Y	N	Linear metres		m	
		1	IN	'	IN	1	IN	Other	Y	N	Specify			
Unstable parapets	Y	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν	Υ	Ν							
								Tie rods	Y	N	Number:			
Wall bulging	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Strapping	Y	N	Number:			
								Other	Y	N	Specify			
Differential	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Movement- joint	Y	N	Linear metres		m	
movement								Other	Y	N	Specify			
Lintel failure	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Replace lintels	Y	N	Number:			
Wall tie failure	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Ν	Insert wall ties	Y	N	Wall area:		m²	
Unstable floors, stairs or ceilings	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν							
Dry rot/Wet rot	Y	Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Wall & timber treatment	Y	N	Basement One room 2	One floor 3	Loft 4	Most of building 5
Wood-borer infestation	Y	Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	N	Timber treatment	Y	N	Basement One room 1 2	One floor 3	Lott 4	Most of building 5
Adequacy of balconies /	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Replace fixings	Y	N	Total number:			
projections								Other	Y	N	Specify			
Foundation	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Underpin	Y	N	Linear metres		m	
settlement								Other	Y	N	Specify			
Integrity of structural frame	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Making-good	Y	N	Wall area		m²	
								Replace frame	Y	Ν				
Integrity of	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Replace fixings	Y	N	Total number:			
wall panels	Ċ						, ,	Other	Y	Ν	Specify			
Boundary wall - unsafe height	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν							
Boundary wall - out of plumb	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν							
Boundary wall - horizontal cracking	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν							
Unstable retaining wall	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Υ	Ν							
Any other problems	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Specify			Specify			
		Н	ous	ing	Неа	llth	and	Safety Rati	ng S	yste	m (HHSRS)	gnificantly Average wer risk risk	Significantly Extrem higher risk risk	e
											tha	n average	than average	

Structural collapse and falling elements

2

1

3

Describe 'extreme risk' in Section 22

4

22. Housing Health and Safety Rating System

Refer back to all the HHSRS flags. Consider each of the following hazards in turn in relation to the dwelling as a whole. Decide whether any hazards are significantly worse than average and need to be scored individually on pages 29 - 33. Decide if there are any other hazards listed below which represent an extreme risk. If yes, indicate below and describe risk. If there are no hazards to score move to the Fitness outcome section on page 34.

HAZARDS WHICH MAY REQUIRE SCORING

Hazard	Review survey form	Significantly lower risk than average	Average risk	Significantly higher risk than average
Falling on stairs etc	Check flags on pages 3, 18, 20, 25	1	2	3
Falling on level surfaces	Check flags on pages 3, 18, 20, 25	1	2	3
Falling between levels	Check flags on pages 3, 18, 20, 25	1	2	3
Falls associated with baths etc	Check flag on page 4	1	2	3
Fire	Check flags on pages 3, 18	1	2	3
Flames, hot surfaces, etc	Check flags on pages 3, 18	1	2	3
Damp and mould growth	Check flags on pages 3, 18, 25		2	3
Entry by intruders	Check flags on pages 3, 18, 20, 25	1	2	3
Noise	Check flags on pages 3, 18	1	2	3
Collision and entrapment	Check flags on pages 3, 18, 20, 25	1	2	3

Y N

Are any hazards significantly higher than average (code 3)? If $\underline{\rm Yes},$ describe below and score hazard on pages 29-33

OTHER HAZARDS IDENTIFIED AS POSING AN EXTREME RISK

Hazard	Review survey form	Extreme risk?
Excess heat	Check flag on page 3	Y
Lighting	Check flag on page 3	Y
Water supply for domestic purposes	Check flag on page 4	Y
Food safety	Check flag on page 4	Y
Personal hygiene, sanitation and drainage	Check flags on pages 4, 26	Y
Position and operability of amenities	Check flag on page 4	Y
Uncombusted fuel gas	Check flag on page 5	Y
Explosions	Check flag on page 5	Y
Electrical safety	Check flag on page 5	Y
Carbon monoxide and fuel combustion products	Check flag on page 6	Y
Domestic hygiene, pests and refuse	Check flags on pages 3, 26	Y
Structural collapse and falling elements	Check flag on page 27	Y

If Yes, to any of the above, describe extreme risk below

Falli	ng on sta	irs etc	-		Signifie than a	cantly hi	gher	ΥN]	Average	Average							
Likelih a fall le	ood of a <u>pers</u> eading to harr	<u>on over 6</u> m	i <u>0</u> having				1800	1000	560	320	180	100	56	32	2	18	6	2
Likely	outcome if	Class 1 E	Extreme %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4	100	ר	Must not
should	l fall	Class 2 S	Severe %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4	100	>	add up to >100.2%
		Class 3 S	Serious %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4	100	J	
Look	-up table		Likelihoo Class 1 Outcomu 0.1% 0.2% 0.5% 1.0% 2.2%	e 1 in [.]	1800 1	in 1000	1 in 560	1 in 320) 1 in	180 1 ii	n 100 E- E E E E E	1 in 56 E E E+ D	1 in 3 D D D D C	2 1	in 1 C C C C B	8 1	in 6 B B A- A	1 in 2 A A A A A
			4.6%			-	E-	E- E	E D		D C	C B-	B-	+	B A		A A	A
			<u>21.5%</u> <u>31.6%</u> <u>46.4%</u>			Ē		C C	C		B B	A	A	+	A A A		A A A	A A A
	Action real	uired	100%			C-	C	В	A		A	A	A		A		A	Ă
	Action required?	Action	1									el	Codeo sewhe	d re?	Qu	antity		
	Y	Install h	andrail										Y	N	Met	tres:		
	Y	Install b	alustrade										Y	N	Met	tres:		
	Y	Cover d	langerous	balust	rade/g	uarding	9						Y	N	Met	tres:		
	Y	Repair/r	replace in	ternal s	stairca	se (S5)							Y					
	Y	Redesig	gn interna	l, comr	non or	extern	al stairc	ase (de	esign, I	not con	dition)			N	Nur	nber:		
	Y	Repair/r	replace ex	(ternal/	comm	on stair	case (S	S9)					Y					
	Y	Repair/r	replace ex	cternal	steps	(S11, S	18)						Y	N	Nur	mber:		
	ř V	Cover s		airs	additio	ool ligh	ting (SE	2 02	11)				r v	IN NI	Filg	ms.		
	ř V	Repair/				nariign	ung (So	, 39, 3	11)				Ť	IN NI	Nur	nber.	-	
	'	I terneve	5 00318010	,										IN I	TNUT	nocr.		
Falli	ng on lev	el surfa	aces etc	:	Signifi than a	cantly hi verage	gher	Y N]			Average						
Likelih a fall le	ood of a <u>pers</u> eading to harr	<u>on over 6</u> m	<u>0</u> having					1000	560	320	180	100	56	32	2	18	6	2
Likely a <u>pers</u>	outcome if on over 60	Class 1 E	Extreme %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4	100	٦	Must not
should	l fall	Class 2 S	Severe %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4	100	>	add up to >100.2%
		Class 3 S	Serious %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4	100	J	
Look	-up table			Likelih Class Outco 0.1%	ood 1 me 1	in 1000	1 in 560	1 in 320) 1 in	180 1 ii	n 100	1 in 56 E	1 in 3	2 1	in 1	8 1	in 6 3+	1 in 2 A
				0.5%		_			-		E	D	D		C B	-	A A	A A
				2.2%				E	E		D-	D	CB		B		A A	A A
				21.5	/o /o /o	E	E	D	C C	_	B	B	A	+	A A A		A A A	A A A
				B A	A A	A A		A A		A A	A A							
	Action requ	uired											Code	4				
	required?	Action	1		el	sewhe	re?	Qu	antity									
	Y	Repair f	floors (S5	, S9)									Y					
	Y	Repair ı		Y														
	Y	Remove	e trip step					N	Nur	nber:								
	Y	Redesig	gn externa	al pathv	vays (S11, S1	8)							N	Met	tres:		
	Y	Cover s	slippery su	irfaces		1.25 - 2 - 3	Via a (07		44)				Y	N	Sq	m:		
	Y	rkepair/r	replace/pr	ovide a	aditio	nai ligh	ung (S5), S9, S	11)				Υ	IN	NUR	nper:		

Ν

Number:

Υ

Remove obstacle

Falling) betwee	en levels		S th	ignifica an av	antly hi erage	igher Average	Y N]										
Likelihooo fall leadin	d of a <u>child</u> g to harm	<u>under 5</u> hav	ing a		5600	3200	1800	1000	560	32	20 1	80	100	56	32	<u>,</u> .	18	6	2
Likely out	come if	Class 1 Extre	eme %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.	6	10	21.5	31.6	46.	4 1	00	٦	Must pot
should fal	II	Class 2 Seve	ere %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.	6	10	21.5	31.6	46.	4 1	00	>	add up to >100.2%
	1	Class 3 Serie	ous %		0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.	6	10	21.5	31.6	46.	4 1	00	J	
Look-up	Class	od 1																	
table	Outcom	e 1 in 5600	1 in 3200	1 in 18	00 1 ir	<u>1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100</u>	1 in 560	0 1	in 56	1 in 32	1	in 18	1 i	n 6	1 in 2				
	0.1%			J		H H	<u>н</u>	E-	_	E	E	+-	E		B	A			
	0.5%			1		H	H	Ē		Ē	 D	+	D		В	A			
	1.0%			1		Н	G	E		D-	D		D	/	\-	Α			
	2.2%	_	_	D	D		B		A	A									
	4.0%		<u>п</u> Н	G		F	F		<u>– – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – </u>	_	<u> </u>		B	B-	-	Δ		A A	A
	21.5%	H	G	F		Ē	 D	D	C		B		В	Ā	+	A		A	A
	31.6%	G	F	F		E	D	C-	С		В		Α	Α		Α		A	Α
	46.4%	G	F	E		E	D	С	В		B		Α	A		A		A	A
	100%	F	E	D		C +	L	В	A		A		A	A		A		A	A
Ac	tion requ	uired																	
	Action													Coded					
	auirod2	Action												owbor	~2	Quar	+i+.,		
re	quireur	ACTION											eis	ewner	er	Quai	illy	_	
	Y	Install wind	low safet	y catc	hes								Y	'N	1	Numb	oer:		
	Y	Repair/repl	ace/prov	ide ad	dition	al ligh	iting (S5	, S9, S1	1)				Ŷ	'N	1	Num	ber:		
	Y	Brick-up da	angerous	openi	ng / r	aise c	ill heigh	t						Ν	1	Num	ber:		
	Y	Repair/repl	ace balc	onies	(S9, S	S18)							Y	'					
	Y	Repairs to	plot (S11	, S18)									Y	'					
	Y	Repair/repl	ace exis	ting gu	ardin	g/balu	strading	g (S5, S	9, S11	, S1	8)		Ŷ	,					
	Y	Install new	guarding	g/balus	tradir	ng/cov	ver							Ν	1	Metre	es:		
	Y	Remove ob	ostacle											N	J	Numb	oer:		

Falls associated with baths etc. Significantly higher Y N

J

Ĥ

G

F

1 in 5600 1 in 3200 1 in 1800 1 in 1000 1 in 560

I-

Т

H

Н

		ulan ave	erage											
			Average											
Likelihood of a fall occupied by <u>a pers</u>	occuring if son over 60	5600	3200	1800	1000	560	320	180	100	56	32	18	6	2
Likely outcome if	Class 1 Extreme %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	ר	
a person over 60														Must not
should fall and	Class 2 Severe %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100		add up to
be injured														× 100.270
	Class 3 Serious %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	J	
													_	

1 in 320 H H H

G+

Т

H

G

G+ F+

D

1 in 180

G

G

1 in 100

G+ F+

E

D

В

1 in 56

F

D D+ C+ B

1 in 32

D+

1 in 18

D

D

1 in 6

С

B

Δ

1 in 2

Look-up table Likelihood Class 1 Outcome 0.1% 0.2% 1.0% 2.2% 4.6% 10.0% 21.5% 31.6% 46.4% 10.0%

표

G

Action requ	Jired				
Action		Coo	ded		
required?	Action	elsew	here?	Quantity	
Y	Repair/replace bath/shower (S5)	Y	Ν	Number:	
Y	Provide additional grabrail		Ν	Number:	
Y	Rearrange bathroom (S5)	Y	Ν	Number:	
Y	Re-site bathroom		Ν	Number:	
Y	Provide additional heating (S5)		Ν	Number:	
Y	Repair/replace/provide additional lighting (S5)		N	Number:	
Y	Remove obstacle		N	Number:	

Fire			Significa than ave Average	ntly hig erage Ave flat	gher	Y N]								
Likeliho harm if	ood of a fire o	ccurring leading to a person over 60	5600	3200	1800	1000	560	320	180	100	56	32	2	18 6	2
Likely	outcome if	Class 1 Extreme %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4 1	00	
occupie person	ed by a over 60	Class 2 Severe %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46	.4 1	00	Must not add up to
		Class 3 Serious %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	22	46	10	21.5	31.6	46	1 1	00	>100.2%
Look-				0.2	0.0		2.2		10	21.0	01.0		.+ 1		· · · · · ·
table	Class Outcon	1 ne 1 in 5600 1 in 3200 1 in 1	1800 1 in	1000	1 in 560	1 in 320) 1 in 1	180 1 i	n 100	1 in 56	1 in 3	2 1	in 18	1 in 6	1 in 2
	0.1%			_		н	G		F	E-	E	+	D	C C B	A A A
	1.0%				G	G	F-		F	E	D		C C	B A-	A
	4.6%			G F-	F-	F	E		D C-	C C	CB		B	A A	A
	21.5%	H G F		E F	E	D C-	C		B-	C	A		A	A A	A
	46.4%			Ē	D	C	B	_	B	A A	A		A	A A	A
1	Action requ	uired							<u>^</u>	~					
[Action required?	Action								e	Code sewhe	d re?	Qua	ntitv	
	Y	Repair/replace electrica	l system	(S5)							Y			,	
	Y	Provide additional socke	ets									N	Num	ber:	
	Y	Repair/replace or reposition	ition hea	ater (S	5)						Y	N	Num	oer:	
	Y	Relocate cooker										N	Num	per:	
	Y	Re-fit, extend, re-site kit	chen (S	5)							Y	N	Num	ber:	
	Y	Repair/Install precautior	ns to con	nmon	areas ((S9)					Y	N	Sq m	:	
	Y	Replace non fire resista	nt/smok	e pern	neable	structu	re/poly	. tiles			Y	N	Sq m	:	
	Y	Upgrade stairway to pro	tected r	oute							Y	N	Flight	s:	
	Y	Replace inadequate hea	ating sys	stem								N			
	Y	Provide fire stop wall to	loft space	ce								N	Numł	per:	
	Y	Provide self-closing doo	ors								Y	N	Num	ber:	
	Y	Install smoke detection	measure	es							Y	N	Num	ber:	
	Y	Provide suitable openat	le windo	ows/do	oors for	MOE (S5, S9	9)				N	Num	ber:	
	Y	Provide fire escape										N	Flight	S:	
	Y	Remove obstacle										N	Num	ber:	
Elam	os hote	urfaces etc	Significa	ntly hic	nher		1								

Fidnies, no	t surfaces etc.		than av	/erage	igner	Y N			Average	•					
Likelihood of a g burnt/scalded	<u>child under 5</u> being					1000	560	320	180	100	56	32	18	6	2
Likely outcome	if Class 1 Extreme	%	<0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100		Must pat
burnt/scalded	Class 2 Severe %	ı	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100		add up to >100.2%
	Class 3 Serious %	, 0	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100		
Look-up table	equired	Likelih Class Outco 0.1% 0.2% 0.5% 1.0% 2.2% 4.6% 10.0% 21.5% 31.6% 46.4% 100%	ood 1 ime 1 i i	n 1000 F- E- E+ C-	1 in 560 F- F+ E D D C	1 in 320 F- F E D C- C C	1 in 1 H G G F F E D C C B A	80 1 i	n 100 F F E- D C B B B B H+ A	1 in 56 E- E D D C+ B A A A A	1 in 32 E D- D+ C B A A A A A	1 in D D C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C		1 in 6 C B A A A A A A A A A A	1 in 2 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Actio require	n d? Action										Cod elsewi	led nere?	Qua	antity	
Y	Repair, replace	or repos	ition h	eater, I	heating	or hot w	/ater pi	pes, o	r cove	er (S5)	Y	Ν	Num	ber:	
Y	Relocate cooke	r										Ν	Num	ber:	
Y	Re-fit, extend, r	e-site kit	chen (S5)							Y	Ν	Num	ber:	
Y	Remove obstac	le										Ν	Num	ber:	

Dam	p and Mo	ould Gi	rowth	Sign than	ificantly h average	igher	Y N]	Ave	rage						
Likeliho sufferin	ood of a <u>pers</u> ig illness	on under	<u>15</u>					560	320	180	100	56	32	18	6	2
Likely o	outcome if	Class 1	Extreme %	<0	.1 0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	1	Must not
should	fall ill	Class 2	Severe %	0.	1 0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	>	add up to >100.2%
		Class 3	Serious %	0.	1 0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	J	
Look-	up table Action req	uired	Likelihood Class 1 Outcome 0.1% 0.2% 0.5% 1.0% 2.2% 4.6% 4.6% 31.6% 31.6% 31.6%	1 in 1800	1 in 1000	1 in 560 I-	1 in 320 1	1 in 1 H	80 1 ir	n 100 G	1 in 56 F-	1 in 32 F	1 in 1		in 6 D+	1 in 2 A
[Action required?	Action	I								els	Coded ewher	e? Qu	antity		
	Y	Treat r	ising damp	(S5, S18)						Y	′		_		

ř	Treat rising damp (S5, S18)	Ť		
Y	Treat penetrating damp, leaking pipes and services (S5, S18)	Y	N	Number:
Y	Condensation - extractor fans to install/repair (S5)		N	Number:
Y	Condensation - repair/provide opening window (S9, S18)	Y	N	Number:
Y	Repair/replace/improve heating system (S5)	Y	N	Number:
Y	Improve Insulation (S5, S6, S16, S18)	Y		

Entry by intr	uders	Signification Signification Signification Signature Signature Structure Stru	antly hig erage	gher	Y N						Average			
Likelihood of a person being affected											32	18	6	2
Likely outcome if a person is affected	Class 1 Extreme %	<0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	ר	Must not
	Class 2 Severe %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	>	add up to >100.2%
	Class 3 Serious %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	J	
l ook-un table	Likelihood		<u> </u>								-			

-			
1 00	k-un	tab	e

							-				
Likelihood											
Class 1											
Outcome	1 in 1800	1 in 1000	1 in 560	1 in 320	1 in 180	1 in 100	1 in 56	1 in 32	1 in 18	1 in 6	1 in 2
0.1%								F	E	D+	A
0.2%											
0.5%											
1.0%											
2.2%											
4.6%											
10.0%											
21.5%											
31.6%											
46.4%											
100%											

Action required

Action		Co	ded		
required?	Action	elsew	here?	Quantity	
Y	Make doors to dwelling secure (S5, S18)	Y	N	Number:	
Y	Make windows to dwelling secure (S5, S18)	Y	N	Number:	
Y	Provide additional (security) lighting		N	Number:	
Y	Install alarm system/CCTV to dwelling		N		
Y	Provide concierge or entry phone system to block of flats		N		
Y	Repair/provide defensible space to dwelling		N	Sq m:	
Y	Neighbourhood problems which require measures other than improvement	s to dw	elling s	security	

Nois	e		Significan than aver											
Likelih being a	ood of a pers	on			Average 1000	560	320	180	100	56	32	18	6	2
Likely	outcome	Class 1 Extreme %	<0.1	0.2 0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	רו	Must not
affecte	d	Class 2 Severe %	0.1	0.2 0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100		add up to >100.2%
		Class 3 Serious %	0.1	0.2 0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	J	
Look-	up table	Likelihood Class 1 Outcome 1 in 0.1% 0.2% 0.5% 1.0% 2.2% 4.6% 10.0% 21.5% 31.6% 46.4% 100%	1800 1 in 1 J	1000 1 in 560	1 in 320) <u>1 in 18</u>	30 1 in	100	1 in 56 F-	1 in 32 F	1 in 1 E		in 6 D+	1 in 2 A
	Action req	uired								Codod				
	required?	Action							els	ewhere	e? Qu	antity	,	
	Y	Soundproof floors		N	Sq	m:								
	Y	Soundproof ceiling		N	Sq	m:								
	Y	Soundproof / move no	isy machi	nery / equi	oment					N	Nu	mber:		
	Y	Soundproof partitions	oundproof partitions											
	Y	Soundproof party wall	oundproof party walls											

Collision and entrapment

Υ

Υ

Collision and	Signification structure st	antly hig erage	her	ΥN]									
							/	Average lov headroom	v		Average			
Likelihood of a <u>chil</u> <u>under 5</u> being injur	<u>d</u> red							180	100	56	32	18	6	2
Likely outcome if a <u>child under 5</u> is injured	Class 1 Extreme %	<0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	Mu ad >1	Must not add up to >100.2%
	Class 2 Severe %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100		
	Class 3 Serious %	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2.2	4.6	10	21.5	31.6	46.4	100	J	

Install secondary glazing to windows/repair windows

Provide mechanical ventilation

Look-up table

Likelihood											
Outcome	1 in 1800	1 in 1000	1 in 560	1 in 320	1 in 180	1 in 100	1 in 56	1 in 32	1 in 18	1 in 6	1 in 2
0.1%								F	F+	D	Α
0.2%								F	E	D	Α
0.5%								E	E	С	A
1.0%							E	E	D	B-	Α
2.2%						E	E	D	С	В	Α
4.6%					E	E+	D	С	В	Α	Α
10.0%					D	C-	С	В	Α	Α	Α
21.5%					С	B-	В	Α	Α	Α	Α
31.6%					Ċ	В	A	A	A	A	A
46.4%					B	B+	A	A	A	A	A
100%					Δ_	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	Δ	Δ

Υ

Ν

Ν

Number:

Number:

T

Action requ	Action required										
Action required?	Action	Co elsew	ded here?	Quantity							
Y	Repair/replace windows (S9, S18)	Y	Ν	Number:							
Y	Repair/replace doors (S5, S9, S18)	Y	Ν	Number:							
Y	Signpost low headroom		Ν	Number:							
Y	Remove obstacle		Ν	Number:							

23. Fitness Outcome

Review the survey form and assess whether the dwelling is fit for habitation against the following list of items. If the dwelling is <u>unfit</u> under any heading, describe the reasoning in the space provided.

	Unfit	Defective	Aceptable	Satisfactory				
1. Structural stability	1	2	3	4				
2. Disrepair	1	2	3	4				
3. Dampness	1	2	3	4				
		-	Ů					
4. Lighting	1	2	3	4				
	·		·					
C. Handler								
5. Heating	1	2	3	4				
6.Ventilation	1	2	3	4				
7. Water Supply	1	2	3	4				
9 Food Droporation								
8. Food Preparation	1	2	3	4				
9. WC	1	2	3	4				
10. Bath / Shower / WHB	1	2	3	4				
11 Drainage	4	2	2	4				
TT. Drainage	1	2	3	4				
Refer to the final								
fitness assessments	Unfit	Defective	Aceptable	Satisfactory				
above andconfirm	1	2	3	4				
whether the dwelling				7				
	Is this a clea	r cut decis	ion? Y N					
If unfit on one or more of	these iten	ns above	:					
						1		
Are there any migrating	None	5	Short-term	Being ma	de fit			
circumstances for unfitness decision?	1	re	2	3				
								1
			RETAIN	1		DO NOT	RETAIN	
If unfit or fit: What is the most	No actio	on Re	pair/Improve	Repair/im	prove	Demolish/replace	Demolish/replace	
appropriate course of		sin	gie awelling	dwellir	igs	dwelling	ыоск/group of dwellings	
action?	1		2	3		4	5	

24. Local area

							p									
				Urb	Urban						Rural					
Eight band definition	Band A	4	Ban	nd B	Band C	; Ba	ind D	Ba	and E	Ba	ind F	Ba	nd G		Band H	
	Belfast Metro Urban Area	opolitan (BMUA)	Derry Ar	Urban rea	Large Town	Me T	edium ōwn	5 1	Small Town	Inter Sett	mediate lement	Vi	llage	Small Ope	Village, H n countrys	amlet, side
	1		2	2	3		4		5		6		7		8	
Number of dwellings	Under 25	25-	49	50-99	10	0-299	300	-499	Ę	500+	Isolate	əd	lf iso	olated	go to	
iii died	1	2		3		4		5		6	7		vis	ual qu	ality	Π
Predominant age	Pre 1919	1919-	1944 1	1945-19	64 196	5-1980	Post	1980	1 C	lone]					
-	1	2		3		4		5		6						
			Hous	es						FI	ats				Mixed	1
Predominant	Terraced	Ser	ni-	Detache	d N	ixed	Con	verte	d Lo	w rise	High ri	se	Mixed	d	houses	
residential		detac	hed		hc	uses	fl	ats		flats	flats		flats	- a	ind flats	
building type	1	2		3		4		5		6	7		8		9	
	Deitsestelles I		1			1		N.A.			1	9.1.4				
Predominant tenure	Privately t	Suilt	Local	authority	/ I asso	lousing	g built	IVID	(ed te	nure	Imposs	ible to	C			
as built	1			2	uooe	3	built		4		9	tann				
Estato																
Number of dwellings	Not on	Same	e as	Under 2	25 2	5-49	50	-99	10	0-299	300-4	99	500+			
on estate	estate	are 1	ea	2		3		л		5	6		7			
	0			2		5		4		5	0		1			
If area is L.A.	Not on	None	(0%)	1-10%	11	-25%	26-	50%	51	-75%	76-99	%	100%	, D		
estate, % of RTB	L.A. estate		、 <i>′</i>													
dwellings	8	1		2		3		4		5	6		7			
			E	Best									Wor	st		
Viewal quality of	local are	~		1	2		3		4	5	(6	7			
visual quality of	local are	a														
Problems in loca	al area															
				No p	oroblem	s						Μ	ajor pro	oblems	;	
Litter/rubbish/dumpin	g				1		2			3	4		į	5		
Graffiti					1	_	2	_		3	4		!	5		
Vandalism					1		2	_		3	4		Ę	5	-	
Dog/other excrement					1		2	_		3	4			5	-	
Condition of aweiling	5				1	-	2	-		5 5	4		;	5	-	
Vacant sites					1		2			2	4			5	-	
Non-conforming uses					1		2			3	4			5	-	
Vacant/boarded-up b	, uildinas				1		2			3	4		, I	5		
Ambient air quality					1		2			3	<u> </u>			5		
Heavy traffic					1		2			3	4		!	5		
Intrusion from motory	vays/main ro	bads			1		2		;	3	4		!	5	1	
Railway/aircraft noise					1		2			3	4		į	5		
Nuisance from street	parking				1		2		;	3	4		!	5		
Scruffy gardens/lands	scaping				1		2		;	3	4		ę	5		
Scruffy/neglected bui	Idings				1		2			3	4		!	5		

Clearly define an area of manageable size before completing this page.

Condition of road, pavements and street furniture

Painted kerbs

Graffiti (sectarian)

Notes:

APPENDIX C Estimating Repair Costs

Introduction

This appendix briefly outlines the methodology used to produce the repair costs quoted in the main report. It looks at how the primary data was collected by surveyors and its interpretation by the Building Research Establishment's repair cost model to produce the final estimates.

Primary Data

Four types of information were used to calculate base repair costs:

- The surveyor's assessments of the types of internal repair needed and their extent. Much of this information was collected on the basis of how many tenths of a specific element required repair or replacement.
- External elements and items were assessed on the basis of materials and forms. Appropriate treatments were recommended. In both cases the information was entered on to the survey form in tenths.
- Building dimensions were measured and entered in the survey form in metres.
- Unit prices for different types of jobs were taken from the National Schedule of Rates and inflated using a tender price index to current levels, with a further cost factor of 0.75 for to reflect the regional price difference for Northern Ireland.
- 1. Normally the interior was surveyed first, then the exterior.
 - A number of rooms were selected to give a representative view of the dwelling as a whole: living room, kitchen, bedroom and bathroom.
 - The total number of rooms present was noted and the overall estimates for the dwelling increased accordingly.
 - All the internal facilities and services, bath, WC, wash hand basin, sink etc were surveyed individually.

- 2. For the common area of flats, only representative portions were surveyed and these were scaled up as appropriate.
- 3. Dwellings were assessed externally from two viewpoints, chosen so that, taken together, the whole of the exterior was seen.
- 4. Surveyors were instructed to make their assessments based on several assumptions:
 - Dwellings were assumed to have an indefinite life span.
 - Replacement was to be delayed if reasonable repairs could be carried out in the interim.
 - It was assumed that repairs rather than replacements would be carried out unless: (i) this was impossible or (ii) replacement would still be necessary within five years or (iii) the element would need replacement in any case e.g. because it was unsuitable for its intended purpose.
 - Functionality was the criterion i.e. not modernisation, upgrading, fashion or cosmetic improvement.
 - Economies of scale were not to be a criterion e.g. if total replacement would cost little more than, say, 80 per cent of replacement, cost was nevertheless based on partial replacement.
- 5. The assessment was based on:
 - Proportion of area where appropriate e.g. roofs, walls etc.
 - Number of units e.g. doors, windows etc.
 - Linear amount for those for which area was inappropriate e.g. gutters.
- 6. For linear elements the quantity was multiplied by unit cost e.g. for gutters per metre, for discrete elements e.g. doors by unit cost (£) and for areabased elements by cost per square metre.
 - Replacement was on a like-for-like basis e.g. slate roof for slate roof, wooden window frame for wooden window frame where practical.

- 7. All the costs were calculated for individual dwellings
 - For flats, the common areas and exterior costs were divided by the number of flats and added to the individual costs of the interiors to give the total cost.

Missing Data

8. Surveyors may have omitted some data or entered incorrect data.

Where appropriate, this was referred back to the surveyor, but otherwise imputation was applied on the following basis:

- Dimensions, where implausible or missing, were corrected with the help of photographs, and surveyor diagrams.
- Where data on components were missing e.g. where a roof had a pitched and flat section, and only the pitched section had its repair needs recorded, the same proportion needing repair was entered for the flat section.
- When an element, for which there was data on one view, was missing on the other view, it was assumed that both needed the same treatment.
- If whole elements were missing, e.g. windows the average for dwellings of a similar age and type was used.

Add-ons, up-lifts and preliminaries were used to modify base costs e.g. preliminary work before the specified work could begin, accessing equipment such as scaffolding and economies of scale. Economies of scale take account of the amount of work being done to one dwelling, say a call-out and whether more than one dwelling was likely to be included in one contract.

Repair Costs

- 9. The two main types of costs measures were:
- a) The extent of disrepair in terms of elements or unit costs.

- b) Overall cost per dwelling so that aggregated costs could be assessed.
 - Standardised (unit) costs were based on £ per square metre on the assumption that a contract contained five dwellings.
 - Required expenditure was total costs per dwelling based on single dwellings in the private sector. Unless a dwelling was specifically noted as a stand alone in the public sector the costs were based on the size of the estate the dwelling was on. For flats the basis was always the complete block.
 - Comparisons of cost may only be valid as an indication of relative condition if care is taken to ensure that all other factors are equal e.g. size and form.
- 10. The BRE model processed this detailed information to provide repair costs for each dwelling as a whole and for each of its main elements. The results were then aggregated and are presented in tabular form in the Annex and in the text of the main report.
- 11. In statistical terms, the distribution of repair costs per dwelling was not normal:
 - Most dwellings required relatively little or no expenditure, but a few required a great deal.
 - Thus the mean level of expenditure gave a less accurate indication of the typical level of expenditure required than the median.
 - The median cost could not be used for grossing up to total expenditure requirements

 the mean was used for this purpose.

Repair Costs 2009 - 2011

The surveyors collecting the data were all briefed in the same manner in 2009 and 2011. However, surveyors' opinions can vary over time and consequently any comparisons made between the two surveys will include some unquantifiable error due to surveyor judgement shift.

APPENDIX D Technical Issues

Sample Design

- 1. The 2011 Northern Ireland House Condition Survey was based on a random sample of 2,030 dwellings completed in two stages. The sampling method chosen was one considered to permit a better matching with the 2011 Census for the purpose of regression modelling.
 - The first stage was a random sample of 1,000 properties across Northern Ireland. This was checked for distribution and was considered to be a reasonable representation of District Council areas.
 - The second stage was a further random sample of 1,030 properties selected by District Council Area to ensure that each district total added to 70. In Belfast District Council Area, a total of 280 households were selected (70 in North, East, South and West Belfast).
- 2. The sample frame in 2011 was the survey sampling database held at the Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (NISRA). This database contained a subset of the computerised records for domestic residential property maintained by the Valuation and Lands Agency.

Weighting and Grossing

- 3. Weighting and grossing is the process whereby the information gathered by means of a sample survey is translated into figures that reflect the real world. The process has a number of stages reflecting the separate stages of the sampling process and the survey process itself. In the case of the 2011 HCS it also has to take account of the need to allow for new build and demolitions and to control the survey-based statistics to external totals (district council area by tenure).
- 4. The two strands of this process (weighting and grossing) were merged into a single 'weight' and applied to each sampled dwelling and the data held for it.

5. Non response is a potential source of error that can be difficult to correct. However, an initial adjustment was made for non response on the basis of tenure. Non response was higher in private sector dwellings than in the social sector. An adjustment was made to correct this imbalance.

Sample Error

6. It has become normal practice to estimate the sample errors at the 95% confidence level i.e. the results would be replicated nineteen times out of twenty if the survey were repeated.

The formula for sample error is:

Where P is the percentage in question and N is the sample size in question. Where N is large, for convenience this 1 is ignored. The result of application of this formula is that the percentage error increases as the sample size is reduced and the relative error increases when the percentage is very low or very high e.g. less than 10% or higher than 90%.

- 7. Taking an example of a sample size of 100 and where the percentage in question is 10
 - S sample error =



Thus the percentage (10%) should be read as 10% +/-5.91% i.e. one can only be sure that the percentage is between 4.09% and 15.91%. For 50% and a sample size of 100 the sample error would be +/- 9.85% i.e. the range would be from 41.15% to 59.85%.

8. The table of sample errors below has been calculated for an approximate achieved sample, after allowance for non response.

%		5 or	10 or	15 or	20 or	25 or	30 or	35 or	40 or	45 or	50 50
Sample Size:		95	90	85	80	75	70	65	60	55	
	100	4.3	5.9	7.0	7.9	8.5	9.0	9.4	9.7	9.8	9.8
Vacant	110	4.1	5.6	6.7	7.5	8.1	8.6	9.0	9.2	9.3	9.4
Private Rented	240	2.8	3.8	4.5	5.1	5.5	5.8	6.0	6.2	6.3	6.3
Social Housing	230	2.8	3.9	4.6	5.2	5.6	5.9	6.2	6.3	6.4	6.5
Owner Occupied	850	1.5	2.0	2.4	2.7	2.9	3.1	3.2	3.3	3.3	3.4
Occupied	1300	1.2	1.6	1.9	2.2	2.4	2.5	2.6	2.7	2.7	2.7
Northern Ireland	1400	1.1	1.6	1.9	2.1	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.6	2.6	2.6

Table 1: Sample errors

- 9. It is most important, when comparisons are being made between Areas or between Northern Ireland and other parts of the UK, or between results of this Survey and previous Surveys, that potential sample error is calculated, even approximately, to determine whether there are real differences.
- 10. The sample issued consisted of the following components.

First Fresh Random Sample	1000
Second Stage Sample	1030
Total Sample	2030

Response Rate

1. The following table summarises the Survey outcome.

	Number	%
Full Survey	1434	71
No contact made	171	8
Access refused to Surveyor	254	13
Access refused at NIHE	114	6
Address untraceable	7	<1
Dwelling derelict	10	1
Dwelling demolished	9	<1
No longer usable as a dwelling	7	<1
Other (includes 17 out of scope)	24	1
Total	2030	100

2. Of the 2,030 addresses issued to surveyors, full surveys were completed for 1,434 properties giving a gross response rate of 71%. However, the potential response was 1,987 (excluding not traced, derelict, demolished and out of scope addresses on sample frame e.g. building sites), giving a response rate for the physical survey of 72% 1,434 out of 1,987).

- 3. The response rate for the household survey was higher. Overall, 1,322 inspected dwellings were occupied and of these 1,314 household interviews were achieved, a response rate of 99%.
- 4. The number of vacant dwellings visited during the Survey was 112. Therefore the total number of dwellings in which a household interview would have been possible was 1,987-112=1,875. This gives a social survey response rate of 70% (1,314 interviews out of 1,875).

The following table summarises the response rates:

Table 3: Response rates 2011

Full surveys as a % of sample	71%
Full physical surveys as a % of existing dwellings	72%
Full social surveys as a % of inspected occupied dwellings	99%
Full social surveys as a % of existing dwellings	70%

Rounding

- 1. Annex table numbers are rounded to nearest 10 and percentages to the nearest 0.1.
- However, in the main text percentages are rounded in an attempt to prevent readers gaining an exaggerated impression of their accuracy. Percentages were rounded up if the percentage was .5 or more (e.g. 10.5% was rounded up to 11%). There might be more than one instance of rounding up or down. Therefore, the total column may add to more or less than 100%. However, the total column in the table will still be shown as 100%.

APPENDIX E Glossary

Basic Amenities:

There are five basic amenities:

- kitchen sink
- bath or shower in a bathroom
- a wash hand basin
- hot and cold water to the above
- inside WC

Bedroom Standard

The bedroom standard is calculated as follows:

- A separate bedroom is allocated to each cohabiting couple, any other person aged 21 or over, each pair of young persons aged 10-20 of the same sex and each pair of children under 10 (regardless of sex).
- Unpaired young persons aged 10-20 are paired with a child under 10 of the same sex or, if possible, allocated a separate bedroom.
- Any remaining unpaired children under 10 are also allocated a separate bedroom.
- The calculated standard for the household is then compared with the actual number of bedrooms available for its sole use to indicate deficiencies or excesses.
- Bedrooms include bed-sits, box rooms and bedrooms that are identified as such by interviewees even though they may not be in use as such.

Central Heating System

Central heating was defined as a heating system with a distribution system sufficient to provide heat in at least two rooms. One of these may be to the room or space containing the boiler. For the purpose of this report, the definition also includes electric storage heaters that run on off-peak electricity.

Dwelling Age

The age of the dwelling refers to the date of construction of the oldest part of the building.

Double Glazing

Factory made sealed window units. This does not include windows with secondary glazing or external doors with double or secondary glazing (other than double glazed patio doors which count as 2 windows).

Dwelling Location

See Settlement Type (below)

Dwelling

A dwelling is a self contained unit of accommodation where all rooms and facilities available for the use of the occupants are behind a front door. For the most part a dwelling will contain one household, but may contain none (vacant dwelling), or may contain more than one household in which case it is a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO).

Floorspace

The usable internal floor area of the dwelling as measured by the surveyor, rounded to the nearest square metre. The area under partition walls has been excluded, as has that for integral garages and stores accessed from the outside only.

Household Reference Person

The household reference person is the member of the household who owns or pays the rent or mortgage on the property. Where two people have equal claim (e.g. husband and wife jointly owns the property) the household reference person is the person with the highest annual income. This definition is for analysis purposes and does not imply any authoritative relationship within the households.

Household

A single person living alone or a group of people living at the same address as their only or main

residence either sharing a living room or sharing at least one meal a day or sharing a substantial proportion of domestic shopping arrangements (e.g. food shopping). There should therefore be a degree of interaction between household members.

Household Types

Due to the smaller sample in 2011 Household Types were recoded into three groups as follows:

Adult Households

Lone Adult

One adult below pensionable age (65 for men, 60 for women).

Two Adults

Two people, related or unrelated, below pensionable age (65 for men, 60 for women).

Large Adult

Three or more adults, related or unrelated, and no dependent children aged under 16.

Households with Children

Lone Parent

One adult living with one or more dependent children aged under 16.

Small Family

Two adults, related or unrelated, living with one or two dependent children aged under 16.

Large Family

Two adults, related or unrelated, living with three or more dependent children aged under 16; OR three or more adults living with one or more dependent children aged under 16.

Older Households

Two Person Older

Two people, related or unrelated, at least one of whom is of pensionable age (65 plus for men and 60 plus for women).

Lone Older

One person of pensionable age or older (65 plus for men, 60 plus for women).

Repair Costs Faults

A fault is any problem which is not of a purely cosmetic nature and which either represents a health or safety hazard, or threatens further deterioration to the specific element or any other part of the building.

Faults requiring urgent treatment

Where surveyors recorded work to be carried out to an exterior building element, they indicated whether the work specified was urgent; defined as that needed to be undertaken immediately to remove threats to the health, safety, security and comfort of the occupants and to forestall further rapid deterioration of the building.

Urgent Repair Costs

These are any works specified to deal with an external fault where its treatment was specified as urgent (see above), plus all recorded work to internal elements.

Basic Repair Costs

These are all urgent repairs plus all other repairs/ replacements to external elements where the surveyor indicated a fault, but where the work was not specified as urgent.

Comprehensive Repair Costs

This includes all basic repairs together with any replacements the surveyor assessed as falling due over the next 10 years. For all exterior elements, whether work was specified or not, the replacement period of that element was recorded i.e. the number of years before it would need replacing.

Standardised Costs

These are costs in \pounds per square metre (\pounds/m^2) based on prices for Northern Ireland. It is assumed that all work is undertaken by contractors on a block contract basis. For flats, the size of the contract is assumed to be the whole block and for houses it is taken as a group of 5 dwellings. As such, the costs are more closely associated with those that may be incurred by a landlord organising the work on a planned programme basis. By reducing costs to a \pounds/m^2 basis the effect of the size of buildings on the amount of disrepair recorded is negated, otherwise the extent of the disrepair measured is substantially driven by the size of the building.

Second Home

A second home is a dwelling that is occupied by a household, but not as their primary residence. In Northern Ireland these are largely holiday homes, used solely for holidays or weekends, both for family use or as a commercial holiday let.

The House Condition Survey came across very few second homes for business purposes. The survey also recorded a third category: abandoned usually rural dwellings that belonged to a parent, grandparent or other relation and have now passed to a younger family member who lives elsewhere.

Tenure

The following categories are used for most reporting purposes:

Owner occupied

Dwellings occupied by households who own their own homes outright or are buying them with a mortgage/loan. It includes houses part owned by Northern Ireland Co-ownership Housing Association.

Private rented (and others)

Occupied dwellings rented from private landlords. Includes households living rent free, or in tied homes or as wardens of, for example, housing association dwellings.

Social Housing

All occupied dwellings owned and managed by the Northern Ireland Housing Executive and all occupied dwellings owned and managed by housing associations (registered and unregistered) with the exception of NI Co-ownership Housing Association.

Vacant Dwellings

Classified as a separate "tenure" (see below) they were vacant on the day the surveyor carried out the survey.

Settlement types

The settlement types used for the 2011 House Condition Survey were used in previous surveys. In 2004, 2006 and 2009 surveyors gathered the information themselves using a guidance booklet which categorised each address into one of the settlement groupings. In 2001 the settlement type information was added to the database afterwards using Geographical Information Systems (GIS).

In 2006, the categorization of the Belfast Area and District/Other Towns changed and the categories were reduced to four settlement groups. Therefore direct comparisons with 2001 and 2004 are no longer possible.

The hierarchy of 2011 settlement groups is as follows:

Belfast Metropolitan Area (BMA)

The concept of the old Belfast Urban Area has now been superseded by a more easily defined Belfast Metropolitan Area which includes the following six councils:

- Belfast
- Carrickfergus
- Newtownabbey
- Lisburn
- Castlereagh
- North Down

All dwellings in these six District Councils were classified as BMA.

District and Other towns

The historic distinction by Planning Service between District and "Other" towns is no longer meaningful. The following towns are classified under this heading:

Antrim	Derry	Omagh	Portrush
Armagh	Downpatrick	Strabane	Portstewart
Ballycastle	Dungannon	Randalstown	Newcastle
Ballymena	Enniskillen	Comber	Ballynahinch
Ballymoney	Larne	Donaghadee	Coalisland
Banbridge	Limavady	Tandragee	Dungiven
Coleraine	Magherafelt	Dromore	Kilkeel
Cookstown	Newtownards	Rathfriland	Warrenpoint
Craigavon (including Lurgan and Portadown)	Newry	Carryduff	

Small Rural Settlements

These are defined as those dwellings served by street lights which are distinct from and usually separated by open land from District towns/Other towns and outside BMA.

This classification demands some judgement;

- a) A few street lights on a busy main road do not necessarily make a few scattered houses a settlement.
- b) The Housing Executive has some small estates in rural areas with street lights but no posted settlement name. These should be counted as smaller settlements.
- c) Where some smaller settlements are being swallowed up by District Towns they should be counted within the District Town.

The use of the street light definition rather than villages and hamlets is because the latter are based on the presence of such amenities as churches and pubs. This definition works in England where it originated but not in Northern Ireland. Likewise numbers of dwellings in the area are difficult to assess in the scattered settlement types in Northern Ireland.

Isolated Rural

Not served by street lights. Again judgement is needed on the edges of settlements. Any dwellings within BMA settlement area was defined as BMA even if not served by street lights.

Type of Dwelling

Dwellings are classified by surveyors as follows:

- Terraced house a house forming part of a block where at least one house is attached to two or more other houses.
- Semi-detached house a house that is attached to one other house.
- Detached house a house where none of the habitable structure is joined to another building (other than garages, outhouses etc).
- Purpose built flat a flat in a purpose built block. Includes cases where there is only one flat with independent access in a building which is also used for non-domestic purposes.
- Converted flat a flat resulting from the conversion of a house or former non-residential building. Includes buildings converted into a flat plus commercial premises (typically corner shops).
- Bungalow was defined as a house with all of the habitable accommodation on one floor. It excluded chalet bungalows and bungalows with habitable loft conversions, which are treated as houses. In the interests of clarity these are usually referred to as single storey houses in the text of the main report.

Vacant Dwellings

The assessment of whether or not a dwelling was vacant was made at the time of the survey. Clarification of vacancy was sought from neighbours. Surveyors were required to gain access to vacant dwellings and undertake full inspections. The tenure when last occupied was noted for analysis purposes. However, in the private sector in particular, this does not mean it will be in this tenure when next occupied. Vacant dwellings are therefore normally analysed as a separate "tenure".

Cavity Wall Insulation

For the purposes of this analysis the following classification has been adopted:

- Full Cavity Wall Insulation dwellings constructed with cavity walls where all walls contain cavity wall insulation.
- Partial Cavity Wall Insulation dwellings of cavity wall construction or partly of solid wall and partly of cavity wall construction, where at least one cavity wall contains insulation. A small number of dwellings were recorded as having no cavity walls but have cavity wall insulation. These dwellings have insulated concrete or timber panels and are classified as partial cavity wall insulation.
- Internal/External Insulation dwellings originally built with solid wall construction, not included in the above category, but which have at least one wall with external insulation or internal insulation.
- No Wall Insulation the remaining dwellings (of cavity wall or solid construction or both) where there is no evidence of insulation.

Fitness Decisions

The terms Satisfactory, Acceptable, Defective and Unfit are somewhat artificial concepts used in House Condition Surveys to indicate the condition of a property on a 'sliding scale.'

The only true legal decision that the surveyors must make is whether the property is:

• "so far defective in one or more of the 9 points [or headings or criterion] contained in the fitness standard as to be unreasonable for occupation in that condition". This definition must guide the surveyor's decision in deciding if the property is legally Fit or Unfit. The three terms Satisfactory, Acceptable and Defective are degrees of fitness.

Surveyors are given the following guidance in assessing fitness in the NIHCS:

- Satisfactory means that there are NO or very, very insignificant faults in relation to each heading.
- Acceptable means that there are some faults of a minor nature that do not significantly impact on the overall condition or fitness judgements.
- Defective indicates quite serious faults that are bringing the property close to a judgement of unfitness but not quite enough to make that final jump to a decision that the property fails the standard.
- Unfit means the property fails the fitness standard, is unsuitable for occupation in that condition, and that statutory action by the Housing Executive is required.

Note:

Surveyors are told that if the condition of the property makes them start thinking that it could be unfit under any of the headings, then it can not be any better than defective under that heading.

APPENDIX F

Schematic diagram of the 2011 Northern Ireland Fuel poverty Model



Income Model

Northern Ireland Income Calculation summary

Gross annual income is collected for the Household Reference Person (HRP) and Partner (where present) in each household. Housing benefit, rates rebate and Winter Fuel Payment (WFP) are subtracted from the total gross income and income Tax and National Insurance are deducted where applicable. Where a household on certain benefits has a net income below what they should be entitled to under income support their income is raised to that level. The income of additional adults is not collected and so an income amount for each additional adult in a household is imputed by a 'hot decking' technique using additional adult income data from the 2010 English Housing Survey, adjusted to reflect Northern Ireland wages and 2011 data. The variables used for the additional adult income imputations were sex, banded age and employment status. This additional adult income along with Winter Fuel Payment (where applicable) are added to the net income of the Primary Benefit Unit (HRP and Partner) to create a 'basic' income variable. Housing benefit is added to this variable and finally net rates payable are deducted to create a 'full' income variable.

Calculation of Fuel Prices

The fuel price element of the fuel poverty model generates a case by case output to be fed into the energy consumption model.

The price each household pays for its fuel depends on four main factors:

- 1. The household's location within the country (fuel prices vary regionally however, only one region is considered for Northern Ireland).
- 2. The choice of supplier
- 3. The choice of tariff
- 4. The method of payment where relevant (i.e. payment by direct debit, credit etc).

Information on the exact tariff, or the supplier, is not collected in the NIHCS. The survey does however collect information on the geographical location

of each case and on the method of payment (for metered fuels). This allows the application of an average fuel price for each region and method of payment. Fuel prices specific to each household are calculated for each case.

Household Requirements Model - Extent of Heating, under occupancy, Bedroom standard & Parker Morris Standard

Some dwellings are considered excessive in size for the number of occupants that live there. In this case the house is assumed to be "under-occupied" that is, only a proportion of the dwelling will need heating. In order for a dwelling to be considered under-occupied it must fulfil the following criteria that depend on both the number of bedrooms in a dwelling and the total floor area of the dwelling:

Bedroom Standard

A dwelling is considered to have surplus bedrooms if:

- a) there are one or more extra bedrooms than required for homes without dependent children (children under 18 years)
- or
- b) there are two or more extra bedrooms than required for homes with dependent children.
- The number of bedrooms required depends on the household constitution. The standard states that:
- A bedroom is required for each couple.
- Children of different sexes below the age of 11 years can share a room.
- Children/adolescents below the age of 21 years of the same sex can share a room.

Floor Area

There is surplus floor area in a property if the floor area of the property is over 200% of that considered to be the "standard" living area required for the number of occupants, as defined by the Parker-Morris Standard [4]. Table 1 defines this standard.

Occupants	Standard living area required (m²)
1	33
2	48.5
3	61
4	79
5	89.5
6	97
7	114.5
8	128
9	140

Table 1: Parker Morris Standard

For the purposes of fuel poverty, a dwelling is considered to be under-occupied if there are both surplus bedrooms and surplus floor area.

If a dwelling is under-occupied then it is assumed that approximately half of the dwelling (based on the total floor-area of the dwelling and the layout of the floors) is heated, that is:

Aheated≈ 0.5A

where A is the total floor area of the dwelling.

Heating Regime

The following heating regimes are defined and used to calculate the energy consumption of a household. Different heating period lengths and timings are applied to households based on their working status.

For households indicating they are working, a standard heating regime is applied, assuming that the occupants are not occupying the dwelling during normal working hours. In this case it is assumed that the occupant heats the dwelling for two hours first thing in the morning and then for seven hours from late afternoon. During the weekend it is assumed that the property is heated throughout the day for 16 hours.

For those households where there are non working members, all day heating is assumed throughout the week (defined below as a full heating regime).

In dwellings that are under occupied, it is assumed that some of the rooms in the dwelling are not heated and a "half-house" partial heating regime is applied. For example, where a single person occupies a four bedroom house, it would be assumed that some of the bedrooms are not heated.

A summary of these regimes is shown below:

Details of STANDARD heating regime

Heating Pattern Weekday 9 hours of heating Weekend 16 hours of heating Heating Extent Whole house Demand Temperature Primary living zone 21°C Secondary living zone 18°C

Details of FULL heating regime

Heating Pattern Weekday 16 hours of heating Weekend 16 hours of heating Heating Extent Whole house Demand Temperature Primary living zone 21°C Secondary living zone 18°C

Details of PARTIAL STANDARD heating regime

Heating Pattern Weekday 9 hours of heating Weekend 16 hours of heating Heating Extent Half house Demand Temperature Primary living zone 21°C Secondary living zone 18°C

Details of PARTIAL FULL heating regime

Heating Pattern Weekday 16 hours of heating Weekend 16 hours of heating Heating Extent Half house Demand Temperature Primary living zone 21°C Secondary living zone 18°C

Having defined the heating regime used by each household, the energy use for space heating can be approximated using the BREDEM model which calculates the energy required to bring each dwelling to the designated temperatures and for a set period of time each day and across the year. This calculation needs to take on board details about the heating systems, applied insulation and dwelling construction and materials.

Energy Consumption/Fuel Costs

The amount of fuel consumed to provide the energy needs of each household is required as one of the components of the fuel poverty ratio, to assess whether a household is fuel poor. Under the fuel poverty definition, the energy required to heat and power a home includes energy for:

- 1. Space heating ES (GJ).
- 2. Water heating EW (GJ).
- 3. Lights and appliances EL&A (GJ).
- 4. Cooking EC (GJ).

The BREDEM model [2] is used to predict the energy use of a household where:

Total household fuel consumption = ES + EW + EL&A + EC.

Total household energy-use includes space and water heating (to meet defined standards) and energy for lights, appliances and cooking. The amount of energy required to heat a dwelling will depend on the building specification such as insulation levels, heating systems and the geographical location of the dwelling. A household's demand for energy will depend on the number of people within the household and the habits of these individuals. Information from the NIHCS is used to provide details about both dwellings and households. The calculation method for each component of energy consumption is consistent with standard energy models such as the Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) for calculating energy use in dwellings and the more general model from which SAP is derived (BREDEM).

Finally, fuel prices from the fuel price model are combined with the fuel consumption model to provide modelled fuel costs for each household.

Calculating the Fuel Poverty Ratio for each household.

The final task in the estimation of fuel poverty is to combine the fuel costs with the incomes to calculate the Fuel Poverty Ratio (FPR)

For each case on the NIHCS, a 'fuel poverty ratio' is calculated. This calculation has three components – energy prices (unit and standing charges), fuel consumption and income.

FPR = (Fuel Price * Fuel Consumption)/Income For each household

If the fuel poverty ratio is greater than 0.1 (i.e. a household spends more than 10% of their income on fuel) then the household is considered to be fuel poor.

APPENDIX G Modelling HHSRS Category 1 Hazards

This section presents an overview of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and how the various hazards are measured and modelled using data from the Northern Ireland House Condition Survey (NIHCS). It is divided into 3 sections:

- What is the HHSRS?
- How does NIHCS measure and model Category 1 hazards?
- Data quality and reliability

What is the HHSRS?

The HHSRS is a means of identifying defects in dwellings and of evaluating the potential effect of any defects on the health and safety of occupants, visitors, neighbours and passers-by. The System provides a means of rating the seriousness of any hazard, so that it is possible to differentiate between minor hazards and those where there is an imminent threat of major harm or even death. The emphasis is placed on the potential effect of any defects on the health and safety of occupants and visitors; particularly vulnerable people. Altogether 29 hazards are included (Table 1).

Physiological Requirements	Protection Against Infection
Damp and mould growth etc	Domestic hygiene, pests and refuse
Excessive cold	Food safety
Excessive heat	Personal hygiene, sanitation and drainage
	Water supply
Asbestos etc	
Biocides	Protection Against Accidents
CO and fuel combustion productions	Falls associated with baths etc
Lead	Falling on level surfaces
Radiation	Falling on stairs etc
Uncombusted fuel gas	Falling between levels
Volatile organic compounds	Electrical hazards
Psychological Requirements	Fire
Crowding and Space	
Entry by intruders	Flames, hot surfaces etc
Lighting	Collision and entrapment
	Explosions
Noise	Position and operability of amenities etc
	Structural collapse and falling elements

Table 1: The 29 hazards covered by HHSRS

The HHSRS scoring procedure uses a formula to generate a numerical Hazard Score for each of the hazards identified at the property - the higher the score, the greater the severity of that hazard. Potential hazards are assessed in relation to the most vulnerable class of person who might typically occupy or visit the dwelling. For example, for falls on stairs the vulnerable groups are children and the elderly (65+ years), for falls on the level it is the elderly, and for falls between levels it is children under 4 years old.

The hazard score formula requires the surveyor to make two judgements.

- The likelihood of the occurrence which could result in harm to a vulnerable person over the following twelve months. The likelihood is to be given as a ratio eg, 1 in 100, 1 in 500, etc.
- The likely health outcomes or harms which would result from the occurrence. From any occurrence there may be a most likely outcome, and other possible ones which may be more or less severe. For example, a fall from a second floor window could result in a 60% chance of a severe concussion, but there may also be a 30% chance of a more serious injury and a 10% chance of something less serious. The 4 classes of harms and associated weightings are listed in Table 2.

Table 2: Classes of Harms and Weightings Used in the HHSRS

Class	Examples	Weightings
Class I	Death, permanent paralysis below the neck, malignant lung tumour, regular severe pneumonia, permanent loss of consciousness, and 80% burn injuries.	10,000
Class II	Chronic confusion, mild strokes, regular severe fever, loss of a hand or foot, serious fractures, very serious burns and loss of consciousness for days.	1,000

Class	Chronic severe stress, mild heart attack, regular and persistent dermatitis, malignant but treatable skin cancer, loss of a finger, fractured skull, severe concussion, serious puncture wounds to head or body, severe burns to hands, serious strain or sprain injuries and regular and severe migraine.	300
Class IV	Occasional severe discomfort, chronic or regular skin irritation, benign tumours, occasional mild pneumonia, a broken finger, sprained hip, slight concussion, moderate cuts to face or body, severe bruising to body, 10% burns and regular serious coughs or colds.	10

From the judgements made by the surveyor, a hazard score can be generated for each hazard as illustrated below:

Class of Harm Weighting			Likelihood1 in		Spread of Harm (%)		
	10,000	÷	100	Х	0	=	0
	1,000	÷	100	Х	10	=	100
	300	÷	100	Х	30	=	90
IV	10	÷	100	Х	60	=	6
				Hazard Sc	core	=	196

To provide a simple means for handling and comparing the potentially wide range of Scores and avoid placing too much emphasis on the exact numbers, a series of ten Hazard Score Bands have been devised as shown below:

Band	Equivalent Hazard Score	Overall Severity
А	5,000 or more	Category 1
В	2,000 – 4,999	
С	1,000 –1,999	
D	500 – 999	Category 2
E	200 – 499	
F	100 – 199	
G	50 – 99	
Н	20 – 49	
	10 – 19	
J	9 or less	

The reporting focuses on Category 1 hazards (those in Bands A, B or C). There are currently a large number of worked examples available for training and assessment purposes. DCLG have also published a number of guidance documents detailing the matters to be taken into consideration in assessing each hazard and the average likelihoods and spread of outcomes for each hazard.

How Does NIHCS Measure and Model Category 1 Hazards?

The NIHCS does not attempt to directly measure all 29 hazards because this would be extremely timeconsuming (around half a day per assessment), require more extensive training and also the use of a specially programmed hand-held palm computer. It was agreed that the NIHCS could not be expected to carry out this type of assessment but BRE have devised a 'cut-down' method that would assess the key hazards in a way that could be incorporated into the existing NIHCS paper survey form. This was tested with a group of surveyors during 2000 and piloted as part of the 2001 NIHCS.

In the 2006 survey, surveyors were asked to rate five hazards directly. These five were chosen because the HHSRS statistics indicated that these would be the most frequent causes of failures of the HHSRS where NIHCS did not already collect relevant or proxy data in the physical survey.

In the 2009 and 2011 surveys and in line with the English Housing Survey the Northern Ireland HCS measured ten hazards directly

- Falls on stairs etc.
- Falls on level surfaces
- Falls between levels
- Falls associated with baths etc
- Fire
- Flames, hot surfaces, etc
- Damp and mould growth
- Entry by intruders
- Noise
- Collision and entrapment

For a further 12 hazards, surveyors were asked to assess whether they represented an 'extreme risk' which would be the equivalent of a Category 1 hazard:

- Excess heat
- Lighting
- Water supply for domestic purposes
- Food safety
- Personal hygiene, sanitation and drainage
- Position and operability of amenities
- Uncombusted fuel gas
- Explosions
- Electrical safety
- Carbon monoxide and fuel combustion products
- Domestic hygiene, pests and refuse
- Structural collapse and falling elements

The HHSRS guidance specifies, for each hazard, the group of occupants who are most likely to be at risk from the particular hazard; to have an increased likelihood of an incident happening and/or suffer more serious harms as a result (Table 3).

Table 3: Specified Vulnerable Group for Each Hazard

Hazard	Most vulnerable
	group
Dampness and mould growth	Age under 15
Excess cold	Age 65 or over
Carbon monoxide	Age 65 or over
Lead	Age under 3
Radon	Age 60-64
Crowding and space	None
Noise	None
Domestic hygiene etc.	None
Personal hygiene etc.	Age under 5
Falls on the level	Age 60 or over
Falls – stairs or steps	Age 60 or over
Falls between levels	Age under 5
Electrical hazards	Age under 5
Fire	Age 60 or over
Hot surfaces and materials	Age under 5
Collision and entrapment	Age under 5

NIHCS surveyors were clearly informed about the most vulnerable group for this hazard and they were instructed to assess the property ignoring the current occupancy and assume that the home was occupied by a member of that vulnerable group.

An additional four hazards were modelled using other data from the survey. The assumptions are the same as those used for modelling these hazards in the English Housing Survey (EHS). As with the measured hazards, current occupancy was ignored and the assumptions are summarised in Table 4.

Table 4: Methods used to model HHSRS Hazards Using NIHCS Data

Risk	Definition of category 1 hazard used
Excess Cold	The methodology for modelling excess cold was changed in 2011 following changes to the SAP methodology (from SAP05 to SAP09). A specific value of SAP05 does not equate to a specific value of SAP09 so it was no longer appropriate to use the SAP05 threshold value of 31.49 to model excess cold using SAP09. Instead a new 'equivalent' value of SAP09 was derived that ensured that the number and % of dwellings failing on excess cold would be the same on both SAP05 and SAP09 for the data. This new equivalent threshold value under SAP09 is 35.79 and all dwellings with a SAP09 rating less than this are categorised as posing a Category 1 excess cold hazard.
Radon	Dwelling located in one of the 16 post code sectors critical based on radon exposure map AND was a house built before 1980.
Lead	Dwelling located in one post code based on drinking water quality map AND built before 1945 AND with lead piping present either before or after the mains stop cock.
--------------	---
Overcrowding	The occupants per habitable room ratio was calculated. If this exceeded 2 the dwelling had a category 1 hazard regardless of size. If it was equal to 2 and the number of habitable rooms was 2 or more the dwelling also had category 1 hazard.

This means that the Northern Ireland HCS covers 26 out of the 29 hazards in the HHSRS.

Table 5: Summary of how NIHCS collects and models information about HHSRS hazards 2011

Hazard	2011
Dampness and mould growth	Fully measured
Excess cold	Modelled
Excess heat	Flagged
Asbestos (and MMF)	NOT COVERED
Biocides	NOT COVERED
Carbon monoxide	Flagged
Lead	Modelled
Radon	Modelled
Uncombusted fuel gas	Flagged
Volatile organic compounds	NOT COVERED
Crowding and space	Modelled
Entry by intruders	Fully measured
Lighting	Flagged
Noise	Fully measured
Domestic hygiene etc.	Flagged
Food safety	Flagged
Personal hygiene etc.	Flagged

Water supply	Flagged
Falls - baths	Fully measured
Falls on the level	Fully measured
Falls – stairs or steps	Fully measured
Falls between levels	Fully measured
Electrical hazards	Flagged
Fire	Fully measured
Hot surfaces and materials	Fully measured
Collision and entrapment	Fully measured
Explosions	Flagged
Ergonomics	Flagged
Structural collapse	Flagged

Data Quality and Reliability

Surveyors working on the HCS have received training and support to help ensure their HHSRS assessments are consistent and robust. They were given refresher training sessions in 2011 explaining the principles, how the form should be completed as well as conducting practical exercises with feedback sessions. While these measures will ensure some consistency in judgements, the HHSRS is still very new to surveyors in Northern Ireland and some variability is to be expected as surveyors become fully conversant with the methodology. The EHS approach to the HHSRS is now fixed and this will give surveyors the opportunity to fully consolidate their skills over the next few years.

APPENDIX H Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP09)

The Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) is the Government's recommended system for home energy ratings. SAP ratings allow comparisons of energy efficiency to be made, and can show the likely improvements to a dwelling in terms of energy use. The Building Regulations require a SAP assessment to be carried out for all new dwellings and conversions. The current version is SAP 2009, effective from March 2010. This is the version used throughout this report.

The SAP ratings give a measure of the annual unit energy cost of space and water heating for the dwelling under a heating regime, assuming specific heating patterns and room temperatures. The fuel prices used are averaged over the previous three years across the regions in the UK. The SAP takes into account a range of factors that contribute to energy efficiency, which include:

- thermal insulation of the building fabric;
- the shape and exposed surfaces of the dwelling;
- materials used for construction of the dwelling;
- efficiency and control of the heating system;
- the fuel used for space and water heating, ventilation and lighting;
- ventilation and solar gain characteristics of the dwelling;
- renewable energy technologies.

SAP is not affected by the individual characteristics of the household occupying the dwelling or by the geographical location.

The SAP scale.

The SAP09 rating is expressed on a logarithmic scale, which normally runs from 1 (very inefficient) to 100, where 100 represents zero energy cost. The rating can be above 100 for dwellings that are net exporters of energy. However, this is currently an unlikely scenario for NIHCS dwellings. In extremely inefficient cases the formula that defines the rating

can result in negative values when applied to the NIHCS sample. Negative values are set to 1 following conventions used in practice when issuing SAP ratings.

Calculation of SAP Ratings from NIHCS Data.

A computerised version of the SAP 2009 methodology is used to calculate the SAP rating for each dwelling included in the NIHCS physical survey. Most of the data required for the calculation of the SAP rating are available from the survey, either directly from the questions asked or as a result of further modelling. Those data items that are not collected have very little impact on the final calculated rating. Where data items are missing these are dealt with using default information based on information from dwellings of the same age, built form, tenure, number of floors and size.

The original SAP procedure was first specified in 1996. Since this time, the procedure has been modified and updated. This has included updating the prices of each of the fuels used in the calculation.

However, it is desirable to attempt to neutralise the effect of changing fuel prices over time. This allows each version of SAP to be comparable to all earlier versions, and enables SAP to be a measure of changing energy consumption over time. Therefore, each new version of the Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) attempts to remove the effect of changing fuel prices by multiplying the total cost of energy by an energy-cost-deflator (Ecf).

To remove the effect of fuel price changes between a 1996 calculation of SAP and a 2009 calculation, it is necessary to ensure that:

Ecf(96) x Total Cost of energy for SAP 96 prices = Ecf(09) x Total Cost of energy for SAP 09 prices

Where

Total Cost of energy for SAP 96 prices = $Qp \pm p(96) + Qs \pm s(96) + Qw \pm w(96) + Qe \pm e(96)$

Total Cost of energy for SAP 09 prices = $Qp \pm p(09) + Qs \pm s(09) + Qw \pm w(09) + Qe \pm e(09)$

Qp, Qs, Qw, Qe:

is the energy (kWh/yr) associated with primary heating, secondary heating, water heating and electrical energy required for pumps, fans and lighting.

Ecf(96) is the energy-cost-deflator for SAP1996;

Ecf(09) is the energy-cost-deflator for SAP2009;

£p(96) is the SAP price of the primary fuel in 1996 (p/kWh);

£p(09) is the SAP price of the primary fuel in 2009 (p/kWh);

£s(96) is the SAP price of the secondary fuel in 1996 (p/kWh);

£s(09) is the SAP price of the secondary fuel in 2009 (p/kWh);

£w(96) is the SAP price of the water-heating fuel in 1996 (p/kWh);

 \pm w(09) is the SAP price of the water-heating fuel in 2009 (p/kWh);

£e(96) is the SAP price of the electricity in 1996 (p/kWh);

 $\pm e(09)$ is the SAP price of the electricity in 2009 (p/kWh).

That is, if we calculate a SAP for one set of data based on the SAP 1996 prices and then recalculate the SAP using the same set of data but this time using SAP 2009 prices, the SAP ratings will remain the same. In this way the Ecf ensures that there will be no change in SAP due to fuel price changes alone.

In the published SAP 2009 procedure, a deflator is published for the whole of the UK. However, when examining Northern Ireland alone, it is not particularly suitable. The published UK deflator is calculated by assuming that the fuel mix is dominated by mains gas (and mains gas prices). However, in Northern Ireland, fuel oil is dominant and mains gas is a relative minority fuel. Therefore, in the calculation of the NIHCS SAP09 ratings, a new deflator with a value of 0.39 has been used. The deflator has been calculated by examining the mix of fuels used across all households in Northern Ireland and looking at the average spend on each fuel using 1996 and 2009 SAP prices.

April 2013



CS/724/03/13 www.nihe.gov.uk